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PART I
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION:

Any forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (specifically those contained in Item 1, "Business" and
Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations") are included in this report pursuant to
the "safe harbor" provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such forward-looking statements involve known and
unknown risks and uncertainties that may cause the Company's actual results in future periods to be materially different from management's
expectations. Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are reasonable, no
assurance can be given that such expectations will prove correct. Factors that could cause the Company's results to differ materially from
the results discussed in such forward-looking statements principally include changes in domestic or international economic conditions,
changes in foreign currency exchange rates, changes in death rates, changes in product demand or pricing as a result of consolidation in the
industries in which the Company operates, changes in product demand or pricing as a result of domestic or international competitive
pressures, unknown risks in connection with the Company's acquisitions, and technological factors beyond the Company's control.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS.

Matthews International Corporation ("Matthews"), founded in 1850 and incorporated in Pennsylvania in 1902, is a designer, manufacturer
and marketer principally of memorialization products and brand solutions. Memorialization products consist primarily of bronze memorials
and memorialization products, caskets and cremation equipment for the cemetery and funeral home industries. Brand solutions include
graphics imaging products and services, merchandising solutions, and marking products. The Company's products and operations are
comprised of six business segments: Bronze, York Casket, Cremation, Graphics Imaging, Marking Products and, as of July 19, 2004,
Merchandising Solutions (see Note 16). The Bronze segment is a leading manufacturer of cast bronze memorials and other memorialization
products, cast and etched architectural products and is a leading builder of mausoleums in the United States. The York Casket segment is a
leading casket manufacturer in the United States and produces a wide variety of wood and metal caskets. The Cremation segment is a
leading designer and manufacturer of cremation equipment and cremation caskets primarily in North America. The Graphics Imaging
segment manufactures and provides printing plates, pre-press services and imaging services for the corrugated and primary packaging
industries. The Marking Products segment designs, manufactures and distributes a wide range of marking equipment and consumables for
identifying various consumer and industrial products, components and packaging containers. The Merchandising Solutions segment designs
and manufactures merchandising displays and systems and provides creative merchandising and marketing solutions services.

At November 30, 2004, the Company and its majority-owned subsidiaries had approximately 3,600 employees. The Company's principal
executive offices are located at Two NorthShore Center, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15212 and its telephone number is (412) 442-8200.

The following table sets forth reported sales and operating profit for the Company's business segments for the past three fiscal years.
Detailed financial information relating to business segments and to domestic and international operations is presented in Note 15 (Segment

Information) to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS, continued.

Years Ended September 30,

2004 2003 2002
Amount Percent Amount Percent Amount Percent
(Dollars in Thousands)
Sales to unaffiliated customers:

Memorialization:
Bronze $ 197,377 38.8%9$ 186,950 40.8%$ 185,883 43.4%
York Casket 116,588 22.9 120,398 26.2 100,415 23.5
Cremation 22,476 4.4 20,189 4.4 18,306 4.3

336,441 66.1 327,537 71.4 304,604 71.2
Brand Solutions:
Graphics Imaging 113,226 222 99,065 21.6 94,814 22.1
Marking Products 37,990 7.5 32,263 7.0 26,668 6.7
Merchandising Solutions 21,144 42 - - - -

172,360 33.9 131,328 28.6 123,482 28.8
Total $ 508,801 100.0%$ 458,865 100.0%$ 428,086 100.0%

Operating profit:
Memorialization:
Bronze $ 54,337 55.6%$ 50,433 63.0%$ 46,589 68.3%
York Casket 14,585 14.9 12,740 15.9 9,354 13.7
Cremation 1,475 1.5 1,242 1.6 (1,075) (1.6)
70,397 72.0 64,415 80.5 54,868 80.4
Brand Solutions:
Graphics Imaging 19,287 19.7 11,562 14.4 9,724 143
Marking Products 6,539 6.7 4,107 5.1 3,595 53
Merchandising Solutions 1,571 1.6 - - - -
27,397 28.0 15,669 19.5 13,319 19.6

Total $ 97,794 100.0%$ 80,084 100.0%$ 68,187 100.0%

In fiscal 2004, approximately 75% of the Company's sales were made from the United States, and 22%, 2% and 1% were made from
Europe, Canada and Australia, respectively. Bronze segment products are sold throughout the world with the segment's principal
operations located in the United States, Italy, Canada and Australia. The York Casket segment products are primarily sold in the United
States and Canada. The Cremation segment products and services are sold primarily in North America, as well as Asia, Australia, and
Europe. Products and services of the Graphics Imaging segment are sold primarily in the United States and Europe. The Marking Products
segment sells equipment and consumables directly to industrial consumers in the United States and internationally through the Company's
wholly-owned subsidiaries in Canada and Sweden and through other foreign distributors. Matthews owns a minority interest in Marking
Products distributors in Asia, Australia, France, Germany, the Netherlands and the United Kingdom. The Merchandising Solutions segment

products and services are sold principally in the United States.




MEMORIALIZATION PRODUCTS AND MARKETS:
Bronze:

The Bronze segment manufactures and markets products principally in the United States, Europe, Canada and Australia used primarily in
the cemetery and funeral home industries. The segment's principal products include cast bronze memorials and other memorialization
products used primarily in cemeteries. The segment also manufactures and markets cast and etched architectural products, that are produced
from bronze, aluminum and other metals, which are used to identify or commemorate people, places, events and accomplishments.

Memorial products, which comprise the majority of the Bronze segment's sales, include flush bronze memorials, flower vases, crypt letters,
cremation urns, niche units, cemetery features and statues, along with other related products and services. Flush bronze memorials are
bronze plaques which contain personal information about a deceased individual such as name, birth date, death date and emblems. These
memorials are used in cemeteries as an alternative to upright and flush granite monuments. The memorials are even or "flush" with the
ground and therefore are preferred by many cemeteries for easier mowing and general maintenance. In order to provide products for the
granite memorial and mausoleum markets, the Company's other memorial products include community and family mausoleums, granite
monuments and benches, bronze plaques, letters, emblems, vases, lights and photoceramics that can be affixed to granite monuments,
mausoleums, crypts and flush memorials. Matthews is a leading builder of mausoleums within North America. Principal customers for
memorial products are cemeteries and memorial parks, which in turn sell the Company's products to the consumer.

Customers of the Bronze segment can also purchase memorials and vases on a “pre-need” basis. The “pre-need” concept permits families
to arrange for these purchases in advance of their actual need. Upon request, the Company will manufacture the memorial to the
customer’s specifications (e.g., name and birth date) and place it in storage for future delivery. All memorials in storage have been paid in
full with title conveyed to each pre-need purchaser.

The Bronze segment manufactures a full line of memorial products for cremation, including urns in a variety of sizes, styles and shapes.
The segment also manufactures bronze and granite niche units, which are comprised of numerous compartments used to display cremation
urns in mausoleums and churches. In addition, the Company also markets "turnkey" cremation gardens, which include the design and all
related products for a cremation memorial garden.

Architectural products include cast bronze and aluminum plaques, etchings and letters that are used to recognize, commemorate and
identify people, places, events and accomplishments. The Company's plaques are frequently used to identify the name of a building or the
names of companies or individuals located within a building. Such products are also used to commemorate events or accomplishments,
such as military service or financial donations. The principal markets for the segment's architectural products are corporations, fraternal
organizations, contractors, churches, hospitals, schools and government agencies. These products are sold to and distributed through a
network of independent dealers including sign suppliers, awards and recognition companies, and trophy dealers.

Raw materials used by the Bronze segment consist principally of bronze and aluminum ingot, sheet metal, coating materials,
photopolymers and construction materials and are generally available in adequate supply. Ingot is obtained from various North American,
European and Australian smelters.

Competition from other bronze memorialization product manufacturers is on the basis of reputation, product quality, delivery, price and
design availability. The Company also competes with upright granite monument and flush granite memorial providers. The Company
believes that its superior quality, broad product lines, innovative designs, delivery




ITEM 1. BUSINESS, continued.

capability, customer responsiveness, experienced personnel and consumer-oriented merchandising systems are competitive advantages in
its markets. Competition in the mausoleum construction industry includes various construction companies throughout North America and is
on the basis of design, quality and price. Competitors in the architectural market are numerous and include companies that manufacture cast
and painted signs, plastic materials, sand-blasted wood and other fabricated products.

York Casket:

The York Casket segment, acquired by Matthews in December 2001, is a leading manufacturer of caskets in the United States. The
segment produces two types of caskets: metal and wood. Caskets can be customized with many different options such as color, interior
design, handles and trim in order to accommodate specific religious, ethnic or other personal preferences.

Metal caskets are made from various gauges of cold rolled steel, stainless steel, copper and bronze. Metal caskets are generally categorized
by whether the casket is non-gasketed or gasketed, and by material (i.e., bronze, copper, or steel) and in the case of steel, by the gauge, or
thickness, of the metal.

The segment's wood caskets are manufactured from eight different species of wood, as well as from veneer. The species of wood used are
poplar, pine, ash, oak, maple, cherry, walnut and mahogany. The York Casket segment is a leading manufacturer of all-wood constructed
caskets, which are manufactured using pegged and dowelled construction, and include no metal parts. All-wood constructed caskets are
preferred by certain religious groups.

The segment also produces casket components. Casket components include stamped metal parts, metal locking mechanisms for gasketed
metal caskets, adjustable beds, interior panels and plastic ornamental hardware for the exterior of the casket.

Metal casket parts are produced by stamping cold rolled steel, stainless steel, copper and bronze sheets into casket body parts. Locking
mechanisms and adjustable beds are produced by stamping and assembling a variety of steel parts. Certain ornamental hardware styles are
produced from injection molded plastic. The segment purchases from sawmills and lumber distributors various species of uncured wood,
which it dries and cures. The cured wood is processed into casket components.

The segment markets its casket products primarily through independent distributors. The segment provides assortment planning and
merchandising and display products to funeral service businesses. These products assist funeral service professionals in providing value and
satisfaction to their client families.

The primary materials required for casket manufacturing are cold rolled steel and lumber. The segment also purchases copper, bronze,
stainless steel, cloth, ornamental hardware and coating materials. Purchase orders or supply agreements are typically negotiated with large,
integrated steel producers that have demonstrated timely delivery, high quality material and competitive prices. Lumber is purchased from a
number of sawmills and lumber distributors. The Company purchases most of its lumber from sawmills within 150 miles of its wood casket
manufacturing facility in York, Pennsylvania.

The casket business is highly competitive. The segment competes with other manufacturers on the basis of product quality, price, service,
design availability and breadth of product line. The segment provides a line of casket products that it believes is as comprehensive as any of
its major competitors. Although there are a large number of casket industry




ITEM 1. BUSINESS, continued.

participants, the York Casket segment and its two largest competitors account for a substantial portion of the finished caskets produced in
the United States.

Historically, the segment's operations have experienced seasonal variations. Generally, casket sales are highest in the second quarter and
lowest in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year. These fluctuations are due in part to the seasonal variance in the death rate, with a greater
number of deaths generally occurring in cold weather months.

Cremation:

The Cremation segment consists of the Company's cremation equipment business located in Apopka, Florida (formerly part of the Bronze
segment) and the Company's cremation casket business located in Richmond, Indiana (formerly part of the York Casket segment). The
Cremation segment has four major groups of products and services: cremation equipment, cremation caskets, equipment service and repair,
and supplies and urns. The objective of the Cremation segment is to focus on the fastest growing segment of the death care industry, which
is cremation products and services, and increase the Company's participation in this market.

The Cremation segment is the leading designer and manufacturer of cremation equipment in North America. Cremation equipment
includes systems for cremation of humans and animals, as well as equipment for processing the cremated remains and other related
equipment such as handling equipment (tables, cooler racks, vacuums). Cremation equipment and products are sold primarily to funeral
homes, cemeteries, crematories, animal disposers and veterinarians within North America, Asia, Australia and Europe.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS, continued.

Cremation casket products consist primarily of three types of caskets: cloth-covered wood, cloth-covered corrugated material and veneer-
covered particleboard. These products are used mainly, although not exclusively, in cremation. These products are marketed principally to
funeral homes through independent distributors in the United States.

Service and repair consists of maintenance work performed on various makes and models of cremation equipment. This work can be as
simple as routine maintenance or as complex as complete on-site reconstruction. The principal markets for these services are the owners
and operators of cremation equipment. These services are marketed principally in North America through Company sales representatives.

Supplies and urns are consumable items associated with cremation operations. Supplies distributed by the segment include operator safety
equipment, identification discs and combustible roller tubes. Urns distributed by the segment include products ranging from plastic
containers to bronze urns for cremated remains. These products are marketed primarily in North America.

Raw materials used by the Cremation segment consist principally of structural steel, sheet metal, electrical components, cloth, wood,
particleboard, corrugated materials, veneer and masonry materials and are generally available in adequate supply from numerous suppliers.

The Company competes with several manufacturers in the cremation equipment market principally on the basis of product quality and
price. The Cremation segment and its three largest competitors account for a substantial portion of the domestic cremation equipment
market. The cremation casket business is highly competitive. The segment competes with other cremation casket manufacturers on the
basis of product quality, price and design availability. Although there are a large number of casket industry participants, the Cremation
segment and its two largest competitors account for a substantial portion of the cremation caskets produced in the United States.




ITEM 1. BUSINESS, continued.

Historically, the segment’s cremation casket operations have experienced seasonal variations. These fluctuations are due in part to the
seasonal variance in the death rate, with a greater number of deaths generally occurring in cold weather months.

BRAND SOLUTIONS PRODUCTS AND MARKETS:
Graphics Imaging:

The Graphics Imaging segment provides printing plates, pre-press services and imaging services to the corrugated and primary packaging
industries. The corrugated packaging industry consists of manufacturers of printed corrugated containers. The primary packaging industry
consists of manufacturers of printed packaging materials such as boxes, folding cartons and bags commonly seen at retailers of consumer
goods.

The principal products and services of this segment include printing plates, pre-press graphics services, print process assistance, print
production management, digital asset and content management, and package design. These products and services are used by packaging
manufacturers and brand owners to develop and print packaging graphics that identify and help sell the product. Other packaging graphics
can include nutritional information, directions for product use, consumer warning statements and UPC codes. The corrugated packaging
manufacturer produces printed containers from corrugated sheets. Using the Company's products, this sheet is printed and die cut to make a
finished container. The primary packaging manufacturer produces printed packaging from paper, film, foil and other composite materials
used to display, protect and market the product.

The Company works closely with manufacturers to provide the proper printing plates and tooling used to print the packaging to the user's
specifications. The segment's printing plate products are made principally from photopolymer resin and sheet materials. Upon customer
request, plates can be pre-mounted press-ready in a variety of configurations that maximize print quality and minimize press set-up time.

The segment offers a wide array of value-added services and products. These include print process and print production management
services; pre-press preparation, which includes computer-generated art, film and proofs; plate mounting accessories and various press aids;
and rotary and flat cutting dies used to cut out intricately designed containers and point-of-purchase displays. The segment also provides
creative digital graphics services to advertising agencies and packaging markets.

The Graphics Imaging segment customer base consists primarily of packaging industry converters and "brand owners." Brand owners are
generally large, well-known consumer products companies and retailers with a national or global presence. These types of companies tend
to purchase their graphics needs directly and supply the printing plates, or the film to make the printing plates, to the packaging printer for
their products. The Graphics Imaging segment serves customers primarily in the United States and Europe. In Europe, Matthews has
wholly-owned subsidiaries in Leeds, England (acquired in August 2004) and Munich, Germany; a 50%-owned affiliate in Julich, Germany;
and 75%-owned subsidiaries in Vienna, Austria; Nuremberg, Germany and Goslar, Germany. Products and services of these operations
include pre-press packaging, digital and analog flexographic printing plates, design, artwork, lithography and color separation.

Major raw materials for this segment's products include photopolymers, film and graphic art supplies. All such materials are presently
available in adequate supply from various industry sources.

Graphics Imaging is one of several manufacturers of printing plates and providers of pre-press services with a national presence in the
United States and Europe. The segment competes in a fragmented industry consisting of a few




ITEM 1. BUSINESS, continued.

multi-plant regional printing plate suppliers and a large number of local single-facility companies located across the United States and

Europe. The combination of the Company's Graphics Imaging business in the United States and Europe is an important part of Matthews’
strategy to become a worldwide leader in the graphics industry and service multinational customers on a global basis. Competition is on the
basis of product quality, timeliness of delivery, price and value-added services. The Company differentiates itself from the competition by
consistently meeting customer demands, its ability to service customers nationally and globally and its ability to provide value-added
services.

Marking Products:

The Marking Products segment designs, manufactures and distributes a wide range of marking equipment and consumables used by
customers to identify various consumer and industrial products, components and packaging containers. Marking products range from simple
indent hand stamps made from a special alloy steel to a wide variety of sophisticated microprocessor-based ink-jet printing systems. The
segment manufactures and markets products and systems that employ the following marking methods to meet customer needs: contact
printing, indenting, etching, and ink-jet printing. Customers will often use a combination of these methods in order to achieve an
appropriate mark. These methods apply product information required for identification and traceability as well as to facilitate inventory and
quality control, regulatory compliance and brand name communication.

A significant portion of the revenue of the Marking Products segment is attributable to the sale of consumables and replacement parts in
connection with the marking hardware sold by the Company. The Company develops inks, rubber and steel consumables in harmony with
the marking equipment in which they are used, which is critical to assure ongoing equipment reliability and mark quality. Many marking
equipment customers also use the Company's inks, solvents and cleaners.

The principal customers for the Company's marking products include food and beverage processors, metal fabricators, producers of health
and beauty products and manufacturers of cloth, plastic, rubber and building products.

A large percentage of the segment's sales are outside the United States and are distributed through the Company's subsidiaries in Canada
and Sweden in addition to other international distributors. Matthews owns a minority interest in distributors in Asia, Australia, France,
Germany, the Netherlands and the United Kingdom.

The marking products industry is diverse, with many companies offering limited product lines focusing only on well-defined specialty
markets. Other industry participants, like the Company, have broad product offerings and compete in various product markets and
countries. In the United States, the Company has manufactured and sold marking products and related consumable items for over 150
years.

Major raw materials for this segment's products include printing components, tool steels, rubber and chemicals, all of which are presently
available in adequate supply from various sources.

Competition for marking products is intense and based on product performance, service and price. The Company normally competes with
specialty companies in specific marking applications. The Company believes that, in general, it offers the broadest line of marking products
to address a wide variety of industrial marking applications.




ITEM 1. BUSINESS, continued.

Merchandising Solutions:

The Merchandising Solutions segment, acquired by Matthews in July 2004, provides merchandising and printing solutions for
manufacturers and retailers. The segment designs, manufactures and installs merchandising and display systems, and also provides
marketing and merchandising consulting services.

The majority of the segment’s sales are derived from the design, engineering, manufacturing and installation of merchandising and display
systems. These systems include permanent and temporary displays, custom store fixtures, brand concept shops, interactive kiosks, custom
packaging, and screen and digitally printed promotional signage. Design and engineering services include concept and model development,
graphics design and prototyping. Merchandising and display systems are manufactured to specifications developed by the segment in
conjunction with the customer. These products are marketed and sold to a variety of companies primarily in the United States.

The segment also provides consulting services in the areas of consumer research and strategy, retail design, merchandise planning, brand
and product communications, marketing and product design. These services are provided to a wide variety of manufacturing, retail and
consumer products and services customers, principally in the United States.

The segment operates in a fragmented industry consisting of a large number of small, locally operated companies. Industry competition is
intense and the segment competes on the basis of reliability, creativity and providing a broad array of merchandising products and services.
The segment is unique in its ability to provide in-depth marketing and merchandising consulting services as well as design, engineering and
manufacturing capabilities. These capabilities allow the segment to deliver complete turnkey merchandising solutions quickly and cost
effectively.

Major raw materials for the segment’s products include wood, particleboard, corrugated materials, structural steel, plastic, laminates, inks,
film and graphic art supplies. All of these raw materials are presently available in adequate supply from various sources.

PATENTS, TRADEMARKS AND LICENSES:

The Company holds a number of domestic and foreign patents and trademarks. However, the Company believes the loss of any or a
significant number of patents or trademarks would not have a material impact on consolidated operations or revenues.

BACKLOG:

Because the nature of the Company's Bronze, Graphics Imaging and Merchandising Solutions businesses are primarily custom products
made to order with short lead times, backlogs are not generally material except for mausoleums. Backlogs vary in a range of approximately
one year of sales for mausoleums. The York Casket segment and the cremation casket business normally fill sales orders within one month
and, therefore, do not have a significant backlog of unfilled orders. Cremation equipment sales backlogs vary in a range of eight to ten
months of sales. Backlogs generally vary in a range of up to four weeks of sales in the Marking Products segment.




ITEM 1. BUSINESS, continued.
REGULATORY MATTERS:

The Company's operations are subject to various federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment.
These laws and regulations impose limitations on the discharge of materials into the environment and require the Company to obtain and
operate in compliance with conditions of permits and other government authorizations. As such, the Company has developed
environmental, health and safety policies and procedures that include the proper handling, storage and disposal of hazardous materials.

The Company is party to various environmental matters. These include obligations to investigate and mitigate the effects on the
environment of the disposal of certain materials at various operating and non-operating sites. The Company is currently performing
environmental assessments and remediation at these sites, as appropriate. In addition, prior to its acquisition, the York Casket segment was
identified, along with others, by the Environmental Protection Agency as a potentially responsible party for remediation of a landfill site in
York, Pennsylvania. At this time, the Company has not been joined in any lawsuit or administrative order related to the site or its clean-up.

At September 30, 2004, an accrual of $11.5 million has been recorded for environmental remediation (of which $912,000 has been
classified in other current liabilities), representing management's best estimate of the probable and reasonably estimable costs of the
Company's known remediation obligations. The accrual does not consider the effects of inflation and anticipated expenditures are not
discounted to their present value. While final resolution of these contingencies could result in costs different than current accruals,
management believes the ultimate outcome will not have a significant effect on the Company's consolidated results of operations or
financial position.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

Principal properties of the Company and its majority-owned subsidiaries as of November 30, 2004 were as follows (properties are owned

by the Company except as noted):

Location Description of Property Square Feet
Bronze:
Pittsburgh, PA Manufacturing / Division Offices 97,000
Kingwood, WV Manufacturing 121,000
Melbourne, Australia Manufacturing 26,000(1)
Milton, Ontario, Canada Manufacturing 30,000
Parma, Italy Manufacturing / Warehouse 231,000(1)
Romoland, CA Manufacturing 24,000
Searcy, AR Manufacturing 113,000
Seneca Falls, NY Manufacturing 21,000
Graphics Imaging:
Pittsburgh, PA Manufacturing / Division Offices 56,000
Atlanta, GA Manufacturing 16,000
Dallas, TX Manufacturing 15,000(1)
Denver, CO Manufacturing 12,000(1)
Goslar, Germany Manufacturing 39,000(1)
Kansas City, MO Manufacturing 42,000(1)
Leeds, England Manufacturing 64,000(1)
Munich, Germany Manufacturing 10,000(1)
Nuremberg, Germany Manufacturing 27,000(1)
Oakland, CA Manufacturing 40,000(1)
St. Louis, MO Manufacturing 25,000
Vienna, Austria Manufacturing 12,000(1)
Marking Products:
Pittsburgh, PA Manufacturing / Division Offices 85,000
Gothenburg, Sweden Manufacturing / Distribution 28,000(1)
Merchandising Solutions:
Pittsburgh, PA Manufacturing / Division Offices 45,000(1)
Pittsburgh, PA Manufacturing / Warehouse 268,000(1)
Youngwood, PA Warehouse 145,000(1)
York Casket:
York, PA Manufacturing 307,000
Marshfield, MO Manufacturing 86,000
Lynn, IN Manufacturing 76,000
Richmond, IN Manufacturing / Metal Stamping 92,000
Richmond, IN Injection Molding 18,000(1)
Cremation:
Apopka, FL Manufacturing 40,000
Richmond, IN Manufacturing 164,000(1)
Corporate Office:
Pittsburgh, PA General Offices 48,000
€8 These properties are leased by the Company under operating lease arrangements. Rent expense incurred by the Company for leased

facilities was approximately $4,000,000 in fiscal 2004.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES, continued.

All of the owned properties are unencumbered. The Company believes its facilities are generally well suited for their respective uses and
are of adequate size and design to provide the operating efficiencies necessary for the Company to be competitive. The Company's facilities
provide adequate space for meeting its near-term production requirements and have availability for additional capacity. The Company
intends to continue to expand and modernize its facilities as necessary to meet the demand for its products.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

The Company is party to various legal proceedings, the eventual outcome of which are not predictable. Although the ultimate disposition of
these proceedings is not presently determinable, management is of the opinion that they should not result in liabilities in an amount which
would materially affect the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.

No matters were submitted to a vote of the Company's security holders during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004.
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OFFICERS AND EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT OF THE REGISTRANT
The following information is furnished with respect to officers and executive management as of November 30, 2004:

Name Age Positions with Registrant

David M. Kelly 62 Chairman of the Board, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Joseph C. Bartolacci 44 Executive Vice President and President, York Casket
Division

David F. Beck 52 Controller

Martin J. Beck 61 President and Chief Executive Officer, The Cloverleaf
Group, Inc.

David J. DeCarlo 59 Group President, Bronze and York Casket Divisions and
Director

Brian J. Dunn 47 President, Marking Products Division

Lawrence W. Keeley, Jr. 43 President, Packaging Graphics and Design Division

Ralph W. Murray 71 Chairman of the Board of Advisors, The Cloverleaf
Group, Inc.

Steven F. Nicola 44 Chief Financial Officer, Secretary

and Treasurer

Paul F. Rahill 47 President, Cremation Division

Franz J. Schwarz 56 Managing Director, Graphics Europe




OFFICERS AND EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT OF THE REGISTRANT, continued

David M. Kelly has been Chairman of the Board since March 1996. He was appointed President and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company in October 1995.

Joseph C. Bartolacci was appointed President, York Casket Division in February 2004 and Executive Vice President of Matthews, effective
January 1, 2004. He had been President, Matthews Europe since April 2002. He had also been President, Caggiati, S.p.A. (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Matthews International Corporation) since June 1999. Prior thereto, he was General Counsel of Matthews.

David F. Beck was appointed Controller effective September 15, 2003. He had been Vice President, Finance for the Company’s York
Casket segment since December 2001. Prior thereto, he held various financial positions as an officer with The York Group, Inc.

Martin J. Beck joined the Company in July 2004 as President and Chief Executive Officer of The Cloverleaf Group, Inc., (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Matthews International Corporation which represents the Company’s Merchandising Solutions segment). Mr. Beck served as
President and Chief Executive Officer of Big Red Rooster, Inc., a marketing services company, from its founding in September 2002 until
its acquisition as part of The Cloverleaf Group, Inc., by Matthews in July 2004. Prior thereto, he served as President and Chief Executive
Officer of Ten Worldwide from January 2001 to May 2002, and of Lighthouse Global Network from January 2000 to December 2000, both
of which were integrated marketing services companies. Prior to joining Lighthouse Global Network, Mr. Beck was President and Chief
Executive Officer of Fitch plc, a publicly traded marketing firm.

David J. DeCarlo, a Director of the Company since 1987, was appointed Group President, Bronze and York Casket Divisions in February
2004. Mr. DeCarlo had been President, Bronze Division since November 1993.

Brian J. Dunn was appointed President, Marking Products Division in 2002. Prior thereto, he was President, Marking Products, North
America since November 2000. He had been National Sales Manager, Marking Products, North America since joining the Company in
November 1998.

Lawrence W. Keeley, Jr. has been President, Packaging Graphics and Design Division, since joining the Company in 1999.

Ralph W. Murray joined the Company in July 2004 as Chairman of the Board of Advisors of The Cloverleaf Group, Inc. Prior thereto, Mr.
Murray served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of iDL, Inc. (a part of The Cloverleaf Group, Inc.), a merchandising display and
design services company.

Steven F. Nicola was appointed Chief Financial Officer, Secretary and Treasurer effective December 1, 2003. Prior thereto, he was Vice
President, Accounting and Finance since December 2001. He had been Controller of the Company since December 1995.

Paul F. Rahill rejoined the Company as President, Cremation Division in October 2002. He previously was President of Industrial
Equipment and Engineering Company (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Matthews International Corporation) until his retirement in April
2000. He performed independent consulting services from April 2000 until October 2002.

Franz J. Schwarz joined Matthews International GmbH (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Matthews International Corporation) in 2000 as the
Managing Director of the Company’s European Graphics business. Prior to joining the Company, he was the Managing Director and a
partial owner of S+T Gesellschaft Fur Reprotechnik GmbH (“S+T GmbH”), a provider of printing plates and print services located in
Julich, Germany. Matthews International GmbH acquired a 50% ownership interest in S+T GmbH in 1998.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

(a) Market Information:

The authorized common stock of the Company consists of 70,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock, $1 par value. The Company's
Class A Common Stock is traded on the NASDAQ National Market System under the symbol “MATW?”. The following table sets forth the

high, low and closing prices as reported by NASDAQ for the periods indicated:

High Close

Fiscal 2004:

Quarter ended: ~ September 30, 2004 $ 3681 § 3031 $ 33.88
June 30, 2004 33.09 28.10 32.94
March 31, 2004 33.39 28.98 33.20
December 31, 2003 30.37 26.00 29.59

Fiscal 2003:

Quarter ended:  September 30, 2003 $ 2846 $ 24.10 $ 26.42
June 30, 2003 25.00 22.56 24.76
March 31, 2003 25.65 21.51 23.10
December 31, 2002 25.00 20.94 22.33

The Company has a stock repurchase program, which was initiated in 1996. Under the program, the Company's Board of Directors has
authorized the repurchase of a total of 10,000,000 shares of Matthews’ common stock, of which 7,829,668 shares have been repurchased as
of September 30, 2004. The buy-back program is designed to increase shareholder value, enlarge the Company's holdings of its common
stock, and add to earnings per share. Repurchased shares may be retained in treasury, utilized for acquisitions, or reissued to employees or

other purchasers, subject to the restrictions of the Company’s Restated Articles of Incorporation.

All purchases of the Company’s common stock during fiscal 2004 were part of this repurchase program.
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ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS, continued.

The following table shows the monthly fiscal 2004 stock repurchase activity:

Total number of Maximum

shares number of
purchased as shares that may

Total number of part of a yet be

shares Average price publicly purchased under

Period purchased paid per share announced plan the plan (1)
October 2003 158,300 $ 27.63 158,300 509,768
November 2003 60,700 28.62 60,700 449,068
December 2003 79 28.70 79 448,989
January 2004 - - - 448,989
February 2004 - - - 448,989
March 2004 12,300 32.03 12,300 436,689
April 2004 196,584 31.04 196,584 2,240,105
May 2004 - - - 2,240,105
June 2004 - - - 2,240,105
July 2004 15,000 32.29 15,000 2,225,105
August 2004 54,773 33.59 54,773 2,170,332
September 2004 - - - 2,170,332

Total 497,736 $ 30.00 497,736

(1) In April 2004 the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the purchase of an additional 2,000,000 shares of Matthews common stock, bringing the total
authorization for stock repurchases to 10,000,000 shares.

(b) Holders:

Based on records available to the Company, the number of registered holders of the Company's common stock was 549 at November 30,
2004.

(c) Dividends:

A quarterly dividend of $.045 per share was paid for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004 to shareholders of record on October 31, 2004. The
Company paid quarterly dividends of $.04 per share for the first three quarters of fiscal 2004 and the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003. The
Company paid quarterly dividends of $.0275 per share for the first three quarters of fiscal 2003.

Cash dividends have been paid on common shares in every year for at least the past forty years. It is the present intention of the Company
to continue to pay quarterly cash dividends on its common stock. However, there is no assurance that dividends will be declared and paid as
the declaration and payment of dividends is at the discretion of the Board of Directors of the Company and is dependent upon the
Company's financial condition, results of operations, cash requirements, future prospects and other factors deemed relevant by the Board.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

Net sales

Gross profit

Operating profit

Interest expense

Income before income taxes
and change in accounting

Income taxes

Income before change in accounting

Cumulative effect of change in
accounting, net of tax

Net income

Earnings per common share:
Diluted, before change
in accounting
Diluted
Basic

Weighted-average common
shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

Cash dividends per share

Total assets

Long-term debt, non-current

Years Ended September 30,

2004 2003 (1) 2002 (2) 2001(3) 2000
(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)
(Not Covered by Report of Independent Accountants)

508,801 $ 458,865 $ 428,086 $ 283,282 $ 266,987
193,754 170,302 160,364 119,436 118,089
97,794 80,084 68,187 53,357 47,776
1,998 2,852 4,171 1,647 1,488
91,833 73,354 62,457 51,458 45,938
35,638 28,461 24,225 19,859 18,015
56,195 44,893 38,232 31,599 27,923
- - (3,226) - -
56,195 $ 44,893 § 35,006 $ 31,599 $ 27,923
172 § 139 § 1.20 $ 1.01 $ .88
1.72 1.39 1.10 1.01 .88
1.74 1.42 1.14 1.03 .90
32,217 31,686 30,765 30,560 31,031
32,689 32,315 31,796 31,320 31,703
165 $ 123§ .106 $ 101 $ .096
530,542 $ 440,182 $ 422,601 $ 288,952 § 220,665
54,389 57,023 96,487 40,726 13,908

(1) Fiscal 2003 included a net pre-tax charge of approximately $1,000 from special items which consisted of a pre-tax gain of $2,600 on the
sale of a facility and a goodwill impairment charge of $3,600 (see Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

(2) In fiscal 2002, the Company recorded a pre-tax charge of $5,255 for transitional goodwill impairment as a result of the adoption of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets."

(3) The second quarter of fiscal 2001 included net pre-tax income of $500 from special items which consisted of a pre-tax gain of $7,099
on the sale of a subsidiary and asset impairments, restructuring costs and other special pre-tax charges totaling $6,600.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements of Matthews International Corporation
and related notes thereto. In addition, see "Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information" included in Part I of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS:

The following table sets forth certain income statement data of the Company expressed as a percentage of net sales for the periods indicated
and the percentage change in such income statement data from year to year.

Years Ended
September 30, Percentage Change
2004- 2003-
2004 2003(1) 2002 2003 2002
Sales 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 10.9% 7.2%
Gross profit 38.1 37.1 37.5 13.8 6.2
Operating profit 19.2 17.5 15.9 22.1 17.4
Income before taxes (2) 18.0 16.0 14.6 25.2 17.4
Net income (2) 11.0 9.8 8.9 25.2 17.4

(1) Fiscal 2003 included a net pre-tax charge of approximately $1.0 million from special items (see "Special Items").

(2) Before cumulative effect of change in accounting. In fiscal 2002, the Company recorded a pre-tax charge of $5.3 million for transitional
goodwill impairment (see "Goodwill").

Comparison of Fiscal 2004 and Fiscal 2003:

Sales for the year ended September 30, 2004 were $508.8 million and were $49.9 million, or 10.9% higher than sales of $458.9 million in
fiscal 2003. The increase resulted principally from the acquisitions of The Cloverleaf Group, Inc., which is reported as the Company’s
Merchandising Solutions segment, The InTouch Group Limited (“InTouch”) and Holjeron Corporation (“Holjeron”) during the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2004, higher foreign currency exchange rates and a full twelve months of activity for Reproservice Eurodigital GmbH
Munchen (“Reproservice Munich”), which was acquired in August 2003. Sales for the Merchandising Solutions segment totaled $21.1
million from the acquisition date through September 30, 2004. The higher foreign currencies values against the U.S. dollar had a favorable
impact on sales of approximately $12.5 million. Bronze segment sales for fiscal 2004 were $197.4 million compared to $187.0 million for
the year ended September 30, 2003. The $10.4 million increase reflected the favorable impact of increases in the value foreign currencies
against the U.S. dollar, the effect of a temporary price surcharge (instituted in April 2004 in response to increases in the cost of bronze
ingot) and higher sales of architectural products. These increases were partially offset by a decline in mausoleum sales. Sales for the York
Casket segment were $116.6 million for fiscal 2004 compared to $120.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2003. The decline
reflected the sale of a small manufacturing facility and several distribution operations in fiscal 2003 and lower volume in the fiscal 2004
fourth quarter. Fiscal 2004 sales for the Cremation segment were $22.5 million compared to $20.2 million for the year ended September
30, 2003. The $2.3 million increase reflected higher sales of cremation equipment and cremation caskets. Graphics Imaging segment sales
were $113.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2004 compared to $99.1 million for fiscal 2003. The increase of $14.2 million, or
14.3%, primarily reflected the acquisitions of Reproservice Munich in August 2003 and
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS, continued.

Gross profit for the year ended September 30, 2004 was $193.8 million compared to $170.3 for the year ended September 30, 2003. The
increase primarily reflected the acquisition of Reproservice Munich in August 2003 and the acquisitions of Holjeron, Cloverleaf and
InTouch during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, higher sales, operational improvements and the impact of higher foreign currency values
against the U.S. dollar. Bronze segment gross profit for fiscal 2003 was positively impacted by a reduction in the segment’s finishing cost
liability as a result of manufacturing efficiency improvements. Bronze segment gross profit for fiscal 2004 was impacted by a charge for
the cost of early retirement and other severance costs as well as increases in the cost of bronze ingot. York Casket segment gross profit for
fiscal 2004 was impacted by the rising cost of cold rolled steel, stainless steel, copper and bronze, and an impairment charge on various
assets. Graphics Imaging fiscal 2004 gross profit improved principally as a result of higher European sales and the closure of unprofitable
operations in Southern California and North Carolina during fiscal 2003. Consolidated gross profit as a percentage of sales increased to
38.1% for fiscal 2004 from 37.1% for fiscal 2003. The Company’s improvement in consolidated gross profit as a percent of sales reflected
higher sales, cost reduction initiatives and improvements in manufacturing efficiency, which were partially offset by higher raw material
costs, an asset impairment charge and the addition of the Merchandising Solutions segment revenues that have a lower gross margin than
the Company’s other segments.

Selling and administrative expenses for the year ended September 30, 2004 were $96.0 million compared to $89.2 million for the year
ended September 30, 2003. The increase of $6.8 million primarily reflected the acquisitions of Reproservice Munich in August 2003 and
Holjeron, Cloverleaf and InTouch in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004 and the impact of higher foreign currency values against the U.S.
dollar. Consolidated selling and administrative expenses as a percentage of sales were 18.9% for the year ended September 30, 2004
compared to 19.4% for the year ended September 30, 2003. The reduction principally reflected the Company’s recent acquisitions, which
have lower selling and administrative costs as a percentage of sales than most of the Company’s other businesses.

Operating profit for the year ended September 30, 2004 was $97.8 million compared to $80.1 million for fiscal 2003, an increase of $17.7
million, or 22.1%. The Cloverleaf acquisition, reported as the Company’s Merchandising Solutions segment, contributed $1.6 million of
operating profit from the date of acquisition to September 30, 2004. Bronze segment operating profit for fiscal 2004 was $54.3 million
compared to $50.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2003. The $3.9 million increase reflected higher sales, the increase in values
of foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar, manufacturing improvements and other cost reduction initiatives. These improvements were
partially offset by increases in the cost of bronze ingot as well as a charge for the cost of early retirement and other severance costs. Bronze
segment operating profit for fiscal 2003 was positively impacted by a reduction in the segment’s finishing cost liability as a result of
manufacturing efficiency improvements. York Casket segment operating profit for fiscal 2004 was $14.6 million compared to $12.7
million for the year ended September 30, 2003. The increase of $1.9 million reflected the divestiture of unprofitable distribution and
manufacturing operations in fiscal 2003, improvements in manufacturing efficiency and continued reductions in administrative costs,
partially offset by the increase in the cost of steel and other metal raw materials and an asset impairment charge. Fiscal 2004 operating
profit for the Cremation segment increased to $1.5 million from $1.2 million in fiscal 2003. The increase primarily reflected higher sales.
Graphics
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS, continued.

Imaging segment operating profit for the year ended September 30, 2004 was $19.3 million compared to $11.6 million for the prior year,
an increase of $7.7 million, or 66.8%. The increase reflected the acquisition of Reproservice Munich in August 2003 and InTouch in
August 2004, the impact of the higher value of the Euro against the U.S. dollar, higher sales by the segment’s other European operations
and the closure of unprofitable operations in Southern California and North Carolina in fiscal 2003. Marking Products segment operating
profit for the year ended September 30, 2004 was $6.5 million compared to $4.1 million for the year ended September 30, 2003. The
increase of $2.4 million, or 59.2%, reflected the acquisition of Holjeron in July 2004, the higher value of the Swedish Krona against the
U.S. dollar and higher demand with improvements in the U.S. economy. Higher foreign currency values against the U.S. dollar had a
favorable impact of approximately $3.2 million on the Company’s consolidated operating profit for the year ended September 30, 2004
compared to fiscal 2003.

Investment income for the year ended September 30, 2004 was $1.6 million, compared to $1.3 million for the year ended September 30,
2003. The increase from the prior year primarily reflected higher levels of invested cash.

Interest expense for the year ended September 30, 2004 was $2.0 million, compared to $2.9 million a year ago. The decline in interest
expense reflected a lower level of debt during fiscal 2004 combined with a reduction in the average borrowing rate. Other income
(deductions), net, for the year ended September 30, 2004 represented a reduction in pre-tax income of $57,000, compared to $381,000 for
fiscal 2003. Minority interest deduction for fiscal 2004 was $5.5 million, compared to $4.8 million for fiscal 2003. The higher minority
interest deduction for fiscal 2004 resulted from an increase in operating income in the Company's less than wholly-owned European
Graphics Imaging businesses combined with higher foreign currency exchange rates against the U.S. dollar.

The Company's effective tax rate for the year ended September 30, 2004 was 38.8%, which remained unchanged from fiscal 2003. The
difference between the Company's effective tax rate and the Federal statutory rate of 35% primarily reflected the impact of state and
foreign income taxes.

Comparison of Fiscal 2003 and Fiscal 2002:

Sales for the year ended September 30, 2003 were $458.9 million and were $30.8 million, or 7.2%, higher than sales of $428.1 million for
the year ended September 30, 2002. The increase primarily related to the acquisition of The York Group, Inc. ("York Casket") on
December 3, 2001 and higher foreign currency exchange rates. Fiscal 2003 reflected twelve months of activity for the York Casket
segment compared to ten months for fiscal 2002. Fiscal 2003 sales for the York Casket segment were $120.4 million compared to $100.4
million for fiscal 2002. For the year ended September 30, 2003, higher foreign currency values against the U.S. dollar had a favorable
impact of approximately $14.7 million on the Company’s consolidated sales compared to fiscal 2002. Bronze segment sales for the year
ended September 30, 2003 were $187.0 million compared to $185.9 million in fiscal 2002. The increase of $1.1 million in Bronze segment
sales reflected the favorable impact of increases in the values of foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar offset partially by a decline in
mausoleums sales, the divestiture of the segment's granite import business in fiscal 2002 and the divestiture of a Canadian niche bank and
columbarium business in October 2002. Sales for the Cremation segment were $20.2 million for fiscal 2003 compared to $18.3 million for
fiscal 2002. The increase reflected two additional months of cremation casket sales compared to fiscal 2002 as a result of the acquisition of
York Casket. Fiscal 2003 sales for the Graphics Imaging segment were $99.1 million, compared to $94.8 million for fiscal 2002. The
increase primarily reflected higher sales in the segment's European operations, which included the acquisition of Reproservice Munich in
August 2003, combined with an increase in the value of the Euro against the U.S. dollar. These increases were partially offset by lower
sales in the segment's domestic operations, which primarily related to weak demand and price pressure in the United States packaging
markets
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS, continued.

and the closure, in October 2002, of an unprofitable manufacturing business in Southern California. Marking Products segment sales for the
year ended September 30, 2003 were $32.3 million, compared to $28.7 million for the year ended September 30, 2002. The increase of
$3.6 million, or 12.5%, was principally due to higher volume, reflecting higher demand and the addition of new distributors in Europe, and
higher foreign currency exchange rates.

Gross profit for the year ended September 30, 2003 was $170.3 million, compared to $160.4 million for the year ended September 30,
2002. The increase in consolidated gross profit primarily resulted from the acquisition of York Casket, higher sales in the Marking
Products and European Graphics Imaging businesses and manufacturing improvements in the Bronze segment. Gross profit for all of the
Company's segments increased for the year. In addition, gross profit for the Bronze segment reflected the benefit of a reduction in the
segment's pre-need memorial finishing cost liability as a result of manufacturing efficiency improvements. Consolidated gross profit as a
percent of sales declined slightly from 37.5% for fiscal 2002 to 37.1% for fiscal 2003. The reduction in the consolidated gross margin for
fiscal 2003 principally related to the additional York Casket revenues, which generally have lower gross margins than other Matthews
segments, and an increase in pension and health care costs over fiscal 2002. Pension costs were adversely affected by a decline in the
Company’s pension fund assets during fiscal 2002. Pension costs for the Company's domestic defined benefit plans were $4.6 million for
fiscal 2003, compared to $1.3 million for fiscal 2002.

Selling and administrative expenses for the year ended September 30, 2003 were $89.2 million, compared to $92.2 million for the year
ended September 30, 2002. The decline of $3.0 million from the prior year primarily reflected lower selling and administrative costs in
the Bronze segment and the domestic Graphics Imaging operations. Selling and administrative costs in the Bronze segment were
favorably impacted by the divestiture of its granite import business in fiscal 2002 and the divestiture of a Canadian niche bank and
columbarium business in October 2002. In addition, in the second quarter of fiscal 2002, the Company recorded a loss of approximately
$500,000 on the sale of its granite import business. Lower selling and administrative costs in the domestic Graphics Imaging operations
resulted from a decline in sales and the closure, in October 2002, of an unprofitable manufacturing business in Southern California.
Consolidated selling and administrative expenses as a percent of sales were 19.4% for the year ended September 30, 2003, compared to
21.5% for fiscal 2002. The reduction principally reflected the additional two months’ business of York Casket, which has the lowest ratio
of selling and administrative costs of any of the Company's segments, as its products are sold primarily through independent distributors.

Operating profit for the year ended September 30, 2003 was $80.1 million, representing an increase of $11.9 million, or 17.4%, over
operating profit of $68.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2002. Bronze segment operating profit for fiscal 2003 was $50.4
million, compared to $46.6 million for fiscal 2002. The increase of $3.8 million, or 8.3%, reflected the segment's higher sales for the year,
a reduction in the segment's pre-need memorial finishing cost liability due to manufacturing efficiencies, and the favorable impact of
increases in the values of foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar. The Bronze segment results were also favorably impacted by the
divestiture of its granite import business and its Canadian niche bank and columbarium business. These two businesses generated a
combined operating loss of approximately $700,000 in fiscal 2002. Operating profit for the York Casket segment for the year ended
September 30, 2003 was $12.7 million, representing an increase of $3.4 million, or 36.2%, over fiscal 2002. The increase reflected two
additional months of results in fiscal 2003 compared to fiscal 2002. Operating profit as a percent of sales for the York Casket segment
increased to 10.6% for fiscal 2003 from 9.3% for fiscal 2002, reflecting improvements in certain of the segment's manufacturing processes
and a lower percentage of administrative costs as a result of the integration with Matthews. Graphics Imaging operating profit for the year
ended September 30, 2003 was $11.6 million compared to $9.7 million for fiscal 2002. The segment's fiscal 2003 operating profit reflected
a net pre-tax charge of $1.0 million
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS, continued.

(classified under Special Items), representing a pre-tax gain of $2.6 million on the sale of the segment's building in Southern California and
a pre-tax charge of $3.6 million for impairment of goodwill related to O.N.E. Color Communications (see “Special Items”). Fiscal 2003
operating profit for the Graphics Imaging segment was favorably impacted by sales growth in the Company's European operations, which
included the acquisition of Reproservice Munich in August 2003, combined with an increase in the value of the Euro against the U.S.
dollar. However, the European gains were partially offset by the adverse impact of lower domestic sales and costs related to the closure of
the segment's operation in North Carolina. Fiscal 2003 operating profit for the Marking Products segment was $4.1 million, representing an
increase of $500,000 over fiscal 2002 operating profit of $3.6 million. The increase of 14.2% resulted from higher sales combined with an
increase in the value of the Swedish Krona against the U.S. dollar. Operating profit for the Cremation segment in fiscal 2003 was $1.2
million compared to an operating loss of $1.1 million for fiscal 2002. Fiscal 2002 operating results reflected costs of $2.2 million incurred
in connection with a potential acquisition in the cremation equipment business, which was terminated and not completed. Higher foreign
currency values against the U.S. dollar had a favorable impact of approximately $3.3 million on the Company’s consolidated operating
profit for the year ended September 30, 2003 compared to fiscal 2002.

Investment income for the year ended September 30, 2003 was $1.3 million, compared to $1.6 million for the year ended September 30,
2002. The decline from the prior year reflected lower investment income rates and the prior year included a net gain on the sale of
securities.

Interest expense for the year ended September 30, 2003 was $2.9 million, compared to $4.2 million for fiscal 2002. The decline in interest
expense reflected a lower level of debt during fiscal 2003 combined with a reduction in the average borrowing rate. Other income
(deductions), net, for the year ended September 30, 2003 represented a reduction in pre-tax income of $381,000, compared to $119,000
for fiscal 2002. Minority interest deduction for fiscal 2003 was $4.8 million, compared to $3.0 million for fiscal 2002. The higher
minority interest deduction for fiscal 2003 resulted from an increase in operating income in the Company's European Graphics Imaging
businesses combined with higher currency exchange rates.

The Company's effective tax rate for the year ended September 30, 2003 was 38.8%, which remained unchanged from fiscal 2002. The
difference between the Company's effective tax rate and the Federal statutory rate of 35% primarily reflected the impact of state and
foreign income taxes.

Special Items:

In July 2003, the Company sold its Graphics Imaging segment facility (which was closed in October 2002) in Southern California for $3.2
million. The transaction resulted in a pre-tax gain of $2.6 million, which was recorded in Special Items on the Consolidated Statement of
Income. In addition, Special Items for fiscal 2003 also included a pre-tax charge of $3.6 million for goodwill impairment. The
impairment, which was recorded in the fiscal 2003 fourth quarter, related to O.N.E. Color Communications ("O.N.E."), a domestic
Graphics Imaging business (see “Goodwill”).

Goodwill:

Under Statement of Financial Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, goodwill related to business
combinations is no longer amortized, but is subject to periodic review for impairment. In general, when the carrying value of a reporting
unit exceeds its implied fair value an impairment loss must be recognized. For purposes of testing for impairment, the Company uses a
combination of valuation techniques, including discounted cash flows.
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Based on this assessment, the Company recorded a pre-tax charge under Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting in the first quarter of
fiscal 2002 for transitional goodwill impairment of $5.3 million ($3.2 million after-tax). The impairment was primarily related to a
reporting unit within the Company’s Bronze segment and was determined based upon a comparison of carrying value to implied fair
market value.

In fiscal 2003 the Company performed its annual impairment review in the second quarter and determined that no additional adjustments
to the carrying values of goodwill were necessary at that time. However, due to the Company’s purchase of the remaining 50% interest in
O.N.E. and its declining operating results during the second half of fiscal 2003, the Company determined that an impairment review of
O.N.E. was necessary as of September 30, 2003. Based on this assessment, the Company recorded a pre-tax charge of $3.6 million in the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2003 for goodwill impairment. In fiscal 2004, the Company reorganized the operations of O.N.E. and integrated it
with the larger Graphics Imaging reporting unit for purposes of the annual impairment assessment. The Company performed its annual
impairment review in the second quarter of fiscal 2004 and determined that no adjustment to the carrying value of goodwill or other
indefinite lived intangibles was necessary at that time.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES:

Net cash provided by operating activities was $83.3 million for the year ended September 30, 2004, compared to $58.5 million and $55.5
million for fiscal 2003 and 2002, respectively. Operating cash flow for fiscal 2004 primarily reflected net income adjusted for
depreciation and amortization (non-cash items), a $1.5 million cash contribution to the Company's principal pension plan, and a tax
benefit of $4.5 million from exercised stock options. Operating cash flow for fiscal 2003 primarily reflected net income adjusted for
depreciation, amortization and a goodwill impairment charge, a $7.5 million cash contribution to the Company’s principal pension plan,
and a tax benefit of $5.8 million from exercised stock options. In addition, fiscal 2003 operating cash flow included final payouts to
customers under various rebate programs of the York Casket segment. Most of these programs were replaced in calendar 2003 with a new
discount program. Operating cash flow for the year ended September 30, 2002 primarily reflected net income adjusted for depreciation
and amortization and the impairment of goodwill resulting from the adoption of SFAS No. 142. Operating cash flow for fiscal 2002 also
included a tax benefit of $5.5 million from exercised stock options.

Cash used in investing activities was $82.8 million for the year ended September 30, 2004, compared to $13.3 million and $86.6 million
for fiscal years 2003 and 2002, respectively. Investing activities for fiscal 2004 primarily included payments (net of cash acquired) of
$74.5 million in connection with the acquisitions of InTouch, Cloverleaf and Holjeron and capital expenditures of $10.4 million.
Investing activities for fiscal 2003 primarily included capital expenditures of $9.3 million, which was partially offset by proceeds of $5.6
million from sales of assets. Fiscal 2003 investing activities also included the acquisitions of Reproservice Munich in August 2003 and the
remaining fifty percent interest in O.N.E. on July 31, 2003. Investing activities for fiscal 2002 included payments (net of cash acquired) of
$88.8 million in connection with acquisitions, principally related to York Casket (December 2001) and Rudolf (July 2001). Although
Rudolf was acquired in fiscal 2001, the purchase price (approximately $11.0 million) was paid in the first quarter of fiscal 2002. Fiscal
2002 investing activities also reflected capital expenditures of $10.1 million, proceeds of $9.0 million from the net disposition of
investment securities and proceeds of $3.2 million from the sale of assets.

Capital expenditures were $10.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2004, compared to $9.3 million and $10.1 million for fiscal
2003 and 2002, respectively. Capital expenditures in each of the last three fiscal years reflected reinvestment in the Company's business
segments and were made primarily for the purchase of new manufacturing machinery, equipment and facilities designed to improve
product quality, increase manufacturing efficiency, lower
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS, continued.

production costs and meet regulatory requirements. Capital expenditures for the last three fiscal years were primarily financed through
operating cash. Capital spending for property, plant and equipment has averaged $9.9 million for the last three fiscal years. The capital
budget for fiscal 2005 is $23.9 million, which reflects projected capital spending in connection with establishing a lower cost casket
manufacturing facility in Monterrey, Mexico. The Company expects to generate sufficient cash from operations to fund all anticipated
capital spending projects.

Cash used in financing activities for the year ended September 30, 2004 was $3.2 million, reflecting proceeds, net of repayments, from
long-term debt of $6.5 million, treasury stock purchases of $14.9 million, proceeds of $10.6 million from the sale of treasury stock (stock
option exercises) and dividends of $5.3 million ($0.165 per share) to the Company’s shareholders. Cash used in financing activities for the
year ended September 30, 2003 was $41.7 million, reflecting payments on long-term debt of $44.0 million, treasury stock purchases of
$6.6 million and dividends of $3.9 million ($0.123 per share) to the Company's shareholders. These payments were partially offset by
proceeds of $12.8 million from the sale of treasury stock (stock option exercises). Cash provided by financing activities for the year ended
September 30, 2002 was $58.5 million, reflecting proceeds from long-term debt of $126.4 million, debt repayments of $71.3 million, net
proceeds of $6.7 million from the sale of treasury stock (stock option exercises), and dividends of $3.3 million ($0.106 per share) to the
Company's shareholders.

On December 3, 2001, the Company entered into a Revolving Credit Facility for $125.0 million with a syndicate of financial institutions.
The facility was scheduled to mature on November 30, 2004. On April 21, 2004, the Company signed an amendment to the facility which
extended its maturity to April 30, 2009. Borrowings under the amended facility bear interest at LIBOR plus a factor ranging from .50% to
1.00% based on the Company’s leverage ratio. The leverage ratio is defined as net indebtedness divided by EBITDA (earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization). The Company is required to pay an annual commitment fee ranging from .20% to .30%
(based on the Company’s leverage ratio) of the unused portion of the facility. The Revolving Credit Facility, as amended, requires the
Company to maintain certain leverage and interest coverage ratios. A portion of the facility (not to exceed $10.0 million) is available for
the issuance of trade and standby letters of credit.

Effective April 30, 2004, the Company increased its outstanding borrowings under the facility to $50.0 million and simultaneously entered
into an interest rate swap that fixed the interest rate on such borrowings at 3.16% for a five-year period. The interest rate swap has been
designated as a cash flow hedge of the future variable interest payments under the revolving credit facility which are considered probable of
occurring. Based on the Company’s assessment, all of the critical terms of the hedge match the underlying terms of the hedged debt and
related forecasted interest payments and as such, these hedges are considered effective.

The fair value of the interest rate swap reflected an unrealized gain of $507,000 ($309,000 after tax) at September 30, 2004 that is included
in equity as part of accumulated other comprehensive income. Assuming market rates remain constant with the rates at September 30,
2004, approximately $67,000 of the $309,000 gain included in accumulated other comprehensive income is expected to be recognized in
earnings as a reduction of interest expense over the next twelve months.

At September 30, 2004 the outstanding balance on the Revolving Credit Facility was $52.5 million and the weighted-average interest rate

on the outstanding borrowings under this facility was 3.08%. Equal quarterly payments of $2.5 million plus interest are due on the facility
until its final maturity in April 2009.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS, continued.

The Company has financed the acquisition of Caggiati S.p.A and several acquisitions by Caggiati S.p.A. through loans with various Italian
banks. Outstanding borrowings on these loans totaled U.S.$14.3 million at September 30, 2004. Caggiati also has four lines of credit
totaling approximately U.S.$13.4 million with the same Italian banks. Outstanding borrowings on these lines were U.S.$3.4 million and
U.S.$3.6 million at September 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The weighted-average interest rate on these borrowings, which are
collateralized by certain trade accounts receivable, was 3.6% at September 30, 2004.

The Company has a stock repurchase program, which was initiated in 1996. As of September 30, 2004, the Company's Board of Directors
had authorized the repurchase of a total of 10,000,000 shares of Matthews’ common stock under the program, of which 7,829,668 shares
had been repurchased as of September 30, 2004. The buy-back program is designed to increase shareholder value, enlarge the Company's
holdings of its common stock, and add to earnings per share. Repurchased shares may be retained in treasury, utilized for acquisitions, or
reissued to employees or other purchasers, subject to the restrictions of the Company’s Restated Articles of Incorporation.

Consolidated working capital of the Company was $90.9 million at September 30, 2004, compared to $89.7 million and $68.8 million at
September 30, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Working capital at September 30, 2004 reflected higher levels of accounts receivable and
inventories, primarily due to acquisitions, an increase in current maturities of debt, and higher levels of current liabilities, also primarily the
result of acquisitions. Working capital at September 30, 2003 reflected a higher level of cash and cash equivalents compared to September
30, 2002 and a reduction in current liabilities resulting from final payouts to customers under various rebate programs of the York Casket
segment. Cash and cash equivalents were $65.8 million at September 30, 2004, compared to $67.0 million and $57.1 million at
September 30, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The Company's current ratio at September 30, 2004 was 1.8, compared to 2.2 and 1.8 at
September 30, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS:

The Company's operations are subject to various federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment.
These laws and regulations impose limitations on the discharge of materials into the environment and require the Company to obtain and
operate in compliance with conditions of permits and other government authorizations. As such, the Company has developed
environmental, health, and safety policies and procedures that include the proper handling, storage and disposal of hazardous materials.

The Company is party to various environmental matters. These include obligations to investigate and mitigate the effects on the
environment of the disposal of certain materials at various operating and non-operating sites. The Company is currently performing
environmental assessments and remediation at these sites, as appropriate. In addition, prior to its acquisition, York Casket was identified,
along with others, by the Environmental Protection Agency as a potentially responsible party for remediation of a landfill site in York,
Pennsylvania. At this time, the Company has not been joined in any lawsuit or administrative order related to the site or its clean-up.

At September 30, 2004, an accrual of $11.5 million has been recorded for environmental remediation (of which $912,000 has been
classified in other current liabilities), representing management's best estimate of the probable and reasonably estimable costs of the
Company's known remediation obligations. The accrual, which reflects previously established reserves assumed with the acquisition of
York Casket and additional reserves recorded as a purchase accounting adjustment, does not consider the effects of inflation and
anticipated expenditures are not discounted to their present value. Changes in the accrued environmental remediation obligation from the
prior fiscal year reflects payments charged against the accrual. While final resolution of these contingencies could result in costs different
than current
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS, continued.

accruals, management believes the ultimate outcome will not have a significant effect on the Company's consolidated results of operations
or financial position.

ACQUISITIONS:

In August 2004, the Company acquired InTouch, a leading provider of reprographic services to the packaging industry in the United
Kingdom. InTouch is headquartered in Leeds, England and has operations in London, Portsmouth, Manchester and Boston, Massachusetts.
The transaction was structured as a stock purchase, at a cost of approximately $39.0 million. The acquisition is intended to further the
Company’s position as a provider of reprographic services to the European packaging industry.

In July 2004, the Company acquired Cloverleaf, a provider of merchandising solutions. Cloverleaf was formed by the recent merger of
iDL, Inc., a provider of merchandising systems and displays, headquartered near Pittsburgh, PA, and Big Red Rooster, a marketing and
design services organization located in Columbus, OH. The transaction was structured as an asset purchase, at a cost of approximately
$34.0 million. The transaction was also structured to include potential additional consideration during the next six years contingent on the
future growth in value of the acquired operations. The acquisition is designed to expand the Company’s products and services into the
merchandising solutions market.

In July 2004, the Company acquired Holjeron, an industrial controls manufacturer located in Wilsonville, OR. The acquisition was
structured as a stock purchase, at a cost of approximately $1.7 million, plus potential additional consideration based upon calendar 2004
financial performance. The acquisition is a part of Matthews’ strategy to increase its presence in the marking products industry.

In August 2003, Matthews acquired Reproservice Munich, a German graphics and flexographic printing plate manufacturer located in
Munich, Germany. The transaction was structured as a stock purchase, at an acquisition price of 4.1 million Euros (U.S.$4.8 million). The
combination of Matthews and Reproservice Munich is an important part of the Matthews strategy to increase its European presence in the
graphics industry. Reproservice Munich, a family-owned business with annual sales of approximately U.S.$6.0 million, was established in
1983. Products and services of Reproservice Munich include pre-press packaging, digital and analog flexographic printing plates, design,
art work, lithography and color separation.

In May 1998, Matthews acquired a 50% interest in O.N.E. a digital graphics service company located in Oakland, California. The purchase
price consisted of $2.0 million cash upon closing plus an additional $2.75 million in 2001, which was based on the attainment of certain
operating performance levels of O.N.E. The purchase agreement also required Matthews to acquire the remaining 50% interest no later than
May 2004, with the purchase price contingent on the attainment of certain operating performance levels of O.N.E., but not less than $4.5
million. The accounts of O.N.E. have been included in the consolidated financial statements of Matthews since May 1998 and a liability
was recorded for the future minimum payout. Effective July 31, 2003, Matthews completed the purchase of the remaining 50% interest in
O.N.E. for $5.7 million.

On May 24, 2001, Matthews and York Casket signed a merger agreement whereby Matthews would acquire 100% of the outstanding
common shares of York Casket for $10 cash per share. Matthews also agreed to pay up to an additional $1 cash per share based on excess
cash (as defined in the merger agreement) remaining on the balance sheet of York Casket as of October 31, 2001. On December 3, 2001, this
transaction was completed at $11 per share. At December 3, 2001, there were 8,940,950 shares of York Casket common stock outstanding.
The transaction was financed by Matthews through borrowings under a $125.0 million Revolving Credit Facility (see "Liquidity and Capital
Resources").
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS, continued.

The acquisition of York Casket was designed to expand Matthews’ position in the death care industry. York Casket operates as a wholly-
owned subsidiary and separate segment of Matthews.

Matthews has accounted for these acquisitions using the purchase method and, accordingly, recorded the acquired assets and liabilities at
their estimated fair values at the acquisition dates. The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of the net assets acquired
was recorded as goodwill.

DISPOSITIONS:

In July 2003, the Company sold its Graphics Imaging segment facility (which was closed in October 2002) in Southern California for $3.2
million. The transaction resulted in a pre-tax gain of $2.6 million, which was recorded in Special Items on the Consolidated Statement of
Income.

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION:

The Company’s objective with respect to operating performance is to increase annual earnings per share in the range of 12% to 15% over
the long term. For the past ten fiscal years, the Company has achieved an average annual increase in earnings per share of 16.1%.

Matthews International Corporation has a three-pronged strategy to attain the annual growth rate objective, which has remained unchanged
from the prior year. This strategy consists of the following: internal growth (which includes productivity improvements, new product
development and the expansion into new markets with existing products), acquisitions and share repurchases under the Company’s stock
repurchase program (see "Liquidity and Capital Resources").

The significant factors impacting the Company’s fiscal 2004 results were the recent acquisitions of Cloverleaf, InTouch and Holjeron and
the favorable impact of foreign currency exchange rate changes. In addition, the growth in operating results by the European Graphics
businesses exceeded the Company’s expectations and the Company does not currently anticipate similar growth in fiscal 2005.
Additionally, the Company remains concerned with the continued high cost of bronze and steel. While fiscal 2004 cost initiatives and
productivity improvements mitigated some of this impact, the significantly higher costs will be a challenge in fiscal 2005, particularly in
the competitive markets which the Company serves. Finally, the Company is adding a new lower cost casket manufacturing plant in
Mexico in fiscal 2005 and the costs associated with this expansion will negatively affect short-term operating results.

Based on anticipated internal growth, the impact of the Company’s recent acquisitions and the factors discussed above, the Company
currently expects to achieve diluted earnings per share in the range of $1.80 to $1.85 for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2005.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Therefore, the
determination of estimates requires the exercise of judgment based on various assumptions and other factors such as historical experience,
economic conditions, and in some cases, actuarial techniques. Actual results may differ from those estimates. A discussion of market risks
affecting the Company can be found in Item 7A, "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk," of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS, continued

The Company's significant accounting policies are included in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. Management believes that the application of these policies on a consistent basis enables the Company to provide
useful and reliable financial information about the company's operating results and financial condition. The following accounting policies
involve significant estimates, which are considered critical to the preparation of the Company's consolidated financial statements for the
year ended September 30, 2004.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts:

The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on an evaluation of specific customer accounts in which available facts and circumstances
indicate collectibility may be a problem. In addition, the allowance includes a general reserve for all customers based on historical
collection experience.

Long-Lived Assets:

Property, plant and equipment, goodwill and other intangible assets are carried at cost. Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is
computed primarily on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill is no longer
amortized, but is subject to periodic review for impairment. Intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives, unless such
lives are considered to be indefinite. A significant decline in cash flows generated from these assets may result in a write-down of the
carrying values of the related assets.

Pension Costs:

Pension assets and liabilities are determined on an actuarial basis and are affected by the market value of plan assets, estimates of the
expected return on plan assets and the discount rate used to determine the present value of benefit obligations. Actual changes in the fair
market value of plan assets and differences between the actual return on plan assets, the expected return on plan assets and changes in the
selected discount rate will affect the amount of pension cost.

The Company's principal pension plan maintains a substantial portion of its assets in equity securities. Based on an analysis of the historical
performance of the plan's assets and consultation with its independent investment advisor, the Company has maintained the long-term rate
of return assumption for these assets at 9.0% for purposes of determining pension cost and funded status under SFAS No. 87, "Employers'
Accounting for Pensions." The discount rate assumption used in determining the present value of the projected benefit obligation was
reduced from 7.0% in fiscal 2002 to 6.5% in fiscal 2003, reflecting a decline in long-term bond rates. The discount rate remained at 6.5% in
fiscal 2004.

Environmental Reserve:

Environmental liabilities are recorded when the Company's obligation is probable and reasonably estimable. Accruals for losses from
environmental remediation obligations do not consider the effects of inflation, and anticipated expenditures are not discounted to their
present value.

Revenue Recognition:

Revenues are generally recognized when title and risk of loss pass to the customer, which is typically at the time of product shipment. For
pre-need sales of memorials and vases, revenue is recognized when the memorial has been manufactured to the customer’s specifications
(e.g., name and birth date), title has been transferred to the customer and the memorial and vase are placed in storage for future delivery. A
liability has been recorded in Estimated Finishing Costs for the estimated costs of finishing pre-need bronze memorials and vases that have
been manufactured and placed in storage prior to July 1, 2003 for future delivery.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS, continued.

In July 2003, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) issued Issue No. 00-21 “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.”
Issue No. 00-21 addresses certain aspects of the accounting by a vendor for arrangements under which it will perform multiple revenue
generating activities. The provisions of Issue No. 00-21 were effective July 1, 2003 and have been applied prospectively by the Company
to the finishing and storage elements of its pre-need sales. Beginning July 1, 2003, revenue is deferred by the Company on the portion of
pre-need sales attributable to the final finishing and storage of the pre-need merchandise. Deferred revenue for final finishing is
recognized at the time the pre-need merchandise is finished and shipped to the customer. Deferred revenue related to storage is
recognized on a straight-line basis over the estimated average time that pre-need merchandise is held in storage.

At September 30, 2004, the Company held 342,316 memorials and 225,375 vases in its storage facilities under the pre-need sales program.

Construction revenues are recognized under the percentage-of-completion method of accounting using the cost-to-cost method. The
Company offers rebates to certain customers participating in volume purchase programs. Rebates are estimated and recorded as a reduction
in sales at the time the Company’s products are sold.

LONG-TERM CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS:

The following table summarizes the Company’s contractual obligations at September 30, 2004, and the effect such obligations are expected
to have on its liquidity and cash flows in future periods.

Payments due in fiscal year:

After
Total 2005 2006 to 2007 2008 to 2009 2009
Contractual Cash Obligations: (Dollar amounts in thousands)
Revolving credit facility $ 52,500 $ 10,000 $ 20,000 $ 22,500 $ -
Notes payable to banks 14,275 2,713 3,075 2,506 5,981
Short-term borrowings 3,437 3,437 - - -
Capital lease obligations 1,180 853 327 - -
Non-cancelable operating leases 24,620 5,169 8,030 5,786 5,635
Total contractual cash obligations $ 96,012 $ 22,172 $ 31,432 $ 30,792 $ 11,616

Benefit payments under the Company’s principal retirement plan are made from plan assets, while benefit payments under the
supplemental retirement plan and postretirement benefit plan are made from the Company’s operating funds. Due to the IRS full funding
limitations, the Company does not expect to make any significant contributions to its principal retirement plan in fiscal 2005. The Company
estimates that benefit payments to participants under its principal retirement plan (including its supplemental retirement plan) and
postretirement benefit payments will be $4.1 million and $1.0 million, respectively, in fiscal 2005. The amounts are not expected to change
materially thereafter. The Company believes that its current liquidity sources, combined with its operating cash flow and borrowing
capacity, will be sufficient to meet its capital needs for the foreseeable future.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS, continued.
INFLATION:

Inflation has not had a material impact on the Company over the past three years nor is it anticipated to have a material impact for the
foreseeable future.

ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS:

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities” (“FIN 46”). This interpretation addresses consolidation by business enterprises of variable interest entities with certain
characteristics. In December 2003, the FASB revised the interpretation (“FIN 46-R”), which provided for various amendments to FIN 46.
The adoption of FIN 46-R during 2004 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position and results of
operations.

In December 2003, the FASB issued a revised version of SFAS No. 132 “Employer’s Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement
Benefits.” This statement requires additional disclosures about assets, obligations, cash flows and net periodic benefit costs of defined
benefit plans and other defined benefit postretirement plans. The disclosure requirements are effective for annual financial statements with
fiscal years ending after December 15, 2003 and for interim periods beginning after December 15, 2003. The disclosure requirements of the
revised version of SFAS No. 132 have been adopted by the Company.

In May 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position No. 106-2 ("FSP 106-2"), "Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare
Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003" (the "Act"). The Act introduces a prescription drug benefit under
Medicare as well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of post-retirement health care benefit plans that provide a benefit that is at least actuarially
equivalent to Medicare Part D. When adopted, FSP 106-2 will supersede FSP 106-1, "Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to
the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003," which was issued in January 2004 and permitted a sponsor
of a post-retirement health care plan that provides a prescription drug benefit to make a one-time election to defer accounting for the effects
of the Act until more authoritative guidance on the accounting for the federal subsidy was issued. The Company elected the one-time
deferral allowed under FSP 106-1 and, as a result, any measures of the accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation or net periodic post-
retirement benefit cost in the financial statements or accompanying notes do not reflect the effects of the Act on post-retirement health care
benefit plans. FSP 106-2 provides authoritative guidance on the accounting for the federal subsidy and specifies the disclosure
requirements for employers who have adopted FSP 106-2, including those who are unable to determine whether benefits provided under its
plan are actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D. FSP 106-2 was adopted by the Company in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, and did not
have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

The following discussion about the Company's market risk involves forward-looking statements. Actual results could differ materially
from those projected in the forward-looking statements. The Company has market risk related to changes in interest rates, commodity
prices and foreign currency exchange rates. The Company does not generally use derivative financial instruments in connection with these
market risks, except as noted below.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK, continued.

Interest Rates - The Company's most significant long-term debt instrument is the Revolving Credit Facility, as amended, which bears
interest at variable rates based on LIBOR. Effective April 30, 2004, the Company increased its outstanding borrowings under the facility to
$50.0 million and simultaneously entered into an interest rate swap that fixed the interest rate on such borrowings at 3.16% for a five-year
period. The interest rate swap has been designated as a cash flow hedge of the future variable interest payments under the Revolving Credit
Facility. The fair value of the interest rate swap reflected an unrealized gain of $507,000 ($309,000 after tax) at September 30, 2004 that is
included in equity as part of accumulated other comprehensive income. A decrease of 10% in market interest rates (i.e. a decrease from
3.5% to 3.15%) would result in a decrease of approximately $421,000 in the fair value of the interest rate swap.

Commodity Price Risks - In the normal course of business, the Company is exposed to commodity price fluctuations related to the
purchases of certain materials and supplies (such as bronze ingot, steel and wood) used in its manufacturing operations. The Company
obtains competitive prices for materials and supplies when available.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rates - The Company is subject to changes in various foreign currency exchange rates, including the Euro, the
British Pound, Canadian dollar, Australian dollar and Swedish Krona, in the conversion from local currencies to the U.S. dollar of the
reported financial position and operating results of its non-U.S. based subsidiaries. An adverse change of 10% in exchange rates would
have resulted in a decrease in sales of $12.5 million and a decrease in operating income of $4.5 million for the year ended September 30,
2004.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and
Board of Directors of
Matthews International Corporation:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity and
cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Matthews International Corporation and its subsidiaries at
September 30, 2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
September 30, 2004 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). These standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets." Accordingly, the Company changed its method of accounting for goodwill in 2002.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania
November 16, 2004
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MATTHEWS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
September 30, 2004 and 2003
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful
accounts of $7,717 and $6,013, respectively
Inventories
Deferred income taxes
Other current assets

Total current assets

Investments

Property, plant and equipment, net

Deferred income taxes

Other assets

Goodwill

Other intangible assets, net of accumulated
amortization of $1,135 and $638, respectively

Total assets $

2004 2003
65,830 $ 66,954
858 4,588
87,490 62,883
42,536 27,065
1,462 1,517
4,302 3,047
202,478 166,054
7,694 4,561
72,714 69,633
9,615 9,496
16,745 22,686
189,016 154,690
32,280 13,062
530,542 $ 440,182

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MATTHEWS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS, continued
September 30, 2004 and 2003
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 2004 2003
Current liabilities:
Long-term debt, current maturities $ 17,003 $ 6,029
Trade accounts payable 26,130 19,805
Accrued compensation 31,274 24,745
Accrued income taxes 13,018 1,274
Other current liabilities 24,147 24,470
Total current liabilities 111,572 76,323
Long-term debt 54,389 57,023
Estimated finishing costs 4,730 4,863
Postretirement benefits other than pensions 17,407 17,644
Deferred income taxes 4,225 3,441
Environmental reserve 10,604 11,154
Other liabilities and deferred revenue 15,365 13,506

Commitments and contingent liabilities

Shareholders' equity:
Class A common stock, $1.00 par value; authorized

70,000,000 shares; 36,333,992 shares issued 36,334 36,334
Preferred stock, $100 par value, authorized 10,000 shares, none issued - -
Additional paid-in capital 11,699 6,476
Retained earnings 308,435 257,559
Accumulated other comprehensive income 11,538 6,643
Treasury stock, 3,923,418 and 4,171,943 shares, respectively, at cost (55,756) (50,784)

Total shareholders' equity 312,250 256,228

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 530,542 $ 440,182

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MATTHEWS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
for the years ended September 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Sales
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Selling expense
Administrative expense
Special items

Operating profit

Investment income
Interest expense

Other income (deductions), net
Minority interest

Income before income taxes and change in accounting

Income taxes

Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting

Cumulative effect of change in accounting, net of tax

Net income

Earnings per share before cumulative effect
of change in accounting:

Basic

Diluted

Earnings per share:

Basic

Diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2004 2003 2002
$ 508,801 $ 458,865 $ 428,086
(315,047) (288,563) (267,722)
193,754 170,302 160,364
(46,999) (43,334) (43,468)

(48,961) (45,840) (48,709)

- (1,044) -

97,794 80,084 68,187

1,612 1,283 1,587

(1,998) (2,852) (4,171)

(57) (381) (119)

(5,518) (4,780) (3,027)

91,833 73,354 62,457
(35,638) (28,461) (24,225)

56,195 44,893 38,232
- - (3,226)

$ 56,195 $ 44,893 $ 35,006
174 8 1.42 1.24

1.72 1.39 1.20

$ 174§ 1.42 1.14
$ 172§ 1.39 1.10




MATTHEWS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
for the years ended September 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Accumulated
Other
Additional Comprehensive
Common Paid-in Retained  Income (Loss) Treasury
Stock Capital Earnings (net of tax) Stock Total

Balance, September 30, 2001 $ 36,334 § -3 184,845 $ (8,983)$ (68,480) $ 143,716
Net income - - 35,006 - - 35,006
Unrealized gains (losses) - - - (342) - (342)
Minimum pension liability - - - (10,042) - (10,042)
Translation adjustment - - - 4,151 - 4,151

Total comprehensive income 28,773
Treasury stock transactions:

Purchase of 6,000 shares - - - - (124) (124)

Issuance of 899,572 shares under stock

plans - 2,119 - - 10,173 12,292
Dividends, $.106 per share - - (3,282) - - (3,282)
Balance, September 30, 2002 36,334 2,119 216,569 (15,216) (58,431) 181,375
Net income - - 44,893 - - 44,893
Unrealized gains (losses) - - - (17) - (17)
Minimum pension liability - - - 10,011 - 10,011
Translation adjustment - - - 11,865 - 11,865

Total comprehensive income 66,752
Treasury stock transactions:

Purchase of 256,468 shares - - - - (6,623) (6,623)

Issuance of 1,251,111 shares under stock

plans - 4,357 - - 14,270 18,627
Dividends, $.123 per share - - (3,903) - - (3,903)
Balance, September 30, 2003 36,334 6,476 257,559 6,643 (50,784) 256,228
Net income - - 56,195 - - 56,195
Unrealized gains (losses) - - - (37 - 37)
Minimum pension liability - - - (737) - (737)
Translation adjustment - - - 5,360 - 5,360
Fair value of derivative - - - 309 - 309

Total comprehensive income 61,090
Treasury stock transactions:

Purchase of 497,736 shares - - - - (14,894) (14,894)

Issuance of 746,261 shares under stock

plans - 5,223 - - 9,922 15,145
Dividends, $.165 per share - - (5,319) - - (5,319)
Balance, September 30, 2004 $ 36,334 § 11,699 $ 308,435 $ 11,538 $ (55,756) $ 312,250

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MATTHEWS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
for the years ended September 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating

activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Change in deferred taxes
Impairment charges
Net (gain) loss on dispositions of assets
Net (gain) loss on investments
Changes in working capital items
(Increase) decrease in other assets
Decrease in estimated finishing costs
Decrease in other liabilities
Decrease in postretirement benefits
Tax benefit on exercised stock options
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures
Proceeds from dispositions of assets
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Purchases of investment securities
Proceeds from dispositions of investments
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from long-term debt
Payments on long-term debt
Proceeds from the sale of treasury stock
Purchases of treasury stock
Dividends
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Cash paid during the year for:
Interest

Income taxes

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2004 2003 2002
$56,195 $44,893 $35,006
15,628 14,872 13,856
1,015 5,128 5,286
1,028 3,840 5,776
35 (2,504) 401
- 55 (456)
1,936 (12,460) (4,050)
3,724 5,594 (3,786)
(133) (1,948) (590)
(470) (4,553) (1,060)
(203) (263) (376)
4,517 5,832 5,473
83,272 58,486 55,480
(10,403) (9,280) (10,063)
1,484 5,572 3,228
(74,487) (9,455) (88,767)
(15,260) (185) 4,771)
15,829 21 13,730
(82,837) (13,327) (86,643)
55,478 - 126,433
(49,050) (43,993) (71,310)
10,629 12,795 6,819
(14,894) (6,623) (124)
(5,319) (3,903) (3,282)
(3,156) (41,724) 58,536
1,597 6,418 1,037
(1,124) 9,853 28,410
66,954 57,101 28,691
$65,830 $66,954 $57,101
$1,823 $ 3,007 $3,952
11,200 20,902 10,080




MATTHEWS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS:

Matthews International Corporation ("Matthews"), founded in 1850 and incorporated in Pennsylvania in 1902, is a designer, manufacturer
and marketer principally of memorialization products and brand solutions. Memorialization products consist primarily of bronze memorials
and memorialization products, caskets and cremation equipment for the cemetery and funeral home industries. Brand solutions include
graphics imaging products and services, merchandising solutions, and marking products. The Company's products and operations are
comprised of six business segments: Bronze, York Casket, Cremation, Graphics Imaging, Marking Products and, as of July 19, 2004,
Merchandising Solutions (see Note 16). The Bronze segment is a leading manufacturer of cast bronze memorials and other memorialization
products, cast and etched architectural products and is a leading builder of mausoleums in the United States. The York Casket segment is a
leading casket manufacturer in the United States and produces a wide variety of wood and metal caskets. The Cremation segment is a
leading designer and manufacturer of cremation equipment and cremation caskets primarily in North America. The Graphics Imaging
segment manufactures and provides printing plates, pre-press services and imaging services for the corrugated and flexible packaging
industries. The Marking Products segment designs, manufactures and distributes a wide range of marking equipment and consumables for
identifying various consumer and industrial products, components and packaging containers. The Merchandising Solutions segment designs
and manufactures merchandising displays and systems and provides creative merchandising and marketing solutions services.

The Company has manufacturing and marketing facilities in the United States, Australia, Canada and Europe.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:
Principles of Consolidation:

The consolidated financial statements include all majority-owned foreign and domestic subsidiaries. The consolidated financial statements
also include the accounts of the Company's 50%-owned affiliate, S+T Gesellschaft Fur Reprotechnik GmbH (“S+T GmbH”). All
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates:

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

Foreign Currency:

Balance sheet accounts for foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect at the consolidated balance sheet
date. Gains or losses that result from this process are recorded in other comprehensive income. The revenue and expense accounts of
foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at the average exchange rates that prevailed during the period.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Cash and Cash Equivalents:
For purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the Company considers all investments purchased with a remaining maturity of
three months or less to be cash equivalents. The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value due to the short-
term maturities of these instruments.
Inventories:
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market with cost generally determined under the average cost method.
Property, Plant and Equipment:
Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost. Deprecia-tion is computed primarily on the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of the assets, which generally range from 10 to 45 years for buildings and 3 to 12 years for machinery and equipment. Gains or losses
from the disposition of assets are reflected in operating profit. The cost of maintenance and repairs is charged against income as incurred.
Renewals and betterments of a nature considered to extend the useful lives of the assets are capitalized.
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets:
Goodwill is no longer amortized but is subject to annual review for impairment. Intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful
lives, ranging from 2 to 17 years, unless such lives are considered to be indefinite. A significant decline in cash flows generated from these
assets may result in a write-down of the carrying values of the related assets.
Environmental:
Costs that mitigate or prevent future environmental issues or extend the life or improve equipment utilized in current operations are
capitalized and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Costs that relate to current
operations or an existing condition caused by past operations are expensed. Environmental liabilities are recorded when the Company’s
obligation is probable and reasonably estimable. Accruals for losses from environmental remediation obligations do not consider the effects
of inflation, and anticipated expenditures are not discounted to their present value.
Treasury Stock:
Treasury stock is carried at cost. The cost of treasury shares sold is determined under the average cost method.
Income Taxes:
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are provided for the differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities
using enacted tax rates in effect for the years in which the differences are expected to reverse. Deferred income taxes for U.S. tax purposes

have not been provided on certain undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries, as such earnings are considered to be reinvested
indefinitely. To the extent earnings are expected to be returned in the foreseeable future, the associated deferred tax liabilities are provided.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Revenue Recognition:

Revenues are generally recognized when title and risk of loss pass to the customer, which is typically at the time of product shipment. For
pre-need sales of memorials and vases, revenue is recognized when the memorial has been manufactured to the customer’s specifications
(e.g., name and birth date), title has been transferred to the customer and the memorial and vase are placed in storage for future delivery.
A liability has been recorded in Estimated Finishing Costs for the estimated costs of finishing pre-need bronze memorials and vases that
have been manufactured and placed in storage prior to July 1, 2003 for future delivery.

In July 2003, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) issued Issue No. 00-21 “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.” Issue
No. 00-21 addresses certain aspects of the accounting by a vendor for arrangements under which it will perform multiple revenue
generating activities. The provisions of Issue No. 00-21 were effective July 1, 2003 and have been applied prospectively by the Company
to the finishing and storage elements of its pre-need sales. Beginning July 1, 2003, revenue is deferred by the Company on the portion of
pre-need sales attributable to the final finishing and storage of the pre-need merchandise. Deferred revenue for final finishing is recognized
at the time the pre-need merchandise is finished and shipped to the customer. Deferred revenue related to storage is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the estimated average time that pre-need merchandise is held in storage.

At September 30, 2004, the Company held 342,316 memorials and 225,375 vases in its storage facilities under the pre-need sales program.

Construction revenues are recognized under the percentage-of-completion method of accounting using the cost-to-cost method. The
Company offers rebates to certain customers participating in volume purchase programs. Rebates are estimated and recorded as a reduction
in sales at the time the Company’s products are sold.

Derivatives and Hedging:

Derivatives are held as part of a formal documented hedging program. All derivatives are straight forward and held for purposes other than
trading. Matthews measures effectiveness by formally assessing, at least quarterly, the historical and probable future high correlation of
changes in the fair value or future cash flows of the hedged item. If the hedging relationship ceases to be highly effective or it becomes
probable that an expected transaction will no longer occur, gains and losses on the derivative will be recorded in other income (deductions)
at that time.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges are recorded in other comprehensive income, net of tax and are
reclassified to earnings in a manner consistent with the underlying hedged item. The cash flows from derivative activities are recognized in
the statement of cash flows in a manner consistent with the underlying hedged item.

Research and Development Expenses:

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred and approximated $3,000, $4,200 and $2,800 for the years ended September 30,
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Earnings Per Share:

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per
share is computed using the treasury stock method, which assumes the issuance of common stock for all dilutive securities.

Reclassifications:

Certain reclassifications have been made to the financial statements for the years ended September 30, 2003 and 2002 to conform to the
current year presentation.

Stock Plan:

The Company has a stock incentive plan that provides for grants of incentive stock options, non-statutory stock options and restricted share
awards. The Company has elected to account for its stock incentive plan under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, "Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees." If compensation cost had been determined under SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation," the Company's net income and diluted earnings per share would have been as follows:

2004 2003 2002
Net income, as reported $ 56,195 $ 44893 $ 35,006
Net income, pro forma 54,533 43,504 33,620
Earnings per share, as reported $ 172§ 1.39 $ 1.10
Earnings per share, pro forma 1.68 1.35 1.06

The weighted-average fair value of options granted was $9.33 per share in 2004, $7.19 per share in 2003 and $7.77 per share in 2002.

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes based pricing model with the following
assumptions:

2004 2003 2002
Expected volatility 24.2% 24.4% 26.7%
Dividend yield 1.0% 1.0% 1.0%
Average risk-free interest rate 3.9% 3.8% 3.0%
Average expected term (years) 7.9 8.0 7.6
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

3. INVENTORIES:

(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Inventories at September 30 consisted of the following:

Materials and finished goods
Labor and overhead in process
Supplies

4. INVESTMENTS:

2004 2003
$ 38,005 $ 25,165
4,141 1,489
390 411
$ 42,536 $ 27,065

Investment securities are recorded at estimated market value at the consolidated balance sheet date and are classified as available-for-sale.
Short-term investments consisted principally of corporate obligations with purchased maturities of over three months but less than one year.
The cost of short-term investments approximated market value at September 30, 2004 and 2003. Investments classified as non-current
consisted of securities of the U.S. government and its agencies and corporate obligations with purchased maturities in the range of one to
five years. Accrued interest on all investment securities was classified with short-term investments.

At September 30, 2004 and 2003, investments classified as non-current were as follows:

September 30, 2004:

U.S. government and its agencies

Corporate obligations
Other

Total

September 30, 2003:

U.S. government and its agencies

Corporate obligations
Other

Total

Book Value Gross
(Amortized Unrealized Market
Cost) Losses Value
$ 586 -3 (16) $ 570
5,552 29 - 5,581
47 - - 47
$ 6,185 29§ (16) $ 6,198
$ 986 19 $ - 8 1,005
2,055 64 - 2,119
36 - - 36
$ 3,077 83 § -3 3,160

Unrealized gains and losses on investment securities, including related deferred taxes, are reflected in accumulated other comprehensive
income. Realized gains and losses are based on the specific identification method and are recorded in investment income. Realized gains for
fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $0, $2, and $456, respectively. Bond premiums and discounts are amortized on the straight-line method,
which does not significantly differ from the interest method.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

In addition, investments included the Company's 49% ownership interest in Applied Technology Developments, Ltd. ("ATD"), which was
$647 at September 30, 2004 and 2003. The investment in ATD is recorded under the equity method of accounting. Income under the equity
method of accounting is recorded in investment income. Investments also included ownership interests in various entities of less than 20%,
which totaled $849 and $754 at September 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Investments of less than 20% ownership interest are recorded
under the cost method of accounting.

5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT:

Property, plant and equipment and the related accumulated depreciation at September 30, 2004 and 2003 were as follows:

2004 2003
Buildings $ 35,810 § 36,534
Machinery and equipment 116,598 96,978
152,408 133,512
Less accumulated depreciation (85,222) (70,854)
67,186 62,658
Land 4,802 5,283
Construction in progress 726 1,692
$ 72,714 $ 69,633
6. LONG-TERM DEBT:
Long-term debt at September 30, 2004 and 2003 consisted of the following:
2004 2003
Revolving Credit Facility $ 52,500 $ 44,500
Note payable to bank 14,275 13,770
Short-term borrowings 3,437 3,575
Capital lease obligations 1,180 1,207
71,392 63,052
Less current maturities (17,003) (6,029)
$ 54,389 § 57,023

On December 3, 2001, the Company entered into a Revolving Credit Facility for $125,000 with a syndicate of financial institutions. The
facility was scheduled to mature on November 30, 2004. On April 21, 2004, the Company signed an amendment to the facility which
extended its maturity to April 30, 2009. Borrowings under the amended facility bear interest at LIBOR plus a factor ranging from .50% to
1.00% based on the Company’s leverage ratio. The leverage ratio is defined as net indebtedness divided by EBITDA (earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization). The Company is required to pay an annual commitment fee ranging from .20% to .30%
(based on the Company’s leverage ratio) of the unused portion of the facility. The Revolving Credit Facility, as amended, requires the
Company to maintain certain leverage and interest coverage ratios. A portion of the facility (not to exceed $10.0 million) is available for
the issuance of trade and standby letters of credit.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Effective April 30, 2004, the Company increased its outstanding borrowings under the facility to $50,000 and simultaneously entered into
an interest rate swap that fixed the interest rate on such borrowings at 3.16% for a five-year period. The interest rate swap has been
designated as a cash flow hedge of the future variable interest payments under the Revolving Credit Facility which are considered probable
of occurring. Based on the Company’s assessment, all of the critical terms of the hedge match the underlying terms of the hedged debt and
related forecasted interest payments and as such, these hedges are considered effective.

The fair value of the interest rate swap reflected an unrealized gain of $507 ($309 after tax) at September 30, 2004 that is included in equity
as part of accumulated other comprehensive income. Assuming market rates remain constant with the rates at September 30, 2004,
approximately $67 of the $309 gain included in accumulated other comprehensive income is expected to be recognized in earnings as
interest expense over the next twelve months.

Outstanding borrowings on the Revolving Credit Facility at September 30, 2004 and 2003 were $52,500 and $44,500, respectively. The
weighted-average interest rate on outstanding borrowings at September 30, 2004 was 3.08%. Equal quarterly payments of $2,500 plus
interest are due on the facility until its maturity in April 2009.

The Company has financed the acquisition of Caggiati S.p.A and several acquisitions by Caggiati S.p.A. through loans with various Italian
banks. Outstanding borrowings on these loans totaled $14,275 and $13,770 at September 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Caggiati also has
four lines of credit totaling approximately $13,400 with the same Italian banks. Outstanding borrowings on these lines were $3,437 and
$3,575 at September 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The weighted-average interest rate on these borrowings, which are collateralized by
certain trade accounts receivable, was 3.6% at September 30, 2004.

Aggregate maturities of long-term debt, including short-term borrowings and capital leases, follows:

2005 $ 17,003
2006 11,750
2007 11,652
2008 11,253
2009 13,753
Thereafter 5,981

$ 71,392

The carrying amounts of the Company's borrowings under its financing arrangements approximated their fair value.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

7. SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY:
The authorized common stock of the Company consists of 70,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock, $1 par value.

The Company has a stock repurchase program, which was initiated in 1996. Under the program, the Company's Board of Directors has
authorized the repurchase of a total of 10,000,000 shares of Matthews’ common stock, of which 7,829,668 shares have been repurchased as
of September 30, 2004. The buy-back program is designed to increase shareholder value, enlarge the Company's holdings of its common
stock, and add to earnings per share. Repurchased shares may be retained in treasury, utilized for acquisitions, or reissued to employees or
other purchasers, subject to the restrictions of the Company’s Restated Articles of Incorporation.

Comprehensive income consists of net income adjusted for changes, net of any related income tax effect, in cumulative foreign currency
translation, the fair value of derivatives, unrealized investment gains and losses and minimum pension liability.

Accumulated other comprehensive income at September 30, 2004 and 2003 consisted of the following:

2004 2003
Cumulative foreign currency translation $ 11,969 $ 6,609
Fair value of derivatives 309 -
Unrealized investment gains (losses) 28 65
Minimum pension liability (768) 3D
$ 11,538 § 6,643

8. STOCK PLANS:

The Company has a stock incentive plan that provides for grants of incentive stock options, non-statutory stock options and restricted share
awards in an aggregate number not to exceed 15% of the outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock. The plan is administered by
the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. The option price for each stock option that may be granted under the plan may not
be less than the fair market value of the Company's common stock on the date of grant. The aggregate number of shares of the Company's
common stock that may be issued upon exercise of stock options was 4,861,586 shares at September 30, 2004.

Outstanding stock options are exercisable in various share amounts based on the attainment of certain market value levels of Class A
Common Stock but, in the absence of such events, are exercisable in full for a one-week period beginning five years from the date of grant.
In addition, options granted after September 1996 generally vest in one-third increments after three, four and five years, respectively, from
the grant date (but, in any event, not until the attainment of the certain market value levels described above). The options expire on the
earlier of ten years from the date of grant, upon employment termination, or within specified time limits following voluntary employment
termination (with the consent of the Company), retirement or death.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

The transactions for shares under options were as follows:

2004 2003 2002

Outstanding, beginning of year:

Number 2,455,572 3,216,433 3,698,866

Weighted-average exercise price $ 1728 § 13.77  $ 10.92
Granted:

Number 518,050 607,525 459,700

Weighted-average exercise price $ 28.58 § 2181 $ 24.55
Exercised:

Number 733,711 1,245,239 898,700

Weighted-average exercise price $ 1385 § 10.28 $ 7.58
Expired or forfeited:

Number 166,414 123,147 43,433

Weighted-average exercise price $ 2130 $ 18.68 § 13.14
Outstanding, end of year:

Number 2,073,497 2,455,572 3,216,433

Weighted-average exercise price $ 2099 $ 1728 § 13.77
Exercisable, end of year:

Number 436,153 561,135 1,187,077

Weighted-average exercise price $ 13.16 $ 1253 $ 9.84
Shares reserved for future options,

End of year 2,788,089 2,368,735 1,458,678
The following tables summarize certain stock option information at September 30, 2004:
Options outstanding:

Weighted- Weighted-
Range of average average
exercise price Number remaining life exercise price
$7.03 31,934 22 % 7.03
$10.70 25,328 32 10.70
$13.84 and $15.34 44,500 42 14.18
$12.84 and $13.98 306,465 4.7 13.56
$14.03 300,061 6.1 14.03
$24.37 369,200 7.3 24.37
$21.81 506,459 8.2 21.81
$28.58 489,550 9.2 28.58
2,073,497 72 % 20.99
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Options exercisable:

Weighted-

Range of average
exercise price Number exercise price
$7.03 31,934 $ 7.03
$10.70 25,328 10.70
$13.84 and $15.34 44,500 14.18
$12.84 and $13.98 252,030 13.71
$14.03 82,361 14.03

436,153 ' $ 13.16

Under the Company’s Director Fee Plan, directors who are not also officers of the Company each receive, as an annual retainer fee, shares
of the Company's Class A Common Stock equivalent to approximately $18. Directors may also elect to receive the common stock
equivalent of meeting fees. Each director may elect to be paid these shares on a current basis or have such shares credited to a deferred
stock account as phantom stock, with such shares to be paid to the director subsequent to leaving the Board. The value of deferred shares is
recorded in other liabilities. Shares deferred under the Director Fee Plan at September 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were 50,064, 58,900 and

56,288, respectively.

9. EARNINGS PER SHARE:

Net income

Weighted-average common shares outstanding

Dilutive securities, primarily stock options

Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding

Basic earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share before change in accounting
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2004 2003 2002
$ 56,195 44,893 § 35,006
32,216,753 31,685,756 30,765,177
471,890 628,940 1,030,813
32,688,643 32,314,696 31,795,990
$ 1.74 142 § 1.14
$ 1.72 139 8§ 1.10
$ 1.72 139 $ 1.20




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

10. PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT PLANS:

The Company provides defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans to certain employees. The following provides a
reconciliation of benefit obligations, plan assets and funded status of the plans:

Pension Other Postretirement
2004 2003 2004 2003
Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation, beginning $ 79,702 70,975 $ 16,949 $ 15,741
Acquisitions 5,675 - - -
Service cost 3,694 3,036 395 289
Interest cost 5,118 4,830 1,049 1,058
Assumption changes (154) 5,279 568 1,531
Actuarial (gain) loss (1,164) (982) 535 (853)
Benefit payments (3,794) (3,436) (806) (817)
Benefit obligation, ending 89,077 79,702 18,690 16,949
Change in plan assets:
Fair value, beginning 68,182 53,683 - -
Acquisitions 4,274 - - -
Actual return 3,549 9,855 - -
Benefit payments (3,794) (3,436) (806) (817)
Employer contributions 1,904 8,080 806 817
Fair value, ending 74,115 68,182 - -
Funded status (14,962) (11,520) (18,690) (16,949)
Unrecognized actuarial loss 23,133 23,871 8,154 7,499
Unrecognized prior service cost (176) 91) (8,078) (9,366)
Net amount recognized $ 7,995 12,260 $ (18,614) $ (18,816)
Amounts recognized in the balance sheet:
Prepaid pension cost $ 13,178 15237 $ - 8 -
Accrued benefit liability (6,455) (3,052) (18,614) (18,816)
Intangible asset - - - -
Accumulated other comprehensive income 1,272 75 - -
Net amount recognized $ 7,995 12,260 $ (18,614) $ (18,816)

The Company has an unfunded defined benefit pension plan, which had a benefit obligation at September 30, 2004 and 2003 of $4,591 and
$3,488, respectively. In accordance with SFAS No. 87, "Employers’ Accounting for Pensions," the Company recorded an obligation at
September 30, 2004 and 2003 for the under funded status of the pension plans, principally through a charge to accumulated other

comprehensive income.
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Net periodic pension and other postretirement benefit cost (income) for the plans included the following:

Pension Other Postretirement
2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
Service cost $ 3,694 § 3,036 § 2,948 § 3953 289 $ 357
Interest cost 5,118 4,830 4,619 1,049 1,058 916
Expected return on plan assets (5,978) (4,617) (6,461) - - -
Amortization:
Prior service cost 80 111 162 (1,287) (1,288) (1,009)
Net actuarial loss 1,204 1,253 - 446 495 114
Net benefit cost $ 4,118 $ 4,613 $ 1,268 $ 603 $ 554 °$ 378

Benefit payments under the Company’s principal retirement plan are made from plan assets, while benefit payments under the
supplemental retirement plan and postretirement benefit plan are made from the Company’s operating funds. Due to the IRS full funding
limitations, the Company was not required to make any contributions to its principal retirement plan in fiscal year 2004, however, the
Company did make a $1,500 contribution to the plan during fiscal 2004. Contributions of $304,000 and $806,000 were made under the
supplemental retirement plan and postretirement plan, respectively, in fiscal 2004.

Weighted-average assumptions for the Company’s primary pension and other postretirement benefit plans were:

Pension Other Postretirement
2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
Discount rate 6.50% 6.50% 7.00% 6.50% 6.50% 7.00%
Return on plan assets 9.00 9.00 9.00 - - -
Compensation increase 4.25 4.25 4.25 - - -

For measurement purposes, annual rates of increase of 11.8% and 16.0% in the per capita cost of health care benefits for those under 65
years of age and those over 65 years of age, respectively, were assumed for 2004; the rates were assumed to decrease gradually to 5.0% for
2008 and remain at that level thereafter. Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported. An increase
in the assumed health care cost trend rates by one percentage point would have increased the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation
as of September 30, 2004 by $1,087 and the aggregate of the service and interest cost components of net periodic postretirement benefit
cost for the year then ended by $127. A decrease in the assumed health care cost trend rates by one percentage point would have decreased
the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation as of September 30, 2004 by $962 and the aggregate of the service and interest cost
components of net periodic postretirement benefit cost for the year then ended by $111.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

11. INCOME TAXES:

The provision for income taxes (before cumulative effect of change in accounting) consisted of the following:

2004 2003 2002
Current:
Federal $ 23,503 $ 14,867 $ 14,531
State 2,559 2,477 1,907
Foreign 8,533 5,606 2,812
34,595 22,950 19,250
Deferred 1,043 5,511 4,975
Total $ 35,638 $ 28,461 $ 24,225
The components of the net deferred tax asset at September 30 were as follows:
2004 2003
Deferred tax assets:
Postretirement benefits $ 7259 § 7,339
Environmental reserve 4,423 4,658
Bad debt reserve 3,100 2,688
Deferred compensation 3,125 2,575
Impairments/other provisions 1,319 2,683
Estimated finishing costs 1,601 1,644
Accrued vacation pay 1,259 1,405
Accrued rebates 500 490
Other 2,022 1,761
24,608 25,243
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation (8,187) (7,581)
Pension costs (3,427) (4,678)
Goodwill amortization (5,926) (5,370)
Unrealized investment gain (216) (42)
(17,756) (17,671)
Net deferred tax asset 6,852 7,572
Less current portion (1,462) (1,517)
$ 5390 $ 6,055

51




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued

(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

The components of the provision for deferred income taxes were as follows:

2004 2003 2002
Postretirement benefits $ 163 § 102§ 147
Environmental reserve 235 162 141
Bad debt reserve (412) 853 208
Deferred compensation (550) 563 766
Pension costs (863) 1,370 1,059
Impairments/other provisions 1,364 (330) 189
Estimated finishing costs 43 660 220
Accrued vacation pay 147 40 55
Accrued rebates (10) 378 699
Depreciation 605 264 293
Goodwill amortization 556 1,151 1,445
Other (235) 298 (247)
$ 1,043 § 5511 § 4,975
The reconciliation of the federal statutory tax rate to the consolidated effective tax rate was as follows:
2004 2003 2002

Federal statutory tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

Effect of state income taxes, net of federal deduction 1.9 2.8 2.7

Foreign taxes in excess of federal statutory rate 1.5 .6 .6

Goodwill amortization .0 2 2

Other 4 2 3

Effective tax rate 38.8% 38.8% 38.8%

The Company's foreign subsidiaries had income before income taxes for the years ended September 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002 of
approximately $23,300, $16,300 and $10,200, respectively. At September 30, 2004, undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries for which
deferred U.S. income taxes have not been provided approximated $37,352. Management has no plans to distribute such earnings in the
foreseeable future, therefore determination of the amount of unrecognized U.S. deferred tax liability on these unremitted earnings is not
practical. In addition, any taxes paid upon distribution of these amounts to the Company would be offset, at least in part, by foreign tax

credits under U.S. tax regulations.
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(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES:

The Company operates various production and office facilities and equipment under operating lease agreements. Annual rentals under these
and other operating leases were $7,000, $6,000 and $5,400 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Future minimum rental commitments
under non-cancelable operating lease arrangements for fiscal years 2005 through 2009 are $5,169, $4,141, $3,889, $3,476 and $2,310,
respectively, and $5,635 thereafter.

The Company is party to various legal proceedings, the eventual outcome of which are not predictable. Although the ultimate disposition of
these proceedings is not presently determinable, management is of the opinion that they should not result in liabilities in an amount which
would materially affect the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

The Company has employment agreements with certain employees, the terms of which expire at various dates between 2004 and 2007. The
agreements generally provide for base salary and bonus levels and include a non-compete clause. The aggregate commitment for salaries
under these agreements at September 30, 2004 was approximately $7,850.

13. ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS:

The Company's operations are subject to various federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment.
These laws and regulations impose limitations on the discharge of materials into the environment and require the Company to obtain and
operate in compliance with conditions of permits and other government authorizations. As such, the Company has developed
environmental, health and safety policies and procedures that include the proper handling, storage and disposal of hazardous materials.

The Company is party to various environmental matters. These include obligations to investigate and mitigate the effects on the
environment of the disposal of certain materials at various operating and non-operating sites. The Company is currently performing
environmental assessments and remediation at these sites, as appropriate. In addition, prior to its acquisition, York was identified, along
with others, by the Environmental Protection Agency as a potentially responsible party for remediation of a landfill site in York,
Pennsylvania. At this time, the Company has not been joined in any lawsuit or administrative order related to the site or its clean-up.

At September 30, 2004, an accrual of $11,516 has been recorded for environmental remediation (of which $912 has been classified in other
current liabilities), representing management's best estimate of the probable and reasonably estimable costs of the Company's known
remediation obligations. The accrual, which reflects previously established reserves assumed with the acquisition of York and additional
reserves recorded as a purchase accounting adjustment, does not consider the effects of inflation and anticipated expenditures are not
discounted to their present value. While final resolution of these contingencies could result in costs different than current accruals,
management believes the ultimate outcome will not have a significant effect on the Company's consolidated results of operations or
financial position.

53




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

14. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:

Changes in working capital items as presented in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows consisted of the following:

2004 2003 2002
Current assets:
Accounts receivable $ (2,367) $ 3989 § 2,906
Inventories (3,959) (2,624) 1,301
Other current assets (716) (1,414) 417)
(7,042) (49) 3,790
Current liabilities:
Trade accounts payable 75 (61) (2,910)
Accrued compensation 3,430 1,626 1,232
Accrued income taxes 10,352 (3,226) (1,623)
Customer prepayments (2,928) (187) (3,456)
Accrued rebates - (8,391) 642
Accrued shutdown (693) (2,670) (251)
Other current liabilities (1,258) 498 (1,474)
8,978 (12,411) (7,840)
Net change $ 1,936 § (12,460) $ (4,050)

15. SEGMENT INFORMATION:

The Company's products and operations are comprised of six business segments, as described under Nature of Operations (Note 1): Bronze,
York Casket, Cremation, Graphics Imaging, Marking Products and, as of July 19, 2004, Merchandising Solutions (see Note 16).
Management evaluates segment performance based on operating profit (before income taxes) and does not allocate non-operating items
such as investment income, interest expense, other income (deductions), net and minority interest.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Note 2).
Intersegment sales are accounted for at negotiated prices. Operating profit is total revenue less operating expenses. Segment assets include
those assets that are used in the Company's operations within each segment. Assets classified under Other principally consist of cash and
cash equivalents, investments, deferred income taxes and corporate headquarters' assets. Long-lived assets include property, plant and
equipment (net of accumulated depreciation), goodwill, and other intangible assets (net of accumulated amortization).
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Information about the Company's segments follows:

York Graphics Merchandising Marking

Bronze  Casket Cremation Imaging Solutions Products Other  Consolidated
Sales to external customers:
2004 $197,377 $116,588 $ 22,476 $113,226 $ 21,144 § 37,990 $ -8 508,801
2003 $186,950 120,398 20,189 99,065 - 32,263 - 458,865
2002 185,883 100,415 18,306 94,814 - 28,068 - 428,086
Intersegment sales:
2004 178 438 276 4 - 35 - 931
2003 79 307 194 3 - 42 - 625
2002 10 - - 9 - 46 - 65
Depreciation and amortization:
2004 4,797 4,150 242 4,917 406 416 700 15,628
2003 4,815 4,209 213 4,712 - 479 444 14,872
2002 4,612 3,549 216 4,508 - 539 432 13,856
Operating profit:
2004 54,337 14,585 1,475 19,287 1,571 6,539 - 97,794
2003 50,433 12,740 1,242 11,562 - 4,107 - 80,084
2002 46,589 9,354 (1,075) 9,724 - 3,595 - 68,187
Total assets:
2004 147,816 102,902 11,725 141,282 48,948 26,452 51,417 530,542
2003 139,543 109,106 11,153 92,135 - 20431 64,373 436,741
2002 137,433 124,715 14,151 83,414 - 15908 46,980 422,601
Capital expenditures:
2004 3,510 1,109 86 3,903 858 567 370 10,403
2003 3,509 1,667 153 3,683 - 115 153 9,280
2002 4,092 2,110 46 3,129 - 253 433 10,063

Information about the Company's operations by geographic area follows:

United States Canada Australia Europe Consolidated

Sales to external customers:

2004 $381,134 $9.,495 $7,003 $111,169 $508,801
2003 357,354 8,568 5,566 87,377 458,865
2002 348,986 8,547 4,883 65,670 428,086
Long-lived assets:

2004 190,336 2,345 2,574 98,755 294,010
2003 174,773 2,244 3,034 57,334 237,385
2002 183,658 2,001 2,442 45412 233,513
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16. ACQUISITIONS:

In August 2004, the Company acquired The InTouch Group Limited (“InTouch”), a leading provider of reprographic services to the
packaging industry in the United Kingdom. InTouch is headquartered in Leeds, England and has operations in London, Portsmouth,
Manchester and Boston, Massachusetts. The transaction was structured as a stock purchase, at a cost of approximately $39,000 million. The
acquisition is intended to further the Company’s position as a provider of reprographic services to the European packaging industry.

In July 2004, the Company acquired The Cloverleaf Group, Inc. (“Cloverleaf”), a provider of merchandising solutions. Cloverleaf was
formed by the recent merger of iDL, Inc., which is a merchandising solutions company headquartered near Pittsburgh, PA, and Big Red
Rooster, which is a marketing and design services organization located in Columbus, OH. The transaction was structured as an asset
purchase, at a cost of approximately $34,000. The transaction was also structured to include potential additional consideration during the
next six years contingent on the future growth in value of the acquired operations. The Company expects to account for this additional
consideration as additional purchase price. The acquisition is designed to expand the Company’s products and services into the
merchandising solutions market.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed of Cloverleaf and InTouch at their
respective dates of acquisition.

Cloverleaf InTouch
Cash $ 295 $ 1,151
Trade receivables 14,618 7,177
Inventories 10,669 690
Property, plant and equipment 5,450 2,921
Intangible assets 8,000 11,681
Goodwill and other assets 8,229 20,919
Total assets acquired 47,261 44,539
Trade accounts payable 4,743 1,313
Customer prepayments 3,002 -
Other liabilities 5,263 3,544
Total liabilities assumed 13,008 4,857
Net assets acquired $ 34253 $ 39,682

The following unaudited pro forma information presents a summary of the consolidated results of Matthews combined with Cloverleaf and
InTouch as if the acquisitions had occurred on October 1, 2002:

2004 2003
Sales $ 595,998 $ 545,578
Income before taxes 95,551 77,622
Net income 58,471 47,505
Earnings per share $ .79 § 1.47
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These unaudited pro forma results have been prepared for comparative purposes only and include certain adjustments, such as interest
expense on acquisition debt. The pro forma information does not purport to be indicative of the results of operations which actually would
have resulted had the acquisition occurred on the date indicated, or which may result in the future.

In July 2004, the Company acquired Holjeron, an industrial controls manufacturer located in Wilsonville, OR. The acquisition was
structured as a stock purchase, at a cost of approximately $1,700, plus potential additional consideration based upon calendar 2004
financial performance. The Company expects to account for this additional consideration as additional purchase price. The acquisition is a
part of Matthews’ strategy to increase its presence in the marking products industry.

In August 2003, Matthews acquired Reproservice Eurodigital GmbH Munchen ("Reproservice Munich"), a German graphics and
flexographic printing plate manufacturer located in Munich, Germany. The transaction was structured as a stock purchase, at an
acquisition price of 4.1 million Euros (U.S.$4,800). The combination of Matthews and Reproservice Munich is an important part of the
Matthews strategy to increase its European presence in the graphics industry. Reproservice Munich, a family-owned business with annual
sales of approximately U.S.$6,000, was established in 1983. Products and services of Reproservice Munich include pre-press packaging,
digital and analog flexographic printing plates, design, art work, lithography and color separation.

In May 1998, Matthews acquired a 50% interest in O.N.E., a digital graphics service company located in Oakland, California. The purchase
price consisted of $2,000 cash upon closing plus an additional $2,750 in 2001, which was based on the attainment of certain operating
performance levels of O.N.E. The purchase agreement also required Matthews to acquire the remaining 50% interest no later than
May 2004, with the purchase price contingent on the attainment of certain operating performance levels of O.N.E., but not less than
$4,500. The accounts of O.N.E. have been included in the consolidated financial statements of Matthews since May 1998 and a liability
was recorded for the future minimum payout. Effective July 31, 2003, Matthews completed the purchase of the remaining 50% interest in
O.N.E. for $5,700.

On May 24, 2001, Matthews and York Casket signed a merger agreement whereby Matthews would acquire 100% of the outstanding
common shares of York Casket for $10 cash per share. Matthews also agreed to pay up to an additional $1 cash per share based on excess
cash (as defined in the merger agreement) remaining on the balance sheet of York Casket as of October 31, 2001. On December 3, 2001,
this transaction was completed at $11 per share. At December 3, 2001, there were 8,940,950 shares of York Casket common stock
outstanding. The transaction was financed by Matthews through borrowings under a $125,000 Revolving Credit Facility (see "Liquidity
and Capital Resources"). The acquisition of York Casket was designed to expand Matthews’ position in the death care industry. York
Casket operates as a wholly-owned subsidiary and separate segment of Matthews.

Matthews has accounted for these acquisitions using the purchase method and, accordingly, recorded the acquired assets and liabilities at
their estimated fair values at the acquisition dates. The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of the net assets acquired
was recorded as goodwill.

17. SPECIAL ITEMS:

In July 2003, the Company sold its Graphics Imaging segment facility (which was closed in October 2002) in Southern California for
$3,200. The transaction resulted in a pre-tax gain of $2,600, which was recorded in Special Items on the Consolidated Statement of Income.
In addition, Special Items for fiscal 2003 included a pre-tax charge of $3,600 for goodwill impairment related to O.N.E.
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18. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS:

Under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, goodwill related to
business combinations is no longer amortized, but is subject to periodic review for impairment. In general, when the carrying value of a
reporting unit exceeds its implied fair value an impairment loss must be recognized. For purposes of testing for impairment, the Company
uses a combination of valuation techniques, including discounted cash flows. Based on this assessment, the Company recorded a pre-tax
charge under Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting in the first quarter of fiscal 2002 for transitional goodwill impairment of $5,255
($3,226 after-tax). The impairment was primarily related to a reporting unit within the Company’s Bronze segment and was determined
based upon a comparison of carrying value to implied fair market value.

In fiscal 2003 the Company performed its annual impairment review in the second quarter and determined that no additional adjustments to
the carrying values of goodwill were necessary at that time. However, due to the Company’s purchase of the remaining 50% interest in
O.N.E. and its declining operating results during the second half of fiscal 2003, the Company determined that an impairment review of
O.N.E., a reporting unit within the Graphics Imaging segment, was necessary as of September 30, 2003. Based on this assessment, the
Company recorded a pre-tax charge of $3,600 in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003 for goodwill impairment. At September 30, 2003, the
Company reorganized the operations of O.N.E. and integrated it with the Graphics Imaging U.S. reporting unit for purposes of the annual
impairment assessment.

The Company performed its annual impairment review in the second quarter of fiscal 2004 and determined that no adjustment to the
carrying value of goodwill or other indefinite lived intangibles was necessary at that time. Changes to goodwill, net of accumulated
amortization, during the years ended September 30, 2004 and 2003, follow.

York Graphics Merchandising Marking

Bronze Casket Cremation Imaging Solutions ~ Products Consolidated

Balance at September 30, 2002 $68,516 $39,179 $§ 6,536 $ 30,564 $ -$ 165 $ 144,960
Additions during period - 1,527 - 4815 - - 6,342
Impairment charges - - - (3,840) - - (3,840)
Translation and other adjustments 3,606 - - 3,622 - - 7,228
Balance at September 30, 2003 $72,122 $40,706 $ 6,536 $ 35,161 § -$ 165 $ 154,690
Additions during period - - - 21458 8,019 1,331 30,808
Translation and other adjustments 1,519 - - 1,999 - - 3,518
Balance at September 30, 2004 $73,641 $40,706 § 6,536 $ 58,618 § 8,019 § 1,496 § 189,016

The additions to goodwill during fiscal 2004 primarily related to the acquisitions of Cloverleaf, InTouch and Holjeron (see Note 16). The
additions to goodwill during fiscal 2003 related primarily to the acquisition of Reproservice Munich and the remaining 50% interest in
O.N.E.
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The following tables summarize the carrying amounts and related accumulated amortization for intangible assets as of September 30, 2004
and 2003, respectively.

Carrying Accumulated

Amount Amortization Net
September 30, 2004:
Trade names $ 17,964 $ -* 3 17,964
Customer relationships 10,427 (742) 9,685
Copyrights/patents/other 5,024 (393) 4,631

$ 33415 $ (1,135) $ 32,280

September 30, 2003:

Trade names $ 8,000 $ -* 8 8,000
Customer relationships 4,100 (442) 3,658
Copyrights/patents/other 1,600 (196) 1,404

$ 13,700 $ (638) $ 13,062

* Not subject to amortization
The additions to intangible assets during fiscal 2004 related to the acquisitions of Cloverleaf, InTouch and Holjeron (see Note 16).
Amortization expense on intangible assets was $498, $348 and $290 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Amortization expense is

estimated to be $1,700 in 2005, $1,700 in 2006, $1,300 in 2007, $1,300 in 2008 and $1,250 in 2009.
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SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited):

The following table sets forth certain items included in the Company's unaudited consolidated financial statements for each quarter of fiscal
2004 and fiscal 2003.

(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Quarter Ended
December Year Ended

31 March 31 June 30 September 30 September 30
FISCAL YEAR 2004:
Sales $ 116,902 $ 124,987 $ 120,635 $ 146,277 $ 508,801
Gross profit 42,623 47,632 48,454 55,045 193,754
Operating profit 19,853 24,166 25,212 28,563 97,794
Net income 11,383 13,801 14,380 16,631 56,195
Earnings per share 35 42 44 51 1.72
FISCAL YEAR 2003(1):
Sales $ 109,073 $ 115,581 $ 116,145 $ 118,066 § 458,865
Gross profit 38,202 43,391 44,449 44,260 170,302
Operating profit 16,334 20,478 21,573 21,199 80,084
Net income 9,273 11,612 12,289 11,719 44,893
Earnings per share .29 .36 38 .36 1.39

(1) The fourth quarter of fiscal 2003 included a net pre-tax charge of approximately $1,000 from special items which consisted of a pre-tax
gain of $2,600 on the sale of a facility and a goodwill impairment charge of $3,600 (see Notes 17 and 18 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements).
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
ON FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

To the Shareholders and
Board of Directors of
Matthews International Corporation:

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements referred to in our report dated November 16, 2004 appearing in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K also included an audit of the financial statement schedule listed in Item 8 of this Form 10-K. In our opinion, this financial
statement schedule presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related
consolidated financial statements.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

November 16, 2004
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

SCHEDULE II -- VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Additions
Balance at Charged to
beginning of  Charged to other Balance at
Description period expense accounts Deductions  end of period
ey 2

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts:

Fiscal Year Ended:

September 30, 2004 $ 6,013 § 2,278 § 425 § (999)$ 7,717
September 30, 2003 8,289 827 (817) (2,286) 6,013
September 30, 2002 3,725 1,134 5,039 (1,609) 8,289

(1) Purchase accounting adjustments in connection with acquisitions.
(2) Amounts determined not to be collectible, net of recoveries. Fiscal 2002 amount also includes a reduction of $107 in the reserve from the
sale of a business.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

There have been no changes in accountants or disagreements on accounting or financial disclosure between the Company and
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2004, 2003 and
2002.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.

Based on their evaluation at the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company’s chief executive officer and
chief financial officer have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act")) provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by the
Company in reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms.

(b) Changes in Internal Controls.

There have been no changes in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during the fiscal quarter ended
September 30, 2004 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal controls over
financial reporting.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, OFFICERS and EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT OF THE REGISTRANT.

In addition to the information reported in Part I of this Form 10-K, under the caption “Officers and Executive Management of the
Registrant”, the information required by this item as to the directors of the Company is hereby incorporated by reference from the
information appearing under the captions ‘“Proposal No. 1 - Elections of Directors,” “General Information Regarding Corporate
Governance - Audit Committee” and "Compliance with Section 16 (a) of the Exchange Act" in the Company’s definitive proxy statement,
which involves the election of the directors and is to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended, within 120 days of the end of the Company’s fiscal year ended September 30, 2004.

The Company’s Code of Ethics Applicable to Executive Management is set forth in Exhibit 14.1 hereto.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

The information required by this item as to the compensation of directors and executive management of the Company is hereby
incorporated by reference from the information appearing under the captions “Compensation of Executive Management and Retirement
Benefits” and “Compensation of Directors” in the Company’s definitive proxy statement which involves the election of directors and is to
be filed with the Commission pursuant to the Exchange Act, within 120 days of the end of the Company’s fiscal year ended September 30,
2004. The information contained in the “Report of the Compensation Committee” and the “Comparison of Five Year Cumulative Return
(Performance Graph)” is specifically not incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT.

The information required by this item as to the ownership by management and others of securities of the Company is hereby incorporated
by reference from the information appearing under the caption “Stock Ownership” in the Company’s definitive proxy statement which
involves the election of directors and is to be filed with the Commission pursuant to the Exchange Act, within 120 days of the end of the
Company’s fiscal year ended September 30, 2004.

Equity Compensation Plans:

The Company has a stock incentive plan that provides for grants of incentive stock options, nonstatutory stock options and restricted share
awards in an aggregate number not to exceed 15% of the outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock. The option price for each
stock option that may be granted under the plan may not be less than the fair market value of the Company's common stock on the date of
grant. Outstanding stock options are exercisable in various share amounts based on the attainment of certain market value levels of Class A
Common Stock but, in the absence of such events, are exercisable in full for a one-week period beginning five years from the date of grant.
In addition, options granted after September 1996 vest in one-third increments after three, four and five years, respectively, from the grant
date (but, in any event, not until the attainment of the certain market value levels described above). The options expire on the earlier of ten
years from the date of grant, upon employment termination, or within specified time limits following voluntary employment termination
(with the consent of the Company), retirement or death.

Under the Company’s Director Fee Plan, directors who are not also officers of the Company each receive, as an annual retainer fee, shares
of the Company's Class A Common Stock equivalent to approximately $18,000. Directors may also elect to receive the common stock
equivalent of meeting fees. Each director may elect to be paid these shares on a current basis or have such shares credited to a deferred
stock account as phantom stock, with such shares to be paid to the director subsequent to leaving the Board.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT,

continued.

The following table provides information about grants under the Company's equity compensation plans as of September 30, 2004:

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of securities Weighted-average

to be issued upon exercise price
exercise of of outstanding

outstanding options, options, warrants

Number of securities
remaining available
for future issuance
under equity
compensation plans
(excluding
securities reflected

Plan category warrants and rights and rights in column (a))
(a) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders 2,123,561 (1) $20.99 4,707,114 (2)(3)
Equity compensation plans not approved
by security holders None None None
Total 2,123,561 $20.99 4,707,114

(1) Includes 50,064 shares under the Director Fee Plan.

(2) The number of shares remaining available under the stock incentive plan at September 30, 2004 was 2,788,089. The aggregate
number of shares available for grant under such plan cannot exceed 15% of the outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock.

(3) Includes (i) up to 1,000,000 shares that can be issued as restricted stock under the Company’s 1992 Stock Incentive Plan, (ii)
122,267 shares that can be issued as deferred stock under the Company’s 1994 Director Fee Plan and (iii) 1,796,758 shares that can
be sold to employees through the Company under the Company’s 1994 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, which is an open market

purchase plan.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS.

The information required by this item as to certain relationships and transactions with management and other related parties of the
Company is hereby incorporated by reference from the information appearing under the captions “Proposal No. 1 - Election of Directors”
and "Certain Transactions" in the Company’s definitive proxy statement, which involves the election of directors and is to be filed with the
Commission pursuant to the Exchange Act, within 120 days of the end of the Company’s fiscal year ended September 30, 2004.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.

The information required by this item as to the fees billed and the services provided by the principal accounting firm of the Company is
hereby incorporated by reference from the information appearing under the caption “Relationship with Independent Registered Accounting
Firm” in the Company’s definitive proxy statement, which involves the election of directors and is to be filed with the Commission
pursuant to the Exchange Act within 120 days of the end of the Company’s fiscal year ended September 30, 2004.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K.
(a) 1. Financial Statements:

The following items are included in Part II, Item 8:

Pages
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 3g3
Consolidated Balance Sheets 34-35
Consolidated Statements of Income 36
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity 37
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 38
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 39-59
Supplementary Financial Information 60

2. Financial Statement Schedules:

Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and the related Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm are included on
pages 61 and 62 in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

3. Exhibits Filed:

The index to exhibits is on pages 68-70.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K:

On July 7, 2004 Matthews filed a Current Report on Form 8-K under Item 9 in connection with a press release announcing the acquisition
of Holjeron Corporation, an industrial controls manufacturer.

On July 19, 2004 Matthews filed a Current Report on Form 8-K under Item 5 in connection with a press release announcing the acquisition
of The Cloverleaf Group, a provider of merchandising solutions.

On July 20, 2004, Matthews filed a Current Report on Form 8-K under Item 12 in connection with a press release announcing its earnings
for the third fiscal quarter of 2004.

On August 31, 2004 Matthews filed a Current Report on Form 8-K under Item 8 in connection with a press release announcing the
acquisition of The InTouch Group Limited, a provider of reprographic services to the packaging industry.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on December 13, 2004.

MATTHEWS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION

(Registrant)

By  David M. Kelly

David M. Kelly, Chairman of the Board,
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated on December 13, 2004:

David M. Kelly Steven F. Nicola

David M. Kelly Steven F. Nicola

Chairman of the Board, President Chief Financial Officer, Secretary
and Chief Executive Officer and Treasurer (Principal Financial
(Principal Executive Officer) and Accounting Officer)

David J. DeCarlo John P. O’Leary, Jr.

David J. DeCarlo, Director John P. O'Leary, Jr., Director
Robert J. Kavanaugh William J. Stallkamp

Robert J. Kavanaugh, Director William J. Stallkamp, Director
Glenn R. Mahone John D. Turner

Glenn R. Mahone, Director John D. Turner, Director
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MATTHEWS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
EXHIBITS
INDEX

The following Exhibits to this report are filed herewith or, if marked with an asterisk (*), are incorporated by reference. Exhibits marked
with an "a" represent a management contract or compensatory plan, contract or arrangement required to be filed by Item 601(b)(10)(iii) of
Regulation S-K.

Exhibit No.  Description Prior Filing or Sequential Page Numbers Herein

3.1 Restated Articles of Incorporation * Exhibit Number 3.1 to Form 10-K for the year ended
September 30, 1994

3.2 Restated By-laws * Exhibit Number 3.1 to Form 8-K dated July 22, 1999

41a Form of Revised Option Agreement of Repurchase (effective Exhibit Number 4.5 to Form 10-K for the year ended
October 1, 1993) * September 30, 1993

4.2 Form of Share Certificate for Class A Common Stock * Exhibit Number 4.9 to Form 10-K for the year ended

September 30, 1994

10.1 Revolving Credit Facility * Exhibit Number 10.1 to Form 10-K for the year ended
September 30, 2001

10.2 First Amendment to Revolving Credit Facility* Exhibit Number 10.1 to Form 10-Q for the year ended
March 31, 2004.

103 a Supplemental Retirement Plan * Exhibit Number 10.8 to Form 10-K for the year ended
September 30, 1988
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INDEX, Continued

Exhibit Prior Filing or Sequential
No. Description Page Numbers Herein
10.4 1992 Stock Incentive Plan (as amended through December 23, 1998) * Exhibit A to Definitive Proxy
a Statement filed on January 20,
1999
10.5a Form of Stock Option Agreement* Exhibit Number 10.1 to Form
10-Q for the quarter ended
December 31, 1994.
10.6a 1994 Director Fee Plan (as amended through April 22, 1999)* Exhibit Number 10.7 to Form
10-K for the year ended
September 30, 1999
10.7 a 1994 Employee Stock Purchase Plan * Exhibit Number 10.2 to Form
10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 1995
10.8 Asset Purchase and Membership Interest Agreement, O.N.E. Color Communications, L.L.C. Exhibit Number 10.1 to Form
* 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 1998
10.9 Agreement and Plan of Merger By and Among Matthews International Corporation, Empire Exhibit Number 10.3 to Form
Merger Corp., and The York Group, Inc., dated as of May 24, 2001 * 8-K dated May 24, 2001
10.10 Asset Purchase Agreement between [.D.L. Incorporated and Hugh Andrew, L.P. and Big Exhibit Number 10.1 to Form

Red Rooster, Inc. and The Cloverleaf Group, L.P. and iDL shareholders and the BRR
shareholders and The Cloverleaf Group, Inc. and Matthews International Corporation dated
as of July 19, 2004.
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INDEX, Continued

Exhibit Prior Filing or Sequential
No. Description Page Numbers Herein
10.11 Share Sale and Purchase Agreement between Graeme Phillip King and Brian Ernest Filed Herewith

Tottman and Robert Greig Watkins and Geoffrey William Roberts and Helen M. King and
Josephine Tottman and Sally R. Watkins and Jennifer R. Roberts and Matthews Holding

Company (U.K.) Limited.

14.1 Form of Code of Ethics Applicable to Executive Management Filed Herewith
21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant Filed Herewith
23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Filed Herewith

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer for David M. Kelly Filed Herewith

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer for Steven F. Nicola Filed Herewith

32.1 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of Filed Herewith

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, of David M. Kelly

322 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of Filed Herewith
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, of Steven F. Nicola

Copies of any Exhibits will be furnished to shareholders upon written request. Requests should be directed to Mr. Steven F. Nicola, Chief
Financial Officer, Secretary and Treasurer of the Registrant.
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THIS AGREEMENT executed and delivered as a deed is made on 27 August 2004
BETWEEN

(1) Each of the persons described in Schedule 1 hereto (each a “Seller” and together the “Sellers”); and

(2) Matthews Corporation Holding Company (UK) Limited a company incorporated in England and Wales with
registered number 5215835 whose registered office is at Minerva House, 5 Montague Close, London SE1 9BB
(the “Buyer™).

WHEREAS:

(A) The Company (as defined below) is a private company limited by shares having an authorised capital of
£100,000 divided into 85,000 Ordinary A shares of £1 each and 15,000 Ordinary B shares of £1 each. Of these
shares, 55,002 Ordinary A shares and 5,002 Ordinary B shares have been issued fully paid or credited as fully
paid.

(B) The Sellers are beneficially entitled to all the issued share capital of the Company.

(C) The Company has a number of Group Members, and is the beneficial owner of the entire issued share capitals of
each of the Group Members.

(D) The Sellers wish to sell and, in reliance upon (inter alia) the representations, warranties and undertakings set out
in this Agreement, the Buyer wishes to purchase all the issued share capital of the Company on the terms and
subject to the conditions set out in this Agreement.

(E) The parties intend that each of Robert Watkins, Brian Tottman, Graeme King and Geoffrey Roberts shall remain
as employees of the Company for not less than 12 months following Completion, in accordance with the Service
Agreements.

IT IS AGREED
1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

1.1 In this Agreement (unless the context requires otherwise), the following words shall have the following
meanings:

“Accounts” means the audited accounts of each Group Member, including in the case of the Company its
audited consolidated accounts for the financial year which ended on the Accounts Date, comprising in each case
a balance sheet, a profit and loss account, notes, directors' and auditors' reports and a cash flow statement a copy
of each of which has been initialled for the purpose of identification by or on behalf of the Buyer and the Sellers;
“Accounts Date” - 31 March 2004;

“Agreed Form” means a document being in a form agreed by the Sellers and the Buyer and initialled by, or on
behalf of, each for the purposes of identification as such;

“Borrowed Monies” means:

(a) moneys borrowed;
(b) any amount raised by acceptance under any acceptance credit facility;

(c) any amount raised pursuant to any note purchase facility or the issue of bonds (other than
performance bonds), notes, debentures, loan stock or any similar instrument or security;



(d) receivables sold or discounted (other than any receivables to the extent they are sold on a non-
recourse basis);

(e) any amount raised under any other transaction (including any forward sale or purchase agreement)
having the commercial effect of a borrowing;

(f) any derivative transaction entered into in connection with protection against or benefit from
fluctuation in any rate or price (and, when calculating the value of any derivative transaction, only
the marked to market value shall be taken into account);

(g) any counter-indemnity obligation in respect of a guarantee, indemnity, bond, standby or
documentary letter of credit or any other instrument issued by a bank or financial institution;

(h) the acquisition cost of assets or services to the extent payable on deferred payment terms of more
than 90 days after the date of acquisition or possession thereof by the party liable, but excluding
retentions or normal trade credit in the trade concerned not entered into primarily as a means of
finance

(i) monies received in consideration for the supply of goods and for services to the extent received
more than 90 days before the due date of such supply, but excluding any advance payment
arrangement which represents trade credit which is normal in the trade concerned and any liability

by way of bona fide advance payments and deposits received from customers in the ordinary
course of trade; and

(j) the amount of any liability in respect of any guarantee or indemnity for any of the items referred
to in clauses (a) to (i) above

but for the avoidance of doubt there shall be excluded any obligation to pay contingent consideration
arising from the acquisition by the Company of stock in InTouch by Design Inc.;

“Business Day” means a day excluding Saturdays and Sundays on which banks in London are generally open
for business;

“Buyer’s Group” means the Buyer, its holding companies and the subsidiary undertakings from time to time of
such holding companies (as such terms are defined by s736 and 736A CA 1985);

“Buyer’s Solicitors” Reed Smith LLP of Minerva House, 5 Montague Close, London SE1 9BB;

“Cash at Bank” means the amount credited as cash at bank in the Completion Balance Sheet (including for the
avoidance of doubt credit for the repayment of the Director’s Loan);

“CA 1985” means the Companies Act 1985;

“Company” means The InTouch Group Limited incorporated in England and Wales under registered number
2381444, further particulars of which are set out in Schedule 2;

“Completion” means completion of the sale and purchase of the Shares in accordance with Clause 4;

“Completion Balance Sheet” means the completion balance sheet prepared in accordance with Clause 13 and
Schedule 6;

“Confidential Information” means all information not publicly known and which is, has been or is intended to
be used in or otherwise relates to any Group Member's business, customers, or financial or other affairs, including

information relating to:

(a) trade secrets, know-how, ideas, computer systems and computer software;



(b) future projects, business development or planning, commercial relationships and negotiations; and
(c) the marketing of goods or services including customer names and lists, sales targets and statistics;

“Consideration” means the consideration for the sale of the Shares as stated in Clause 3.1 as adjusted pursuant
to Clauses 14 and 15;

“Contract” means any agreement or commitment whether conditional or unconditional and whether by deed,
under hand, oral or otherwise, and any arrangement or understanding whether legally binding or not;

“Director’s Loan” means the loan from the Company to Robert Watkins of £233,788.99 and repayable by
Robert Watkins at Completion in accordance with Clause 3.2;

“Disclosure Letter” means the letter of the same date as this Agreement from the Sellers to the Buyer
qualifying the Warranties;

“Dormant Companies” means any Group Member which at Completion is dormant as defined by s.249AA CA
1985 and “Dormant Company” shall mean each of them,;

“Encumbrance” means any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien, agreement for sale, assignment, option, restriction,
claim, right of pre-emption, right of first refusal, third party right or interest, other encumbrance or security

interest of any kind, or other preferential arrangement having similar effect;

“Escrow Agent” means the Buyer’s Solicitor and Sellers’ Solicitor acting as joint escrow agents for the purpose
of Clause 16;

“Escrow Agreement” means the escrow agreement in the Agreed Form set out at Schedule 7 and addressed to
the Escrow Agent;

“Group Member” means any company which is a member of the Group;

“Group” means the Company and each of its subsidiaries (as defined at sections 736 and 736A CA 1985) and
which for the avoidance of doubt includes InTouch By Design, Inc. and M3DIA Projects Limited;

“ICTA” Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988;

“Loan Notes” means the two Promissory Notes made by the Company to Nicholas Zarkades and Walter Nichols
Fader to the aggregate value of US$271,400 to be repaid without interest in one instalment on the 30th day of
September 2006;

“Net Asset Value” means in relation to the Group, its consolidated fixed assets plus consolidated current assets
(always excluding deferred tax assets and Cash at Bank) less its consolidated liabilities (always excluding
Borrowed Monies and provision for dilapidations the subject of Clause 9.1.2) in each case as set out in the
Completion Accounts and calculated in accordance with Schedule 6;

“Property” means the properties specified in Schedule 5 and each part of such properties;

“Relevant Claim” means any claim for breach of any of the Warranties;

“Relevant Customer” means any person who at any time during the period of 9 months immediately preceding
Completion was:

(a) negotiating with any Group Member for the supply by any Group Member of goods or services; or
(b) a client or customer of any Group Member; or
(c) in the habit of dealing with any Group Member;

“Relevant Products or Services” means products or services which are competitive with or of the type supplied
by any Group member at any time during the period of 9 months immediately preceding Completion;



“Sellers’ Solicitors” Lupton Fawcett of Yorkshire House, Greek Street, Leeds, LS1 5SX;

“Service Agreements” means the service agreements in the Agreed Form to be entered into at Completion
between the Company and each of Robert Watkins, Brian Tottman, Graeme King and Geoffrey Roberts in
accordance with Clause 4.4;

“Shareholders Agreement” means the shareholders agreement between the Sellers in relation to the Company
dated 30 November 2000 as amended;

“Shares” means all the issued shares in the capital of the Company;

“Stock” means stocks (as defined in Statement of Standard Accounting Practice No 9 adopted by the
Accounting Standards Board) of each Group Member including raw materials, components, work in progress,
finished goods and consumables;

“Taxation” shall have the meaning set out in Schedule 4;

“Tax Deed” means a deed of indemnity between the Buyer and Sellers of even date herewith in the Agreed
Form,;

“Transaction Documents” means this Agreement, the Tax Deed, the Disclosure Letter and the Escrow
Agreement;

“Warranties” means the representations and warranties set out or referred to in Clause 7, Schedule 3 and Part 3
of Schedule 4; and

“Warrantors” means Robert Watkins, Brian Tottman, Graeme King and Geoffrey Roberts.
1.2 In this Agreement, unless the context requires otherwise:

1.2.1 any reference to a Recital, Clause or Schedule is a reference to the relevant recital, clause or schedule of
or to this Agreement;

1.2.2 the index and Clause headings are included for convenience only and shall not affect the interpretation
of this Agreement;

1.2.3 use of the singular includes the plural and vice versa;
1.2.4 use of any gender includes the other gender;

1.2.5 any reference to a statute, statutory provision or subordinate legislation (“legislation”) shall (except
where the context otherwise requires) be construed as referring to such legislation as amended and in
force from time to time and to any legislation which re-enacts or consolidates (with or without
modification) any such legislation provided that no such legislation which is enacted or made after the
date of this Agreement shall be deemed to impose any additional liability on any of the Sellers or the
Buyer under this Agreement;

1.2.6 reference to “persons” includes natural persons, firms, partnerships, companies, corporations,
associations, organisations, governments, governmental agencies and departments, states, foundations
and trusts (in each case whether or not having separate legal personality);

1.2.7 unless otherwise specified, where any Warranty refers to the knowledge, information, belief or
awareness of the Warrantors (or similar expression), the Warrantors will be deemed to have such
knowledge, information, belief or awareness as the Warrantors would have obtained had the Warrantors
made all due and careful enquiries into the subject matter of that Warranty of each other, Sally Wood,
Buckle Barton (the Group’s accountants and auditors) and Joe Zammit.

1.2.8 all obligations, representations and warranties on the part of two or more persons are entered into,
given or made by such persons jointly and severally;



1.2.9

1.2.10

1.2.11

1.2.12

references to Clauses and Schedules are to clauses of and schedules to this Agreement, and references
to paragraphs are to paragraphs in the Schedule in which such references appear;

the Schedules form part of this Agreement and will have the same force and effect as if expressly set
out in the body of this Agreement;

any phrase introduced by the terms "include", "including", "in particular" or any similar expression will
be construed as illustrative and will not limit the sense of the words preceding those terms;

any reference to an English legal term for any action, remedy, method of judicial proceeding, legal
document, legal status, court, official or any legal concept or thing shall, in respect of any jurisdiction
other than England, be deemed to include a reference to what most nearly approximates in that
jurisdiction to the English legal term.

2. SALE AND PURCHASE AND PRE-COMPLETION CONDITIONS

2.1 The Sellers will sell with full title guarantee, and the Buyer will buy, the Shares. The Shares will be sold free of
any Encumbrance and with all rights attached or accruing to them at or after the date of this Agreement.

2.2 The Buyer shall not be obliged to complete the purchase of any of the Shares unless the purchase of all the
Shares is completed simultaneously in accordance with this Agreement and the Sellers shall have delivered to the
Buyer on or prior to Completion evidence to the satisfaction of the Buyer:

2.2.1

222

223

224

2.2.5

226

of the re-registration of the Company as a private company in accordance with the provisions of .53
Companies Act 1985 and adoption of new Articles of Association by way of a written resolution of the
members of the Company;

payment of the Loan Notes;

discharge as at Completion of all indebtedness due from any Group Member to Alex Lawrie Factors
Limited and the release of any security granted in favour of Alex Lawrie Factors Limited;

duly stamped share transfers to the Company of all shares registered in the name of Graeme King in
InTouch Meridian Limited and InTouch Reprographics Limited together with associated share
certificates;

duly stamped share transfers to the Company by the Warrantors and David McGowan of 51 per cent of
the issued share capital of M3DIA Projects Limited together with associated share certificates and
evidence that the transfer of such shares will immediately be registered by M3DIA Projects Limited
upon presentation of the stamped share transfers;

that the contract between the Company and United Biscuits Limited has been duly executed.

3. CONSIDERATION

3.1 The consideration for the sale of the Shares shall be £21,604,197 (twenty one million six hundred and four
thousand one hundred and ninety seven pounds) payable in cash, subject to the provisions of Clause 16 below,
Clause 3.2 and any adjustment pursuant to Clauses 14 and 15, on Completion, which Consideration shall be
allocated between the different classes of Shares as follows:

3.1.1

3.1.2

A Ordinary Shares:98.61109 per cent; and

B Ordinary Shares: 1.38891 per cent.

3.2 The Consideration due to Robert Watkins on Completion shall be reduced by the amount of the Director’s Loan
and the Buyer shall make such payment to the Company as agent on behalf of Robert Watkins.

4. COMPLETION



4.1 Completion will take place at the offices of the Buyer’s Solicitors immediately after the signing of this
Agreement.

4.2 At Completion, the Sellers will produce and deliver:

4.2.1
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423

424

4.2.5

4.2.6

4.2.7

4.2.8

4.2.9

4.2.10

4.2.11

4.2.12

4.2.13

executed transfers of the Shares in favour of the Buyer (or its nominee(s)) together with the share
certificates for the Shares (or in the case of any lost certificate an indemnity satisfactory to the Buyer in
relation to it);

any waiver, consent or other document necessary to give the Buyer (or its nominee(s)) full legal and
beneficial ownership of the Shares;

powers of attorney in the Agreed Form where the Sellers are unable to attend in person at Completion;

a letter of resignation in the Agreed Form from each director of each Group Member, with the
exception of the directors of InTouch By Design, Inc.;

a letter of resignation in the Agreed Form from each secretary of each Group Member, with the
exception of the secretary of the Company and InTouch By Design, Inc.;

a copy of a letter to each Group Member from its auditors resigning from office with effect from
Completion and containing the statement required by section 394 CA 1985, the original of the letter
having been deposited at the registered office of the relevant company;

the certificate of incorporation, any certificate(s) of incorporation on change of name, the common seal
and the statutory books and registers (which will be written up to but not including Completion) of each
Group Member;

all deeds and documents relating to the title of any Group Member to the Property;

a copy of the bank mandate of each Group Member and copies of bank statements in respect of each
account of each Group Member as at the close of business on the last Business Day prior to
Completion, together in each case with a reconciliation statement prepared by the Sellers to show the
position at Completion (listing unpresented cheques drawn or received by the relevant Group Member
and standing orders payable since the date of such bank statements);

a deed in the Agreed Form from each of the Sellers acknowledging that neither of the respective Sellers
nor any spouse or child of the respective Sellers nor any company of which the respective Seller,
spouse or child has control (as defined in section 840 ICTA) has any claim against any Group Member
and that there is no agreement or arrangement under which any Group Member has any actual,
contingent or prospective obligation to any such person; and

where any agreement or arrangement referred to in Clause 4.2.10 previously existed, evidence of the
release or termination of it in a form satisfactory to the Buyer;

a duly completed form 403 in respect of the discharge of security registered in favour of Alex Lawrie
Factors Limited in respect of any Group Member; and

the Tax Deed and Disclosure Letter duly executed by the Warrantors.

4.3 The Sellers will procure that duly convened board meetings of each relevant Group Member are held at which:

43.1

4.3.2

433

the transfers referred to in Clause 4.2.1 (subject to stamping if not previously effected) are approved for
registration in the books of the relevant Group Members;

the accounting reference date of each Group Member is changed to 30 September;

the address of the registered office of each Group Member is changed to InTouch House, Riverside
Drive, Cleckheaton, West Yorkshire BD19 4DH;



4.3.4 the resignations of directors, secretaries and auditors referred to in each of paragraphs 4.2.4, 4.2.5 and
4.2.6 are accepted with effect from the end of the relevant board meeting and the relevant forms 288b
are duly completed and the relevant company secretary be instructed to file the same at Companies
House;

4.3.5 such persons as are nominated by the Buyer as directors (being David Kelly, Joseph Bartolacci, Steven
Nicola and Franz Schwarz), secretary (being Sally Wood) and auditors (being PriceWaterhouse
Coopers) of each Group Member are appointed with effect from the end of the relevant board meeting
and the relevant forms 288a are duly completed and the relevant company secretary be instructed to
file the same at Companies House; and

4.3.6 the Company's execution of the Service Agreements in the Agreed Form are approved and authorised.

4.4 Furthermore, the Warrantors will enter into the Service Agreements in the Agreed Form with the Company and
the Sellers and Buyer will enter into the Escrow Agreement with the Escrow Agent;

4.5 The Sellers will each repay, and will procure that any spouse or child of each respective Seller and any company
of which each respective Seller, spouse or child has control (as defined in section 840 ICTA) will repay, all
amounts owed to the any Group Member by the respective Seller, spouse, child or company whether due for
payment or not

4.6 Upon satisfaction of all of the matters referred to at Clauses 2.2 and 4.2 to 4.5 the Buyer will pay the
Consideration by electronic funds transfer to the Sellers’ Solicitors client account with The Royal Bank of
Scotland ple, 27 Park Row, Leeds LS1 5QB, Sort Code 16-23-37, Account Number 00194374 or by such other
method as may be agreed between the parties.

4.7 The Sellers’ Solicitors are authorised to receive the Consideration on behalf of the Sellers and payment to them
will be a good and sufficient discharge to the Buyer and the Buyer will not be further concerned as to the
application of the moneys so paid.

4.8 If for any reason the provisions of Clauses 2.2 and 4.2 to 4.5 are not fully complied with the Buyer may elect (in
addition and without prejudice to all other rights or remedies available to it) to rescind this agreement or to fix a
new date for Completion.

5. POWER OF ATTORNEY

5.1 For so long after Completion as the Sellers remain the registered holder of any of the Shares hereby sold to the
Buyer, each of the Sellers shall hold them and any distributions, property and rights deriving from them in trust
for the Buyer and shall deal with those Shares and any distributions, property and rights deriving from them as
the Buyer directs; in particular, each of the Sellers shall exercise all voting rights as the Buyer directs or shall
execute an instrument of proxy or other document which enables the Buyer or its representative to attend and
vote at any meeting of the Company. Each of the Sellers appoints the Buyer to be his or her attorney from
Completion granting to the Buyer full power on his or her behalf to exercise all voting and other related rights
attaching to the Shares including power to:

5.1.1 execute a form of proxy in favour of such person or persons as the Buyer may think fit to attend and
vote as the Buyer's proxy at any general meeting of the members of the Company in respect of the
Shares in such manner as the Buyer may decide;

5.1.2 consent to the convening and holding of any such meeting and the passing of the resolutions to be
submitted at any such meeting on short notice;

5.1.3 execute written resolutions; and

5.1.4 settle the terms of such resolutions and generally to procure that the Buyer or its nominees are duly
registered as holder of those Shares.

5.2 Each of the Sellers ratifies and confirms and agrees to ratify and confirm all and whatsoever the Buyer shall
lawfully do or cause to be done in pursuance of the power of attorney granted in favour of the Buyer by clause
5.1. Each of the Sellers declares that the power of attorney in clause 5.1 shall be irrevocable.



6.

6.1

6.2

7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

7.6

8.1

GUARANTEES

The Warrantors will procure that on Completion each Group Member is released from any guarantee, indemnity,
counter-indemnity, letter of comfort or other obligation given by such Group Member to any third party in
respect of a liability of any person other than a Group Member.

The Buyer undertakes to the Sellers that as soon as reasonably practicable following Completion the Buyer will
use all reasonable endeavours to obtain the release of the Sellers from any guarantee, indemnity, counter-
indemnity, letter of comfort or other obligation given by the Sellers to any third party in respect of a liability of
any Group Member and of which full particulars are contained in the Disclosure Letter. Pending such release, the
Buyer undertakes to indemnify the Sellers against all amounts paid by the Sellers to any third party pursuant to
any such obligation (and all costs incurred in connection with such obligation) arising after the date of this
Agreement save that this indemnity will not extend to any matter giving rise to a Relevant Claim or a claim under
Part 2 of Schedule 4 or any other indemnity set out in this Agreement.

. WARRANTIES

The Warrantors warrant to the Buyer in the terms of the Warranties. The Warrantors acknowledge that the Buyer
is entering into this Agreement in reliance on each Warranty, which has also been given as a representation and
with the intention of inducing the Buyer to enter into this Agreement.

The Warranties are qualified by all facts and matters fully and fairly disclosed in the Disclosure Letter. No other
information of which the Buyer has knowledge (actual or constructive) will prejudice or reduce any claim made
by the Buyer in respect of the Warranties. The provisions of section 6(2) of the Law of Property (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1994 are hereby excluded.

The Warrantors undertake to indemnify the Buyer on demand against all costs (including legal costs) expenses or
other liabilities which the Buyer or any Group Member may incur before or after the commencement of any

action in connection with:

7.3.1 the settlement of any claim against the Sellers in respect of a breach or alleged breach of any provision
of this Agreement;

7.3.2 any legal proceedings in which the Buyer claims that any provision of this Agreement has been
breached in which judgment is given for the Buyer; and

7.3.3 the enforcement of any such settlement or judgment.
The Sellers waive and may not enforce any right which the Sellers may have against any Group Member, or any
director or employee of any Group Member, on which or on whom the Sellers may have relied in agreeing to any

term of this Agreement or any statement in the Disclosure Letter.

The Warrantors undertake to disclose immediately to the Buyer anything which comes to the notice of any of
them which is or may be a breach of any of the Warranties.

Each Warranty is to be construed independently and is not limited or restricted by any other Warranty or any
other term of this Agreement.

LIMITATION ON WARRANTY CLAIMS
The Warrantors will not be liable for any Relevant Claim:

8.1.1 unless the Warrantors receive from the Buyer written particulars of the Relevant Claim (stating in
reasonable detail the nature of the Relevant Claim):

8.1.1.1 within a period ending on the 30 November 2006 in the case of a Relevant Claim for breach
of any of the Warranties contained in Schedule 3;

8.1.1.2 within 7 years after Completion, in the case of a Relevant Claim for breach of any of the



8.2

8.3

8.4

8.5

Warranties contained in Schedule 4.

8.1.2 arising from any single circumstance or set of circumstances unless the amount of the Relevant Claim
or a claim under the Tax Deed (in each case including interest and costs) exceeds £10,000 and if it does
exceed that figure then the Warrantors shall be liable in respect of the whole amount;

8.1.3 unless the aggregate amount of all Relevant Claims including interest and costs for which the
Warrantors would otherwise be liable exceeds £200,000 in which case if liability exceeds that figure
then all claims previously admissible (but always excluding any claim which did not qualify as a
Relevant Claim under Clause 8.1.2), including claims previously notified, shall accrue against the
Warrantors;

8.1.4 to the extent that the aggregate amount of the liability of the Warrantors for all such claims (including
claims under the Tax Deed) would thereby exceed the Consideration.

8.1.5 Clause 8.1.2 above shall not apply to the extent that the claim in question (Relevant Claim or a claim
under the Tax Deed) arises as a result of persons treated as self employed consultants instead being
treated as employees for tax purposes.

Clause 8.1 will not apply in respect of a Relevant Claim concerning paragraphs 1 (capital) and 2 (capacity) of
Schedule 3.

The Buyer shall not be obliged to bring proceedings of any type against the Warrantors until the earlier of (i) the
expiration of three years following Completion or (ii) termination of all of the Service Agreements. Subject to
this proviso, any Relevant Claim shall, if it has not been previously satisfied settled or withdrawn, be deemed to
have been withdrawn and shall become fully barred and unenforceable (and no new claim may be made in
respect of the facts giving rise to such withdrawn claim) on the expiry of the period of 9 months commencing on
the date on which the period referred to above shall expire unless by then proceedings in respect of that claim
shall have been issued and served upon the Warrantors or the claim shall have been agreed or settled by the
parties.

Following notice of a Relevant Claim and upon reasonable request from the Warrantors, the Buyer shall allow
the Warrantors and their accountants and professional advisers to investigate the matter or circumstances alleged
to give rise to the Relevant Claim and whether and to what extent any amount is payable in respect of the
Relevant Claim and for such purpose the Buyer shall give, subject to it being paid all reasonable costs and
expenses, all such information and assistance, including access to premises and personnel, and the right to
examine and copy or photograph any assets, accounts, documents and records, as the Warrantors or their
accountants or professional advisers may reasonably request.

The Warrantors shall have no liability:
8.5.1 in respect of any matter fully and fairly disclosed in the Disclosure Letter;

8.5.2 to the extent that such liability would not have arisen but for a change after the date of this Agreement
in any legislation or government or governmental order or rule;

8.5.3 to the extent that the Relevant Claim would not have arisen but for any claim, election, surrender or
disclaimer made or notice or consent given by the Buyer or the Company pursuant to any enactments
relating to Taxation after Completion;

8.5.4 in respect of any matter or liability to the extent that a provision, allowance or reserve in respect thereof
is adequate and expressly identified and financially quantified in the Completion Balance Sheet and
factored into an adjustment to the Consideration in accordance with Clauses 14 or 15 regardless of
whether an adjustment occurs such that the Buyer is unable to recover such liability more than once;

8.5.5 for any asset acquired by the Company after Completion;

8.5.6 for any change in the accounting reference date of the Company after Completion; or

8.5.7 in circumstances where the loss or liability resulting from the Relevant Claim has been or is made good



8.6

8.7

8.8

8.9

8.10

8.11

8.12

8.13

8.14

or otherwise compensated for at no expense to the Buyer or the Company.

If the Warrantors pay to the Buyer an amount in respect of any liability and the Buyer or the Company
subsequently recovers from a third party a sum in respect of the same loss to which that liability relates and the
Buyer is now over compensated for such loss, then to the extent that the sum relates to such loss, the Buyer shall
immediately repay to the Warrantors (in the same proportion as the Sellers made such payments to the Buyer) so
much of the amount paid by the Warrantors as is equal to the over compensation less all reasonable third party
costs, charges and expenses incurred by the Buyer or the Company in recovering that sum from the third party.

If the Buyer or the Company shall receive any claim (“a Third Party Claim”) made by a third party against the
Company, which might constitute or give rise to a liability under the Warranties, the Buyer shall notify the
Warrantors as soon as practicable giving all reasonable details which the Buyer has concerning the same,
provided that a failure to so notify shall not prejudice the Buyer’s further rights hereunder, and the Buyer shall
further (subject to being indemnified against all reasonable costs and expenses for which it or the Company may
become liable):-

8.7.1 inform and keep the Warrantors informed in respect of such Third Party Claim and provide reasonable
access to all relevant accounts, documents and records within its power, possession or control to enable
the Warrantors and its professional advisers to examine such claim and to take copies thereof;

8.7.2 at the expense in all respects of the Warrantors take such action as the Warrantors may reasonably
request to avoid, dispute, resist, appeal, compromise or defend or mitigate any such Third Party Claims;
and

8.7.3 not make any admission of or settle or compromise any liability which the Company may have in
relation to the Third Party Claim without the prior written consent of the Warrantors, such consent not
to be unreasonably withheld or delayed.

The Buyer shall not be entitled to recover damages, or obtain payment, reimbursement, restitution or indemnity
more than once under this Agreement or the Tax Deed in respect of the same loss.

The Buyer shall and shall procure that the Company shall take all reasonable steps to avoid or mitigate any loss
or liability which would otherwise give rise to a claim under the Warranties.

The sole remedy available to the Buyer in respect of any breach of the Warranties or the Tax Deed shall be in
damages and the Buyer shall have no right to rescind this Agreement and any such right is hereby expressly
excluded.

Each limitation of liability under this Clause 8 shall be separate and independent and save as expressly otherwise
provided in this Agreement shall not be limited by reference to any other such limitation or anything in this
Agreement.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, Clause 8 will not apply to exclude or limit the liability of
the Warrantors to the extent that any Relevant Claim arises by reason of any fraud or dishonest, reckless or wilful
misconduct or omission by or on behalf of the Sellers or any of them.

The Buyer acknowledges that:

8.13.1 the Transaction Documents together with any other documents referred to in the Transaction
Documents (together the "Contractual Documents") constitute the entire agreement between the
parties;

8.13.2 it has not been induced to enter into any Contractual Document in reliance upon, nor has it been given,
any warranty, representation, statement, agreement, undertaking, covenant or indemnity of any nature
whatsoever other than as are expressly set out in the Contractual Documents and, to the extent that it
has been the Buyer unconditionally and irrevocably waives any claims, rights or remedies which it
might otherwise have had in relation to them.

Any amounts payable by the Warrantors to the Company or the Buyer in relation to a Relevant Claim shall
constitute a reduction of the Consideration received by them.



9.

9.1

INDEMNITIES AND WAIVER

The Warrantors shall indemnify, keep indemnified and hold harmless the Buyer, the Company and any Group
Member from and against all liabilities, losses, damages, costs, claims or expenses (wWhether foreseeable or not)
arising as a direct or indirect result of:

9.1.1 against any Environmental Costs to the extent attributable to an Environmental Condition caused or
existing on or prior to Completion, PROVIDED THAT the Environmental Condition is not the result of
a change in EHS Laws (as defined in paragraph 27 of Schedule 3 to this Agreement) after Completion
and subject always to Clause 10.

For the purposes of this Clause 9.1.1 and Clause 10

“Environmental Condition” means any contamination of ground, soil, ground water or surface water, or any air
pollution (indoors or outdoors) caused by the use and/or occupation of any property (whether currently or
formerly owned or occupied) by a Group Member (or any company who prior to Completion was a Group
Member) where such contamination or pollution is caused or existing prior to Completion on or above the said
property and caused by Hazardous Substances (as defined in paragraph 27 of Schedule 3 to this Agreement)
which have been released, spilled, deposited, disposed, leached, migrated or otherwise come to rest in the soil, air
or water or has been caused by the previous migration of such Hazardous Substances from the said property;

“Environmental Costs” means all costs and expenses reasonably and properly incurred by a person in
defending, handling or settling any actual or threatened Environmental Claim made against them including the
reasonable and proper costs of any investigation or cleanup necessitated by such actual or threatened
Environmental Claim, the payment of any penalties or other payments imposed on them by a Government Entity
or court in respect of an Environmental Claim or payment in settlement of an Environmental Claim;

“Environmental Claim” means any written claim demand action liability or obligation made issued or imposed
by any Government Entity or court (including enforcement notices or proceedings) or any person in connection
with any Environmental Condition; and

“Government Entity” means any government body or other body company or person that has powers pursuant
to EHS Laws (as defined in paragraph 27 of Schedule 3 to this Agreement) including but not limited to the
Environment Agency.

9.1.2 any liabilities of any Group Member (or any company who prior to Completion was a Group Member)
in respect of any freehold or leasehold property (whether currently or formerly owned or occupied) by
the Group Member at any time prior to Completion arising as a direct or indirect result of any
authorised guarantee agreements or dilapidations in connection therewith;

9.1.3 the redundancy or termination of employment of the following employees of the relevant Group
Member: Helen King, Josephine Tottman, Sally Watkins, Jennifer Roberts, Andrew Garnham, Paul
Goldberg or Martyn Dykhoff;

9.1.4 arising out of the failure to obtain landlord consent to the occupation of Alan Batham Digital
Photography of the Property in London and resulting disapplication of the rights of tenure prescribed
by the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954;

9.1.5 any breach or failure to deliver or perform the obligations set out at Clauses 2.2 or 11.

9.2 The Warrantor shall indemnify, keep indemnified and hold harmless the Buyer for itself and as trustee for the

9.3

Company and each of the Group Members on an after tax basis in respect of all, claims, liabilities, costs and
expenses incurred, suffered or paid at any time in connection with any liability to provide any relevant benefits
(as defined in paragraph 35.1.2 of schedule 3) which would not have been a liability but for the operation of the
Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 1981 or European law.

The Sellers waive and may not enforce any right which the Sellers may have against the Company, any Group
Member or the Buyer arising out of or in connection with the Shareholders Agreement and irrevocably release
and discharge the Company, each Group Member and the Buyer from any obligation or liability thereunder.



10.

10.1

10.2

10.3

CONDUCT OF MATTER GIVING RISE TO ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS

A.
The Buyer shall (prior to taking any action against the Warrantors under Clause 9.1.1 and subject to the Buyer or
the relevant Group Member being indemnified and secured to the reasonable satisfaction of the Buyer or the
relevant Group Member by the Warrantors against all reasonable costs and expenses which may properly be
incurred by reason of such action) and shall procure that any Group member shall likewise promptly and
diligently take all such action as the Warrantors may reasonably request including the institution of proceedings
and the instruction of professional advisers to act on behalf of the Buyer or the relevant Group Member to avoid,
dispute, resist, compromise, defend or appeal against any such claim against the Buyer or any Group Member in
accordance with the reasonable instructions of the Warrantors to the intent that such action shall be delegated
entirely to the Warrantors and so long as the Warrantors shall have given adequate security therefor, not settle or
compromise any liability or claim to which such action is referable without the prior written consent of the
Warrantors which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.

The Warrantors shall not be liable under or in respect of any claim made under Clause 9.1.1 if and to the extent
that such liability arose as a direct result of the Buyer or any Group Member deliberately performing any act
(other than in accordance with law) which is intended to directly cause any Government Entity to investigate
whether or not any Environmental Condition exists.

No claim may be brought under Clause 9.1.1 and the Warrantors shall not be liable under Clause 9.1.1 unless
proceedings are issued against the Warrantors on or before the dates set out below and notwithstanding the
foregoing the Warrantors’ liability under Clause 9.1.1 shall in any event not exceed the limits set against each
date:

Date

Limitation

1 September 2006 £4,000,000

1 September 2007 £3,000,000

1 September 2008 £2,000,000

1 September 2009 £1,000,000

11.

11.1

12.

and from midnight 1 September 2010 the Warrantors’ liability shall be zero.
The limit of the Warrantors’ liability shall be determined by reference to the date proceedings are issued.
POST COMPLETION UNDERTAKINGS
The Warrantors undertake that as soon as reasonably practical and in any event within:
11.1.1 30 Business Days following Completion to procure the transfer by David McGowan of 64 ordinary
shares in M3DIA Projects Limited to the Company such that the Clause 2.2.5 is then satisfied. The

Warrantors shall be liable for the payment of any stamp duty in connection therewith;

11.1.2 procure the resignation without claim by Thomas Ward and Steven Wood of any directorship of any
Group Member by no later than 30 August 2004;

11.1.3 procure the resignation without claim by Donald Wells of any directorship of any Group Member by
no later than 30 September 2004;

11.1.4 procure the resignation without claim by Martin Dyckhoff of any directorship of any Group Member as
soon as reasonable practical and in any event by 31 December 2004;

RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS



12.1

12.2

12.3

12.4

13.

13.1

In this Clause:

The Warrantors undertake for the period of 18 months following Completion to the Buyer and each Group
Member that they will not, and thereafter each of the Warrantors undertakes on a several basis to the Buyer and
each Group Member that he will not, in each case whether alone or in conjunction with, or on behalf of, another
person and whether directly or indirectly, without the prior written consent of the Buyer:

12.2.1 for a period of 3 years immediately following Completion, canvass, solicit or approach, or cause to be
canvassed, solicited or approached, any Relevant Customer for the sale or supply of Relevant Products
or Services;

12.2.2 for a period of 3 years immediately following Completion, deal or contact with any Relevant Customer
in relation to the sale or supply of Relevant Products or Services;

12.2.3 for a period of 3 years immediately following Completion, interfere, or seek to interfere, with the
continuance of supplies to any Group Member from any supplier who has been supplying goods or
services to that Group Member at any time during the 9 months immediately preceding Completion if
such interference causes or would cause that supplier to cease supplying, or materially reduce its supply
of, those goods or services;

12.2.4 for a period of 3 years immediately following Completion, solicit or entice away, or endeavour to
solicit or entice away, from any Group Member, or employ, any person employed in a managerial,
supervisory, technical or sales capacity by, or who is or was a consultant to, any Group Member at
Completion or at any time during the period of 9 months immediately preceding Completion where the
person in question either has Confidential Information or would be in a position to exploit a Group
Member's trade connections;

12.2.5 within the United Kingdom for a period of 3 years immediately following Completion, be engaged,
concerned, connected with or interested in (except as the owner for investment of securities in a
company dealt in on a recognised stock exchange and which confer not more than 1 per cent of the
votes which could be cast at a general meeting), any other business which supplies Relevant Products
or Services;

12.2.6 without prejudice to any rights relating to passing off or trade or service mark infringement (or similar
rights in any territory), for a period of 3 years immediately following Completion use in connection
with any business which is competitive with the business of any Group Member any name (in whatever
form) which includes the name of any Group Member or any trading style or get up which is
confusingly similar to that used by any Group Member as at Completion.

Except so far as required by law or, to the extent relevant, the regulations of any stock exchange or listing
authority or the Panel on Takeovers and Mergers or any other governmental or regulatory organisation and in
those circumstances only after prior consultation with the Buyer, the Sellers will not at any time after
Completion:

12.3.1 disclose any Confidential Information to any person except to those authorised by the relevant Group
Member to know;

12.3.2 use any Confidential Information for their own purposes or for any purposes other than those of the
relevant Group Member; or

12.3.3 cause or permit any unauthorised disclosure of any Confidential Information.
Each of the undertakings set out in this Clause is separate and severable and enforceable accordingly, and if any
one or more of such undertakings or part of an undertaking is held to be against the public interest or unlawful or
in any way an unreasonable restraint of trade, the remaining undertakings or remaining part of the undertakings
will continue in full force and effect and will bind the Sellers and Warrantors, as applicable.

COMPLETION ACCOUNTS

Following Completion the Buyer shall deliver to the Warrantors a draft Completion Balance Sheet, not later than



90 Business Days following Completion.

13.2 The Completion Balance Sheet shall be prepared in accordance with the specific accounting policies and
principles set out in Schedule 6.

13.3 In order to enable the Buyer to prepare the draft Completion Balance Sheet and, as far as possible, to eliminate
any potential areas of disagreement between the parties, the Warrantors shall provide such reasonable assistance
as the Buyer may reasonably require in that connection.

13.4 Subject to timely compliance by the Buyer with its obligations pursuant to clause 13.1 if the Warrantors do not
within 20 Business Days of presentation to them of the draft Completion Balance Sheet give notice to the Buyer
that they disagree with the draft Completion Balance Sheet or any item thereof (which notice shall state the
amounts and reasons for the disagreement in reasonable detail) (the "Warrantors’ Disagreement Notice"), the
draft Completion Balance Sheet shall thereupon be deemed to constitute the Completion Balance Sheet, which
shall be final and binding on the parties.

13.5 If the Warrantors serve a Warrantors’ Disagreement Notice within the requisite timescale, the Buyer and the
Warrantors shall attempt in good faith to reach agreement in respect thereof, and if they are unable to do so
within 10 Business Days of the date of receipt by the Buyer of the Warrantors’ Disagreement Notice, either party
may by notice (an "Appointment Notice") to the other require that the Completion Balance Sheet be referred to
an independent chartered accountant (the "Independent Accountant") to resolve the outstanding matters in
dispute ("Outstanding Matters in Dispute ") in accordance with Clause 13.6 below.

13.6 Matters in dispute in relation to the Completion Balance Sheet shall be referred at the request of either the
Warrantors or the Buyer for decision to the Independent Accountant to be appointed by agreement between the
Warrantors and the Buyer or, in default of agreement within 10 Business Days of a request by either the
Warrantors or the Buyer to the other for the appointment of a particular accountant, by the then President of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (the "ICAEW President") on the application of either
the Warrantors or the Buyer.

13.7 The Independent Accountant shall be instructed to determine the Outstanding Matters in Dispute and the
Independent Accountant shall decide the procedure to be followed in the determination subject to the following
provisions which shall apply to the Independent Accountant 's role in any event:

13.7.1 the Outstanding Matters in Dispute shall be notified to the Independent Accountant in writing by the
Warrantors and/or the Buyer within 10 Business Days of the Independent Accountant 's appointment;

13.7.2 the terms of reference of the Independent Accountant shall be to determine the Outstanding Matters in
Dispute, including the finalisation of the form and content of the Completion Balance Sheet in
accordance with the provisions of this agreement within 30 Business Days of receipt of the Warrantors’
and the Buyer's Submissions in Reply (referred to below), or as soon as practicable thereafter;

13.7.3 the Buyer (and/or the Buyer's accountant on the Buyer's behalf) and the Warrantors (and/or the
Warrantors accountant on the Warrantors behalf) shall each promptly prepare a written statement
setting out their respective positions on the Outstanding Matters in Dispute (""Opening Submissions')
and shall, within 30 Business Days of the appointment of the Independent Accountant, submit to him
and one another copies of their respective Opening Submissions;

13.7.4 within 30 Business Days following the completion of clause 13.7.3 above, the Warrantors and the
Buyer shall each be entitled to comment in writing upon the Opening Submissions and documentation
submitted by the other party ("Submissions in Reply"). Copies of such Submissions in Reply should be
addressed and delivered to the Independent Accountant and the Warrantors or the Buyer (as the case
may be);

13.7.5 the determination of the Independent Accountant pursuant to this clause shall be made in writing and
such determination together with the final Completion Balance Sheet shall be delivered by the
Independent Accountant to the Warrantors and the Buyer;

13.7.6 the Independent Accountant shall act as an expert and not as an arbitrator and his determination of any
matter falling within his jurisdiction shall be final and binding on the Warrantors and the Buyer (in the



14.

14.1

14.2

15.

16.

16.1

16.2

16.3

absence of fraud or manifest error). In particular, without limitation, his determination shall be deemed
to be incorporated into the Completion Balance Sheet, which shall then be final and binding on the
parties;

13.7.7 the expenses of the Independent Accountant shall be borne as he shall direct at the time he makes any
determination or, failing such direction, equally between the Warrantors, on the one hand, and the
Buyer, on the other;

13.7.8 the parties shall co-operate with the Independent Accountant and comply with his reasonable requests
made in connection with the carrying out of his duties under this agreement with respect to the
Completion Balance Sheet.

DEBT- CASH ADJUSTMENT

If and to the extent that the Completion Balance Sheet shows Cash at Bank is less than or greater than £604,197
then within 10 Business Days of the Completion Balance Sheet being agreed or determined pursuant to Clause
13, the Sellers shall pay to the Buyer an amount equal to such deficiency, or the Buyer shall pay to the Sellers an
amount equal to such excess, in each case together with interest accrued daily at a rate of 1 per cent. per annum
above the base rate from time to time of The Royal Bank of Scotland plc from and including the date of
Completion to and including the Business Day before the date of actual payment.

If and to the extent that the Completion Balance Sheet shows the liability for Borrowed Monies (which for the
avoidance of doubt shall exclude liability for any finance lease) is greater than £0 then within 10 Business Days
of the Completion Balance Sheet being agreed or determined pursuant to Clause 13, the Sellers shall pay to the
Buyer an amount equal to the excess, together with interest accrued daily at a rate of 1 per cent. per annum above
the base rate from time to time of The Royal Bank of Scotland plc from and including the date of Completion to
and including the Business Day before the date of actual payment.

NET ASSET ADJUSTMENT

If the Net Asset Value as set out in the Completion Balance Sheet is less than £4,590,000 (“deficiency”) or
greater than £4,790,000 (“excess”) then, within 10 Business Days of the Completion Balance Sheet being agreed
or determined pursuant to Clause 13, the Sellers shall pay to the Buyer an amount equal to such deficiency, or
the Buyer shall pay to the Sellers an amount equal to such excess, in each case together with interest accrued
daily at a rate of 1 per cent. per annum above the base rate from time to time of The Royal Bank of Scotland plc
on the relevant amount from and including the date of Completion to and including the Business Day before the
date of actual payment.

ESCROW OF CONSIDERATION

The Sellers agree that at Completion, without prejudice to any other remedy available to the Buyer, the Buyer
shall be entitled to withhold from the payment of any sums due to the Sellers at Completion the aggregate sum of
£1,000,000 (the “Escrow Monies”) against any potential liabilities of the Sellers to the Buyer under this
Agreement until 30 November 2006, subject to the following conditions:

The Escrow Monies referred above shall be held for the escrow period by the Escrow Agent and subject to the
terms of the Escrow Agreement.

Notwithstanding any period referred to in Clause 16.1 above, the following amounts shall be released to the
Sellers upon the expiry of the time periods set out below upon production to the Escrow Agent of a duly
executed release by not less than two Sellers and the Buyer:

16.3.1 forty percent of the balance of the Escrow Monies held by the Escrow Agent to be released at the
expiry of a period of 1 year from the date of Completion; and

16.3.2 the balance of all Escrow Monies held by the Escrow Agent to be released at the expiry of 30
November 2006.

in each case less any fees of the Escrow Agent and subject to the right of the Buyer to continue to withhold the
amount of any claim for any breach of this Agreement by the Sellers, including under the Warranties and



indemnities set out in this Agreement, under Clauses 14.2, 15 and/or in respect of any claim arising under the
Tax Deed which is claimed by the Buyer and has not been paid by a Seller.

16.4 The Sellers’ Solicitors are hereby authorised by the Sellers to receive on their behalf any Escrow Monies
released by the Escrow Agent to the Sellers in accordance with this Clause 16 and payment to the Sellers’
Solicitors will be good and sufficient discharge to the Buyer and the Escrow Agent and the Buyer will not be
further concerned as to the application of the monies so paid.

16.5 Where an amount is continued to be withheld in respect of a claim in accordance with Clause 16.1 once that
claim shall have been settled (by agreement between the parties or following the final judgement of a court of
competent jurisdiction or if discontinued):

16.5.1 if the claim is settled in favour of the Buyer payment of the amount of the settlement shall be paid out
by the Escrow Agent to the Buyer;

16.5.2 if the claim is settled in favour of the Sellers or has been discontinued payment of the amount of the
settlement or in the case of a discontinuance the amount of the claim shall be paid out of the account to
the Sellers under Clause 16.1 provided that:

(a) the amount so paid shall not exceed the amount by that time permitted to be released under Clause
16.3; and

(b) there shall continue to be retained in the account an amount equal to the aggregate of any other
claims which remain to be settled.

16.6 Upon the release of the whole or any part of the amount in the joint account to the Sellers, the Sellers shall be
entitled to any interest or other sums which have accrued pro rata to the amounts so released, but otherwise the
Buyer shall be entitled to all such interest.

16.7 The Sellers and the Buyer shall operate the Escrow Monies in the manner provided for by this Clause 16 by
giving the appropriate instructions to their respective solicitors.

17. ANNOUNCEMENTS

17.1 No announcement or circular concerning the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any matter
ancillary to it and no disclosure of the terms of this Agreement will be made by any Party except with the prior
written approval of the others.

17.2 This Clause does not apply to any announcement, circular or disclosure required by law or, to the extent relevant,
the regulations of any stock exchange or listing authority or the Panel on Takeovers and Mergers or any other
governmental or regulatory organisation, provided, if practicable, that the party required to make it has first
consulted and taken into account the reasonable requirements of the other party.

18. COSTS

Each party shall bear all costs incurred by it in connection with the preparation, negotiation and entry into this
Agreement and the documents to be entered into pursuant to it. No Group Member will bear any part of such
costs and expenses.

19. INTEREST

Save where expressly provided, if any party defaults in the payment when due of any sum payable under this
Agreement the liability of the defaulting Party shall be increased to include interest on such sum from the date
when payment is due until the date of actual payment (both before and after judgement) at the rate of 2 per cent
per annum above the base rate from time to time of The Royal Bank of Scotland plc. Such interest shall accrue
from day to day and shall be compounded on a daily basis.

20. NOTICES

20.1 Any notice or other document to be served under this Agreement shall be given in writing to the party due to



20.2

20.3

20.4

20.5

20.6

20.7

21.

21.1

receive such notice and shall be delivered personally or sent by first class registered pre-paid post (or airmail if
sent overseas) or by fax to the party to be served, at:

Sellers/ Warrantors: Lupton Fawcett
Address: Yorkshire House
Greek Street
Leeds
LS1 58X
Fax: 01132802163
Attention: M Phillips/K Emsley
Buyer:
Address: Matthews International Corporation

2 North Shore Center
Pittsburgh, PA 15212

Fax: 412 442 8291
Attention: Chief Financial Officer

or at such other address as the relevant party may have notified to the other party in accordance with, and
expressly for the purpose of, this Clause.

Any notice or document shall be deemed to have been served:
20.2.1 if personally delivered, at the time of delivery; or

20.2.2 if posted, at 10.00 a.m. on the second Business Day after it was put into the post (six days if sent
overseas); or

20.2.3 if sent by fax, at the expiration of 2 hours after the time of despatch, if despatched before 3.00 p.m. on
any Business Day, and in any other case at 10.00 a.m. on the Business Day following the date of
despatch.

In proving service of a notice or document it shall be sufficient to prove that delivery was made or that the
envelope containing the notice or document was properly addressed and posted as a first class registered pre-paid
letter (or airmail letter if sent overseas) or that the fax message was properly addressed and despatched and
printed confirmation of transmission has been received.

Any notice or other communication given to the Sellers’ Solicitors, will be treated as validly given to the Sellers
and/ or Warrantors.

Any notice or other communication addressed to a deceased Seller or to a deceased Seller's personal
representatives, notwithstanding that no grant of representation has yet been made in respect of such Seller's
estate, at the Seller's address in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this Clause or at such other address
as may have been notified by the personal representatives in writing to the sender as being their address for
service, and otherwise served in accordance with the foregoing provisions, will be deemed valid service to that
Seller.

Any references to time in this Clause shall be construed as references to the relevant time in the United
Kingdom.

The provisions of this Clause will not apply, in the case of service of court documents, to the extent that such
provisions are inconsistent with the Civil Procedure Rules.

ASSIGNMENT

The Buyer may assign, transfer, charge, or deal in any other manner with all or any part of the benefit of, or any
of its rights under, this Agreement to any member of the Buyer’s Group. Provided that the liability of the Sellers
to a member of the Buyer’s Group shall cease on such member ceasing to be a member of the Buyer’s Group.



21.2

21.3

22.

22.1

222

22.3

22.4

22.5

22.6

22.7

22.8

22.9

22.10

22.11

22.12

For the avoidance of doubt the foregoing proviso shall not operate to extinguish or reduce the Sellers liability
with respect to any other member of the Buyer’s Group.

The Sellers may not assign, transfer, charge, or deal in any other manner with the benefit of, or any of their rights
under, this Agreement.

This Agreement will be binding and enure for the benefit of the personal representatives, successors in title and
permitted assigns of each of the parties and references to the parties will be construed accordingly.

GENERAL

Unless otherwise provided, any outstanding obligation contained in this Agreement will remain in force
notwithstanding Completion.

At any time after the date of this Agreement the Sellers shall, and shall use their reasonable endeavours to
procure that any necessary third party shall execute such documents and do such acts and things as the Buyer
may reasonably require for the purpose of giving to the Buyer the full benefit of all the provisions of this
Agreement.

If any provision in this Agreement shall be held to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, either
under any enactment or rule of law, such provision or part shall to that extent be deemed not to form part of this
Agreement but the legality, validity and enforceability of the remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected.

All amounts due under this Agreement shall be paid in full without any deduction or withholding other than as
required by law and save as expressly provided no party shall be entitled to assert any credit, set-off or
counterclaim against any other party in order to justify withholding payment of any such amount in whole or in
part.

No failure of the party to exercise, and no delay by it in exercising, any right, power or remedy in connection
with this Agreement will operate as a waiver of such right, power or remedy nor will any single or partial
exercise of any right, power or remedy preclude any other or further exercise of such right, power or remedy or
the exercise of any other rights, powers or remedies (whether provided by law or otherwise). No waiver of any
breach of this Agreement shall be deemed to be a waiver of any subsequent breach.

Any waiver of any breach of, or any default under, any of the terms of this Agreement will not be deemed a
waiver of any subsequent breach or default and will in no way affect the other terms of this Agreement.

Any liability to any party under this Agreement may, in that party’s absolute discretion, in whole or in part be
released, compounded or compromised or time or indulgence given, as regards any of the parties under such
liability without in any way prejudicing or affecting its rights against any other party under the same or a like
liability, whether joint and several or otherwise.

In the event of any claim being made against the Sellers under the Warranties or under Part 2 of Schedule 4, the
Sellers will not plead against such claim the Limitation Act 1980 or any other statute (present or future) directly
or indirectly consolidating, extending, replacing or re-enacting the same, or any other rule of law relating to
limitation of time in which an action can be brought or claim made; provided that this Clause 22.8 is without
prejudice to any express provision of this Agreement regarding time limits for notifying or making claims.

The rights and remedies of the parties as set out in this Agreement are in addition to and do not in any way
exclude any rights and remedies which the parties may have under statute, common law or otherwise.

Each Group Member has the right to enforce only Clauses 12 and 22.12 of this Agreement and in accordance
with the provisions of the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999. Except as stated in this Clause, the
parties to this Agreement do not intend that any of its terms will be enforceable by virtue of the Contracts (Rights
of Third Parties) Act 1999 by any person not a party to it.

No variation of this Agreement will be valid unless it is in writing and signed by or on behalf of each party to this
Agreement but no variation shall require the consent of any Group Member.

Except as required by law, all payments by the Sellers pursuant to this Agreement will be made free and clear of



all deductions and withholdings whether in respect of Taxation (as defined in Schedule 4) or otherwise. If any
deduction or withholding is required by law to be made from any payment by the Sellers pursuant to this
Agreement which is not governed by the provisions of Schedule 4 or if (ignoring any available relief or
allowance) the Buyer or any Group Member is subject to Taxation in respect of any such payment which is not
governed by the provisions of Schedule 4 then the Sellers will pay to the Buyer or the relevant Group Member
such additional amount as is necessary to ensure that the net amount received and retained by them (after taking
account of such deduction or withholding or Taxation) is equal to the amount which they would have received
and retained had the payment in question not been subject to the deduction or withholding or Taxation.

23. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION

23.1 This Agreement and the documents to be entered into pursuant to it shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with English law.

23.2 The parties irrevocably agree that the courts of England are to have non-exclusive jurisdiction to settle any
dispute which may arise out of or in connection with this Agreement and the documents to be entered into
pursuant to it. The parties irrevocably submit to the jurisdiction of such courts and waive any objection to
proceedings in any such court on the ground of venue or on the ground that the proceedings have been brought in
an inconvenient forum.

23.3 The jurisdiction provisions contained in this Clause are made for the benefit of the Buyer only, which
accordingly retains the right to bring proceedings in any other court of competent jurisdiction.

24. COUNTERPARTS

This Agreement may be entered into in any number of counterparts, all of which taken together shall constitute
one and the same instrument. Any party may enter into this Agreement by executing any such counterpart.

25. PROCESS AGENT

The Sellers irrevocably appoint Lupton Fawcett (ref MP/KHE) now of Yorkshire House, Greek Street, Leeds
LS1 5SX as its agent to accept service of process in England in any legal action or proceedings arising out of or
in connection with this Agreement, service upon whom shall be deemed completed whether or not forwarded to
or received by the Seller. If such process agent ceases to be able to act as such or to have an address in England,
the Sellers irrevocably agree to appoint immediately a new process agent in England acceptable to the Buyer and
to deliver to the Buyer within 7 days of such appointment a copy of a written acceptance of appointment by the
process agent. Nothing in this Agreement shall affect the right to service process in any other manner permitted
by law.

This Agreement has been executed and delivered as a deed on the date stated at the beginning.
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Share Sale and Purchase Agreement

SCHEDULE 1

The Sellers

Number and class of shares to
be sold

16495 Ordinary A Graeme Philip King Graeme Philip King
Ash Barn Syke Lane
Ogden
Halifax
HX2 9NU

16495 Ordinary A Brian Ernest Tottman Brian Ernest Tottman
61 Greenhead Road
Huddersfield
HDI1 4ER

16495 Ordinary A Robert Greig Watkins Robert Greig Watkins
Brown Lodge Barn
Brown Lodge Street
Littleborough
Lancashire
OLI15 OEP

5517 Ordinary A Geoffrey William Roberts Geoffrey William Roberts
Low Lodge
Barnsdale Road Allerton
Bywater
WF10 2AX

1500 Ordinary B Helen M King Helen M King
Ash Barn Syke Lane
Ogden
Halifax
HX2 9NU

1500 Ordinary B Josephine Tottman Josephine Tottman
61 Greenhead Road
Huddersfield
HDI1 4ER

1500 Ordinary B Sally R Watkins Sally Watkins
Brown Lodge Barn
Brown Lodge Street
Littleborough
Lancashire
OLI15 OEP

502 Ordinary B Jennifer R Roberts Jennifer R Roberts
Low Lodge
Barnsdale Road Allerton
Bywater
WF10 2AX

Name and address of registered owner Name and address of beneficial owner
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Share Sale and Purchase Agreement

Name of Company:
Registered number:
Registered office:

Date of incorporation:
Authorised share capital:

Issued share capital:

Directors' full names:

Secretary's full name:
Accounting reference date:
Mortgages over assets:

SCHEDULE 2

Details of the Company

The InTouch Group Limited

2381444

Sanderson House, Station Road, Horsforth, Leeds LS18 5NT

9 May 1989

£100,000 divided into 85,000 Ordinary A shares of £1 each and 15,000
Ordinary B shares of £1 each

55,002 Ordinary A shares of £1 each (to the value of £55,002)

5,002 Ordinary B shares of £1 each (to the value of £5,002)
Graeme Philip King

Geoffrey William Roberts

Brian Ernest Tottman

Thomas Matthew James Ward

Steven Craig Wood

Robert Greig Watkins

Sally Emma Wood

31 March

Mortgage Debenture in favour National Westminster Bank Plc created 20
August 1990

Deed of Charge over Credit Balances in favour of National Westminster
Bank Plc created 6 December 2000

Charge over Credit Balances in favour of National Westminster Bank Plc
created 6 December 2000
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Name of Company:
Registered number:
Registered office:

Date of incorporation:
Authorised share capital:
Issued share capital:

Registered and beneficial shareholders:

Directors' full names:

Secretary's full name:
Accounting reference date:
Mortgages over assets:

Name of Company:
Registered number:
Registered office:

Date of incorporation:
Authorised share capital:
Issued share capital:

Registered and beneficial shareholders:

Directors' full names:

Secretary's full name:
Accounting reference date:
Mortgages over assets:

Name of Company:
Registered number:

Share Sale and Purchase Agreement

Details of other Group Members

InTouch Meridian Limited

02696313

Sanderson House, Station Road, Horsforth, Leeds, West Yorkshire LS18
SNT

12 March 1992

£1000 divided into 1000 Ordinary shares of £1 each

4 Ordinary shares of £1 each (to the value of £4)

Name and address Number and class of shares held

4 Ordinary shares
The InTouch Group Limited
Sanderson House
22 Station Road Horsforth
Leeds
LS18 5SNT
Graeme Philip King
Geoffrey William Roberts
Brian Ernest Tottman
Robert Greig Watkins
Robert Greig Watkins
31 March
Mortgage Debenture in favour of National Westminster Bank Plc created
14 July 1992

Mortgage Debenture in favour of National Westminster Bank Plc created
31 July 2000

West City Two Limited

04024799

Sanderson House, Station Road, Horsforth, Leeds, West Yorkshire LS18
SNT

27 June 2000

£100,000 divided into 100,000 Ordinary shares of £1 each

100 Ordinary shares of £1 each (to the value of £100)

Name and address Number and class of shares held

100 Ordinary shares
The InTouch Group Limited
Sanderson House
22 Station Road Horsforth
Leeds
LS18 5NT

Brian Ernest Tottman

Robert Greig Watkins

Robert Greig Watkins

31 March

Mortgage Debenture in favour of National Westminster Bank Plc created
20 November 2000

In Touch Reprographics Limited
02708083



Registered office:

Date of incorporation:
Authorised share capital:
Issued share capital:

Registered and beneficial shareholders:

Directors' full names:

Secretary's full name:
Accounting reference date:
Mortgages over assets

Name of Company:
Registered number:
Registered office:

Date of incorporation:
Authorised share capital:
Issued share capital:

Registered and beneficial shareholders:

Directors' full names:

Secretary's full name:
Accounting reference date:
Mortgages over assets

Name of Company:
Registered number:
Registered office:

Date of incorporation:
Authorised share capital:
Issued share capital:

Registered and beneficial shareholders:

Sanderson House, Horsforth, Leeds, West Yorkshire LS18 5SNT

21 April 1992

£1000 divided into 1000 Ordinary shares of £1 each

100 Ordinary shares of £1 each (to the value of £100)

Name and address Number and class of shares held

100 Ordinary shares
The InTouch Group Limited
Intouch House
Riverside Drive
Cleckheaton
West Yorkshire
BD19 4DH
Graeme Philip King
Geoffrey William Roberts
Brian Ernest Tottman
Robert Greig Watkins
Robert Greig Watkins
31 March
Mortgage Debenture in favour of National Westminster Bank Plc created
6 February 1993

Aaron Associates Limited

02176738

Sanderson House, Station Road, Horsforth, Leeds, West Yorkshire, LS18
SNT

13 October 1987

£120,000 divided into 120,000 Ordinary shares of £1 each

600 Ordinary shares of £1 each (to the value of £600)

Name and address Number and class of shares held

600 Ordinary shares
The InTouch Group Limited
Intouch House
Riverside Drive
Cleckheaton
West Yorkshire
BD19 4DH
Brian Ernest Tottman
Robert Greig Watkins
Robert Greig Watkins
31 March
Fixed and Floating Charge on Debts and Related Rights in favour of Alex
Lawrie Factors Limited created 19 June 1996

Mortgage Debenture in favour of National Westminster Bank Plc created
6 December 2000

Aaron Software Development Limited

02893077

Sanderson House, Station Road, Horsforth, Leeds LS18 SNT

13 October 1987

1,000 Ordinary shares of £0.5 each (to the value of £500)

1,000 Ordinary shares of £0.5 each (to the value of £500)

Name and address Number and class of shares held



Directors' full names:

Secretary's full name:
Accounting reference date:
Mortgages over assets:

Name of Company:
Registered number:
Registered office:

Date of incorporation:
Authorised share capital:
Issued share capital:

Registered and beneficial shareholders:

Directors' full names:

Secretary's full name:
Accounting reference date:
Mortgages over assets:

Name of Company:
Registered number:
Registered office:

Date of incorporation:
Authorised share capital:
Issued share capital:

Registered and beneficial shareholders:

Directors' full names:

Secretary's full name:
Accounting reference date:
Mortgages over assets:

1000 Ordinary shares
The InTouch Group Limited
Station Road Horsforth
Leeds
LS18 SNT
Martin Dyckhoff
Brian Ernest Tottman
Robert Greig Watkins
Donald Brian Wells
Robert Greig Watkins
31 March
None

PM Colour Limited

03650678

Sanderson House, Station Road, Horsforth, Leeds, West Yorkshire, LS18
SNT

16 October 1998

£1,000,000 divided into 1,000,000 Ordinary shares of £1 each

70,018 Ordinary shares of £1 each (to the value of £70,018)

Name and address Number and class of shares held

70,018 Ordinary shares
The InTouch Group Limited
Intouch House
Riverside Drive
Cleckheaton
West Yorkshire
BD19 4DH
Brian Ernest Tottman
Robert Greig Watkins
Robert Greig Watkins
31 March
PART SATISFIED Mortgage Debenture in favour of National
Westminster Bank Plc created 4 June 1999

Aaron Group Limited

03447781

Sanderson House, Station Road, Horsforth, Leeds, West Yorkshire, LS18
SNT

6 October 1997

£100,000 divided into 1,000,000 Ordinary shares of £0.1 each

1,000,000 Ordinary shares of £0.1 each (to the value of £100,000)

Name and address Number and class of shares held

1,000,000 Ordinary shares
The InTouch Group Limited
Station Road Horsforth
Leeds
LS18 5NT
Brian Ernest Tottman
Robert Greig Watkins
Robert Greig Watkins
31 March
Mortgage Debenture in favour of National Westminster Bank Plc created
6 December 2000



Name of Company:
Registered number:
Registered office:

Date of incorporation:
Authorised share capital:
Issued share capital:

Registered and beneficial shareholders:

Directors’ full names:

M3dia Projects Limited
04248848

Sanderson House, Station Road, Horsforth, Leeds, West Yorkshire LS18

SNT
9 July 2001

1,000 Ordinary shares of £1 each (to the value of £1000)
400 Ordinary shares of £1 each (to the value of £400)

Name and address

The InTouch Group Limited

Sanderson House
Station Road
Horsforth

Leeds

LS18 5SNT

Graeme Philip King
Ash Barn

Skye Lane
Causeway Foot
Halifax

West Yorkshire
HX2 9NU

David McGowan
2 Briggland Court
Wilsden

Bradford

West Yorkshire
BD15 OHL

Geoffrey William Roberts
Low Lodge

Barnsdale Road

Allerton Bywater

West Yorkshire

WF10 2AX

Brian Ernest Tottman
61 Greenhead Road
Huddersfield

West Yorkshire

HDI1 4ER

Robert Watkins
Brown Lodge Barn
Brown Lodge Street
Littleborough
Lancashire

OL15 OEP

Graeme Philip King
David McGowan
Geoffrey William Roberts
Brian Ernest Tottman
Robert Greig Watkins

Number and class of shares held 1

Noting that this reflects the position
should D McGowan transfer 64 shares in
accordance with Clause 2 and 1lof the
Agreement.

204 Ordinary shares

16 Ordinary shares

132 Ordinary shares

16 Ordinary shares

16 Ordinary shares

16 Ordinary shares



Secretary's full name: Robert Greig Watkins

Accounting reference date: 31 March

Mortgages over assets: None

Name of Company: In Touch By Design, Inc.

Identification Number: 00084970

Place of Incorporation: Commonwealth of Massachusetts

Registered Office Address /Registered N/A

Agent:

Date of Incorporation: 10 September 2003

Authorised Shares/Interests/Capital: Corporation authorised to issue 100,000 shares of Class A Common Stock

with no par value.
Corporation authorised to issue 100,000 shares of Class B Common Stock
with no par value.

Issued Shares/Interests/Capital: 2,116 shares of Class A Common Stock

Class A Common Stock Stockholders: Name of Stockholder Number and class of shares held
1,605 shares

The InTouch Group Limited
Peter ~ Chapman

85 shares
Richard  Taylor
63 shares
Maria Dubuc Piraino
363 shares
Director’s names: Richard Taylor
Maria Dubuc
Peter Chapman
Brian Tottman
Robert Watkins
Company Secretary’s name: Richard Taylor
Company Treasurer’s name: Maria Dubuc
Company President’s name: Richard Taylor
Fiscal year: 31 December
Mortgages and Liens: None
Name of Company: M3dia Limited
Registered number: 4248861
Registered office: Sanderson House, Station Road, Horsforth, Leeds, West Yorkshire LS18
SNT
Date of incorporation: 9 July 2001
Authorised share capital: 1,000 Ordinary shares of £1 each (to the value of £1000)
Issued share capital: 2 Ordinary shares of £1 each (to the value of £2)
Registered and beneficial shareholders: Name and address Number and class of shares held

2 Ordinary shares
The InTouch Group Limited

Directors’ full names: Brian Ernest Tottman

Robert Greig Watkins
Secretary's full name: Robert Greig Watkins
Accounting reference date: 31 March

Mortgages over assets: None
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Share Sale and Purchase Agreement

SCHEDULE 3

Non-Taxation Warranties

. Capital

The Shares and the issued shares of each Group Member are fully paid and are beneficially owned and registered
as set out in Schedules 1 and 2 free from any Encumbrance or any claim to, or Contract to grant, any
Encumbrance (including for the avoidance of doubt any put or call option, drag or tag along rights or other right
or pre-emption).

No Group Member has allotted or issued any share capital other than the shares shown in Schedules 1 and 2 as
being issued.

No Contract has been entered into which requires or may require any Group Member to allot or issue any share
or loan capital and no Group Member has allotted or issued any securities which are convertible into share or

loan capital.

No Group Member has any interest, or has at any time during the period of 6 years ending on the date of this
Agreement had any interest, in the share capital of any body corporate save as specified in Schedule 2.

Other than as specified in Schedule 2, no Group Member has, or ever has had, any subsidiary undertakings (as
defined in sections 258 to 260 CA 1985).

The information contained in Schedules 1 and 2 is true, complete and accurate in all respects.

No shareholder agreement exists in relation to the shares of any Group Member other than InTouch by Design
Inc., a copy of which is attached to the Disclosure Letter

SELLERS

2.

3.1

3.2

33

3.4

4.1

Capacity

Each of the Sellers has full power to enter into and perform the Transaction Documents and they constitute
obligations binding on each of the Sellers in accordance with their terms.

. Insiders' interests

For the purpose of this paragraph "Insider" means the Sellers, any person who is or was at the relevant time a
director of any Group Member, or any person who is or was at the relevant time connected (as defined in section
839 ICTA) with the Sellers, or any such director.

There is not outstanding and there has not at any time during the period of 3 years ending on the date of this
Agreement been outstanding any Contract to which any Group Member is or was a party and in which any
Insider is or was interested in any way whatsoever (excluding any Contract of employment between any Group

Member and any of its directors fully and fairly disclosed in the Disclosure Letter).

No Insider has any interest, direct or indirect, in any trade or business which competes or is likely to compete
with any Group Member's business.

There are no amounts due to any Group Member or amounts due from any Group Member to either GAP
Systems Limited or M3DIA Projects Limited.

Dormant Companies

Each of the Dormant Companies in the three month period ending at Completion:



5.

5.1

4.1.1 has been dormant and has not traded or otherwise carried on business or changed its name;

4.1.2 has not disposed for value of any property, asset or rights which it would have disposed of for value in
the normal course of trading or carrying on a business;

4.1.3 has not engaged in any activity other than settling its affairs or meeting a statutory requirement;
4.1.4 has no liabilities, claims or debts outstanding as at Completion;

4.1.5 is not the subject of, nor the proposed subject of insolvency proceedings or a scheme under s.425
Companies Act 1985.

Information supplied to the Buyer

The factual information set out in the Disclosure Letter is true, complete and accurate and the Documents
attached to the Disclosure Letter are true copies of the originals. The factual information set out in the
Information Memorandum dated January 2004 and attached as section 50 and replies to enquiries attached as
section 50 by or on behalf of the Sellers or any Group Member as at the date hereof is true, complete and
accurate in all respects and is not misleading providing that statements of opinion which have been expressed in
writing to the Buyer or its professional advisers by the Sellers or their professional advisers or otherwise on
behalf of the Sellers may only be relied upon to the extent that such statements of opinion are considered to be
honestly and reasonably held and they are not to be taken as warranties of fact. For the avoidance of doubt the
forecasts set out in the Information Memorandum do not fall within this warranty 5.1.

ACCOUNTS AND RECORDS

6.

6.1

6.2

The Accounts

For the purpose of this paragraph "Accounting Standards" means the statements of standard accounting practice
referred to in section 256 CA 1985 issued by the Accounting Standards Board or such other body as may be
prescribed by the Secretary of State from time to time, including the statements of standard accounting practice
formerly issued by the Accounting Standards Committee and since adopted by the Accounting Standards Board,
the Abstracts issued by the Urgent Issues Task Force and any financial reporting standards issued by the
Accounting Standards Board or such other body referred to above.

The Accounts (copies of which are attached to the Disclosure Letter):

6.2.1 show a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and state of affairs of each Group Member and the
Group as at the Accounts Date and of the profits (or losses) of each Group member and the Group for
the financial year ending on that date;

6.2.2 have been prepared and audited in accordance with the historical cost convention, with all applicable
law and Accounting Standards and (to the extent that no Accounting Standard is applicable) with
generally accepted accounting principles and practices of the United Kingdom then in force; and

6.2.3 have been prepared on bases and principles which are consistent with those used in the preparation of
the audited statutory accounts of each Group Member for the 2 financial years immediately preceding
that which ended on the Accounts Date.

. Profits or losses

The profits or losses and value of net assets of each Group Member for the 3 consecutive financial years ending
on the Accounts Date as shown by the Accounts (and by the previous audited accounts of each Group Member
delivered to the Buyer) have not (except as disclosed in those accounts) been affected by the inclusion of non-
recurring items of income or expenditure, by transaction entered into otherwise than on normal commercial
terms or by any other factors rendering such profits or losses or value of net assets for any of such periods
exceptionally high or low.



8. Records
Each Group Member's accounting records are up to date and contain complete and accurate details of all
transactions of that Group Member and comply with the provisions of sections 221 and 222 CA 1985. Each
Group Member's records and information are exclusively owned by it and under its direct control.
9. Management Accounts
9.1 Except as fully and fairly disclosed in the Disclosure Letter, the management accounts of each Group Member
for each month in respect of the period from the Accounts Date to 31 July 2004, copies of which are attached to
the Disclosure Letter, and the Completion Balance Sheet have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United Kingdom and on a basis consistent with those used in the preparation
of the Accounts.
9.2 Except as fully, fairly and clearly disclosed in the Disclosure Letter, such management accounts:

9.2.1 are not misleading in any material respect;

9.2.2 neither materially over-state the value of any of the assets nor materially under-state any of the
liabilities of any Group Member as at the dates to which they were drawn up; and

9.2.3 do not materially over-state the profits or turnover of any Group Member in respect of the periods to
which they relate.

9.3 Since the Accounts Date the business of the Company and each Group Member has been conducted in the
ordinary course and without limitation to the forgoing there has been no material deferral in the payment of
creditors or material acceleration in the collection of receviables.

CHANGES SINCE THE ACCOUNTS DATE

10. General

Since the Accounts Date:

10.1 the business of each Group Member has been carried on in the ordinary and usual course and in the same manner
(including nature and scope) as in the 12 months preceding the Accounts Date;

10.2 there has been no adverse change in the financial or trading position or prospects of any Group Member
including any adverse change in respect of turnover, profits, margins of profitability, liabilities (actual or
contingent) or expenses (direct or indirect) of the relevant Group Member; and

11. Specific

Since the Accounts Date:

11.1 no Group Member has acquired, or agreed to acquire, any single asset having a value in excess of £5,000 or
assets having an aggregate value in excess of £20,000;

11.2 no Group Member has disposed of, or agreed to dispose of, any asset (excluding Stock disposed of in the
ordinary and usual course of business) having a value reflected in the Accounts in excess of £10,000 or acquired

since the Accounts Date;

11.3 no loan made by any Group Member which remains outstanding has become due and payable in whole or in part
to the relevant Group Member;

11.4 no Group Member has borrowed or raised any money or taken up any financial facilities and no Group member
has repaid any borrowing or indebtedness in advance of its stated maturity;

11.5 no Group Member has sold or agreed to sell a debt and no debt has been released, deferred, subordinated or



written off by any Group Member;

11.6 no dividend or other payment which is, or could be treated as, a distribution for the purposes of Part VI ICTA or
section 418 ICTA has been declared, paid or made by any Group Member;
11.7 no resolution of the shareholders of any Group Member has been passed;
11.8 no Group Member has changed its accounting reference date;
11.9 no Group Member has assumed or incurred, or agreed to assume or incur, a liability, obligation or expense
(actual or contingent) for a value in excess of £10,000;
11.10 no management or similar charge has become payable or been paid by any Group Member;
11.11 no share or loan capital has been allotted, issued, repaid or redeemed or agreed to be allotted, issued, repaid or
redeemed by any Group Member; and
11.12 no payment has been made by any Group Member to, or benefit conferred (directly or indirectly) by any Group
Member on, the Seller, any past or present director of any Group Member or any person who is or was at the
relevant time connected (as defined in section 839 ICTA) with the Sellers or any such director.
ASSETS
12. Unencumbered title; possession
12.1 Each asset included in the Accounts or acquired by a Group Member since the Accounts Date (save for stock
disposed of in the ordinary course of business) and each asset used by any Group Member or which is in the
reputed ownership of any Group Member:
12.1.1 is legally and beneficially owned by the relevant Group Member free from any Encumbrance or any
claim to, or Contract to grant, any Encumbrance; and
12.1.2 is not to any extent surplus to requirements.
12.2 No Group Member has agreed to acquire any material asset on terms that the property in it does not pass until
full payment is made.
12.3 Any asset of a Group Member which is not situated at the Property at Completion is specified in the Disclosure
Letter and the asset is clearly identified as an asset of the relevant Group Member.
12.4 Each Group Member owns each asset necessary or desirable for the carrying on of its business in the manner in
which it is currently carried on.
12.5 No registrable Encumbrance in favour of a Group Member is void or voidable for want of registration.
13. Debtors
13.1 No Group Member has made, or entered into any Contract to make, any loan to, or other arrangement with, any
person as a result of which it is or may be owed any money, other than trade debts incurred in the ordinary
course of business and cash at bank.
13.2 No Group Member is entitled to the benefit of any debt otherwise than as the original creditor and no Group
Member has factored, deferred or discounted any debt or agreed to do so.
13.3 All of the debts of each Group Member which are included in the Accounts (apart from bad and doubtful debts to

the extent to which they have been provided for in the Accounts) or which have subsequently arisen have
realised or will realise in the normal course of collection and in any event within 3 months of Completion their
full value as included in the Accounts or in the books of the relevant Group Member, and no such debt nor any
part of it has been outstanding for more than 2 months from its due date for payment.



14. Stock
14.1 The Stock now held by each Group Member and not written off in the Accounts:

14.1.1 is not obsolete, slow moving or likely to realise less than its book value and does not include goods
returned by customers or the relevant Group member;

14.1.2 in the case of Stock comprising finished goods is capable of being sold by the relevant Group Member
in the ordinary course of its business in accordance with its current price list;

14.1.3 is fit for its intended purpose and of satisfactory quality and accords with any representation or
contractual term, express or implied, which has been given, or which would in the normal course of its
business be given, by the relevant Group Member in respect of it;

14.1.4 complies fully and will on sale by the relevant Group Member in the ordinary course of its business
comply fully with all applicable laws, regulations, standards (including any British or European Union
standards), customers' specifications and specifications laid down by the relevant Group Member; and

14.1.5 is not and will not when put to its intended use become defective or unsafe.

14.2 Since the Accounts Date:

14.2.1 there has been no abnormal increase or reduction of Stock;

14.2.2 none of the Stock reflected in the Accounts has been realised for an amount less than that reflected in
the Accounts in respect of such Stock; and

14.2.3 no Group Member has offered price reductions or discounts or allowances on sales of Stock, or sold
Stock at less than cost.

15. Plant etc

The plant and machinery, vehicles, fixtures and fittings, furniture, tools and other equipment used in connection
with the business of each Group Member:

15.1 Are, subject to normal wear and tear, in good and safe state of repair and condition and satisfactory working
order and have been regularly maintained to a good standard and in accordance with any safety regulations
usually observed in relation to them;

15.2 are capable and will (subject to fair wear and tear) be capable throughout the period of time during which they
will be written down to a nil value (at the rates adopted in the Accounts) of meeting the needs for which they
were designed or acquired; and

15.3 are fully and accurately recorded in the plant register.

16. Intellectual Property Rights
16.1 For the purpose of this paragraph and paragraph 17:
"Intellectual Property Rights" means all patents, trade marks, copyright, moral rights, rights to prevent passing
off, rights in designs, know how and all other intellectual or industrial property rights, in each case whether
registered or unregistered and including applications or rights to apply for them and together with all extensions
and renewals of them, and in each and every case all rights or forms of protection having equivalent or similar

effect anywhere in the world; and

"Software" means any form of computer program, including applications software and operating systems,
whether in source, object or machine code form.

16.2 All Intellectual Property Rights used in, or held in relation to, any Group Member's business (save for Intellectual
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16.4

16.5

16.6
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16.8

16.9

16.10

16.11

16.12

Property Rights licensed to any Group Member under any Contract) are legally and beneficially owned by the
relevant Group Member free from any Encumbrance and including without limitation the Software known as
“Networker” developed for operation in connection with the Filemarker database is legally and beneficially
owned by the Company free from any Encumbrance.

All Intellectual Property Rights used in, or held in relation to, any Group Member's business which are registered
or the subject of applications for registration or which are unregistered trade marks are listed and described in the
Disclosure Letter and such rights are all that are necessary for the relevant Group Member to operate its business
as it is currently operated.

Each Group Member's Intellectual Property Rights are (and nothing has been done or omitted to be done
whereby any of them might cease to be) valid, subsisting and enforceable. In respect of registered Intellectual
Property Rights, all renewal fees have been duly paid, all steps required for their maintenance and protection
have been taken and so far as the Warrantors are aware there are no grounds on which any person is or will be
able to seek cancellation, rectification or any other modification of any registration.

There are, and have been, no proceedings, actions or claims and none are pending or so far as the Warrantors are
aware threatened or will arise, impugning the title, validity or enforceability of any Group Member's Intellectual
Property Rights or claiming any right or interest in such Intellectual Property Rights.

There is, and has been, no infringement of any Group Member's Intellectual Property Rights and so far as the
Warrantors are aware none is pending or threatened.

No Contract or consent in respect of any of the Intellectual Property Rights has been entered into or given by the
relevant Group Member in favour of any third party and no Group Member is obliged to enter into or grant any
such Contract or consent.

The past and present activities of each Group Member (including the processes, methods, Software, goods and
services used or dealt in by it and the products or services manufactured or supplied by it):

16.8.1 are not, and have not been, subject to the licence, consent or permission of, or payment to, any other
party;

16.8.2 do not infringe, have not infringed and will not result in any claim in relation to, any Intellectual
Property Rights of any third party; and

16.8.3 have not, and will not, result in a claim in respect of Intellectual Property Rights against the relevant
Group Member including any liability to any compensation under sections 40 and 41 of the Patents Act
1977.

Each Group Member's know how is clearly and comprehensively documented and all such documents are held
by the relevant Group Member.

Neither any of the Sellers nor any Group Member has disclosed, nor is obliged to disclose, any know how to any
third party, other than those of any Group Member's officers or employees who are bound by obligations of
confidence. Save for officers or employees of the relevant Group Member, no third party has had access to any of
the know how relating to or held by a Group Member. No Group Member is restricted in their ability to use, or to
disclose to any third party, any information or know how.

So far as the Warrantors are aware there are no circumstances which would render any current application for
registration of any Group Member's Intellectual Property Rights unacceptable to the relevant registry or other
authority or which would prevent any such application from proceeding to grant and registration.

Complete and accurate copies of all licences, sub-licences and other agreements whereby each Group Member is
licensed or otherwise authorised to use the Intellectual Property Rights of a third party or whereby any Group
Member licenses or otherwise authorises a third party to use Intellectual Property Rights are attached to the
Disclosure Letter. All of them are in full force and effect, no notice having been given to terminate them, and the
obligations of all parties in respect of them have been fully complied with and no disputes have arisen in respect
of them.
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16.14
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17.3

17.4

17.5
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17.9

Each Group Member has in its possession all necessary drawings, artwork, specifications, prototypes and other
documents and things necessary to establish the relevant Group Member's ownership of its Intellectual Property
Rights and to prove that they are original or novel or both.

The Disclosure Letter contains a full list of domain names and other addresses in connection with the Internet or
Worldwide Web which are held by each Group Member.

Computer Systems

For the purposes of this paragraph "Computer Systems" means all computer hardware, Software, microprocessors
and firmware and any other items that connect with any of them which in each case are used in any Group
Member's business or are in the possession of any Group Member.

Full details of all Software used or held by each Group Member in which the Intellectual Property Rights are
owned by a third party are set out in the Disclosure Letter. Complete and accurate copies of all licences, escrow
agreements and (where the warranties have not expired) development agreements in respect of such Software are
attached to the Disclosure Letter. The licences of such Software are complied with in all respects in the operation
of the business of the relevant Group Member and any restrictions in those licences do not adversely affect the
present conduct of the business of the relevant Group Member or any plans for its conduct currently under
consideration.

Complete and accurate copies of all maintenance agreements in place in respect of the Computer Systems are
attached to the Disclosure Letter. The maintenance providers concerned have always fulfilled their obligations
under those agreements in accordance with their terms (and those terms provide for the Software concerned to be
updated free of charge, for errors to be corrected and for the Software to be amended to reflect changes in the law
which impact on that Software).

Each Group Member has a prudent disaster recovery plan in respect of the Computer Systems which would
permit all of the critical functions of the relevant Group Member which are run on the Computer Systems to be
restored within 24 hours, the balance of functions being restored within 48 hours. Each Group Member has tested
such disaster recovery plan in the last 12 months and that test resulted in full restoration of those functions within
those timescales.

Each Group Member has prudent procedures in place to ensure the security of the Computer Systems and data
stored on them.

The Computer Systems (and each part of each of them) have functioned consistently and accurately since being
installed (except for pre-planned maintenance shut downs).

Each Group Member has a sufficient number of employees who are technically competent and appropriately
trained to ensure the proper operation and use of the Computer Systems.

Both the Computer Systems and their methods of operation are comprehensively and clearly documented.
The data storage capability, functionality and performance of each item of the Computer Systems and the

Computer Systems as a whole are wholly satisfactory for each Group Member's business (as it is now
conducted).

PROPERTY

18.

18.1

18.2

18.3

Details of the Property

The particulars of the Property shown in Schedule 5 (including in the case of registered land the class of title and
title number) are true, complete and correct.

The Property comprise all the freehold and leasehold properties owned by the Group or occupied by it under
licence or in which the Group has any other interest.

Each Group Member specified in Schedule 5 as title holder is the legal and beneficial owner of the Property for
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19.

19.1

20.

20.1

20.2

21.

21.1

the estate or interest stated in Schedule 5, and, where appropriate, the Group Member’s title to such Property is
registered at the Land Registry.

There is not and so far as the Warrantors are aware has not been in force any policy relating to defective title or
restrictive covenant indemnity in respect of the property which enures for the benefit of any Group Company.

The title deeds to the Property are in the relevant Group Member's possession free from any Encumbrance.

No Group Member owns, is in occupation of or is entitled to any estate or interest in any freehold or leasehold
property other than the Property. No Group Member is party to any uncompleted agreement to acquire or dispose
of any freehold or leasehold property.

Except in relation to the Property, no Group Member has any liability (whether actual or contingent) in relation to
any freehold or leasehold property and in particular no Group Member has ever assumed any liability under a
lease (whether as landlord, tenant, guarantor or otherwise) other than any leases disclosed in accordance with
paragraph 25.

Rights enjoyed with the Property

There are appurtenant to the Property all rights and easements necessary for its present use and enjoyment, and
in particular:

19.1.1 the Property is served by drainage, water, electricity, telecommunication and gas services all of which
are connected to the mains by media located entirely on or under the Property, the passage and
provision of such services are uninterrupted and neither the Sellers nor an Group Member know of any
imminent or likely interruption of such passage or provision;

19.1.2 none of the facilities necessary for the enjoyment and use of the Property for its current use is enjoyed
on terms entitling any person to terminate or curtail its use;

19.1.3 there is pedestrian and vehicle access to the Property from a highway maintainable at public expense
and, where necessary, means of escape in case of emergency from the Property to such a highway
which is adequate for its present use and enjoyment, and there is no restriction on use of such access or
means of escape by anyone whom any Group Member may authorise to use them; and

19.1.4 all such rights and easements are enjoyed on a freehold basis or (where the Property is leasehold) for a
period at least as long as the unexpired term of the lease.

Occupation and use of the Property

Except for any leases, tenancies or other rights of occupation to which the Property is subject, as disclosed in
accordance with paragraph 25, the relevant Group Member has vacant possession of the Property and no other
person has any right (actual or contingent) to possession or occupation of the Property, or any interest in it.

The use of the Property for the purpose stated in Schedule 5 corresponds to the use to which it is in fact put or
(where the Property is not presently in use) to the use to which it was last in fact put and the Property is not used
for any other purpose.

Matters affecting the Property
The Property is not affected by any of the following matters:
21.1.1 any reservation, covenant, restriction, stipulation, condition, exception, easement, wayleave, licence,
franchise, option, right to acquire, mortgage, charge, encumbrance or other third party right, or any
Contract to create, or claim made by any person to be entitled to, any of the forgoing nor is any Group

Member a party to any negotiations to enter into any contract to create any of the forgoing;

21.1.2 any matter which conflicts with the present use of the Property, or which would otherwise restrict its
continued possession and enjoyment;
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22.1

222

23.

23.1

21.1.3 any document relating to ownership of, or responsibility for maintenance of, a boundary;

21.1.4 any outstanding notice complaining of a breach or alleging breach of covenant or of any other
restriction or condition which bind the relevant Group Member, or any dispute or complaint within the
3 years prior to the date of this Agreement or the date of commencement of the relevant lease or
contract (whichever is the later), whether actual or threatened, with any neighbour, tenant, landlord or
other person relating to the extent, use, boundaries, enjoyment or occupation of the Property or with
regard to any actual or alleged agreement, easement, right, covenant, liability or other matter affecting
or relating to the Property;

21.1.5 any outstanding notice, order, demand, resolution, proposal, complaint or requirement issued or made,
or to the knowledge of any Group Member or the Sellers intended to be issued or made, by any local or
other competent authority or body concerning any or the following: compulsory acquisition, clearance,
demolition or closing, the carrying out of any work (including any work required by reason of the fact
that the Property is a listed building), the modification of any planning permission, enforcement of any
breach or alleged breach of planning control, the alteration of the line of any road or footpath, the
discontinuance of any use, the imposition of any building or improvement line, any breach of or non-
compliance with building or fire regulations or any other matter which would adversely affect the
Property's value;

21.1.6 any requirement relating to it or its use which although not registered in the Register of Local Land
Charges is capable of registration in that Register;

21.1.7 any receipt of compensation as a result of any refusal of any application for planning permission or the
imposition of any restriction in relation to any planning permission, listed building consent or
conservation area consent;

21.1.8 any agreement made under section 52 Town and Country Planning Act 1971 or section 106 Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 or any other form of statutory agreement from time to time relating to the
condition and use of the Property or the services and amenities serving it or any highway serving it or
adjoining it; or

21.1.9 any planning consent or deemed consent or other right for the extraction of minerals from the Property
or for quarrying in or on the Property.

Rates and outgoings

No Group member has received any written demand in relation to the Property requiring payment of any
outgoings (other than uniform business rates, water charges and other standard payments to the relevant water
company and, in the case of leasehold property, rent, service charge, insurance premiums and other payment s
due under the lease and payments due in respect of the supply of electricity, gas or telecommunications services)
whether of a periodically recurring nature or otherwise, and whether payable by the owner or occupier of the
Property.

The rateable value of the Property and the effect of all phasing provisions with regard to any increase or decrease
of the rateable value are set out in the Disclosure Letter, no appeal by or on behalf of any Group Company has
been lodged or is pending in respect of the rateable value and so far as the Warrantor’s are aware there are no
current proposals for any increase of the rateable value of the Property. All buildings forming part of the
Property have been occupied (within the meaning of section 65(2) Local Government Finance Act 1988)
continuously for at least the last 6 months (ending on the date of this Agreement) and used for the purpose for
which they were constructed or have been adapted.

Conditions of the Property

The Property is in a good and substantial state of repair and condition free from any material defects, whether or
not inherent defects or design defects, and fit for the purposes for which it is presently used. There have not been
used in the Property any substances which are not in conformity with the relevant British or European standards
or codes of practice or which are generally known to be deleterious to health and safety or to the durability of
buildings or other structures or finishes in the particular circumstances in which they are used. There are no
uncompleted works of any description at the Property.



23.2

233

24.

24.1

24.2

243

25.

25.1

25.2

253

25.4

255

25.6

25.7

25.8

259

The Property is not and has not been affected by flooding or subsidence.

Where any building on the Property was completed within the past 12 years, the relevant Group Member has the
benefit of collateral warranties given by the building contractor involved with its construction and full and
accurate details are set out in the Disclosure Letter.

Compliance with statutes and planning obligations

No Group Member has received any written notice alleging that nor are the Warrantors’ aware that the use of the
Property (and the use of plant and machinery in connection with it) and the construction and layout of the
Property (including any alteration carried out to it) are not the permitted user under or do not comply with the
provisions of any relevant legislation from time to time (including the Offices Shops and Railway Premises Act
1963, the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, the Public Health Acts 1936 and 1961, the Fire Precautions Act
1971, the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974, the Control of Pollution Act 1974, The Water Act 1989, the
Environmental Protection Act 1990, the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, the
Planning (Hazardous Substances) Act 1990, the Planning (Consequential Provisions) Act 1990, the Planning and
Compensation Act 1991, the Sunday Trading Act 1994, the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 and the Party
Wall Act 1996) and regulations made under such legislation or are not in accordance with the requirements of the
local planning, environmental health, building control, fire and all other competent authorities or any restrictions,
conditions and covenants imposed by or pursuant to such legislation have not been observed and performed.

No planning permission relating to the Property necessary for the continued use of the Property stated in
Schedule 5 has been given on a temporary or personal basis. No planning permission is subject to any unusual or
onerous conditions. No such permission or consent is the subject of a subsisting challenge as to its validity.

The Warrantors’ are not aware that any construction or alterations to the Property have been carried out during
the period of the relevant Group Member’s occupation of the Property without having obtained necessary
approvals and certificates pursuant to the Building Act 1984, the London Buildings Act (Amendment) Act 1939
and regulations and byelaws made pursuant to such legislation.

Leases affecting the Property

The Disclosure Letter fully and accurately discloses any lease, tenancy or other right of occupation in respect of
the Property, whether granted by or to any Group Member, and any Contract in respect of any such lease,
tenancy or other right.

All quarterly rents payable under any lease of the property due from or to a Group Member prior to the date
hereof have been paid or (as the case may be received) by such Group member and (insofar as an invoice in
respect of the same has been received or issued by a Group Member) all insurance premiums, service charges
and other amounts payable or (as the case may be) receivable by any Group Member, are fully paid up to date;
There are no outstanding rent reviews under any of the leases of the Property;

There are no arrangements relating to the variation of the documents disclosed under paragraph 25.1 above;

No Group Member has received or served a notice in relation to any breach or alleged breach of any covenant or
other provision, and no person has exercised or sought to exercise any right of distraint, forfeiture or entry in
respect of the Property during the period of occupation of the Property by the relevant Group Member;

There are no rent deposit arrangements relating to the Property;

A copy of all notices served or received by a Group member under Part II of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954
in relation to the Property are attached to the Disclosure Letter;

Any waiver, or the revocation of the right of waiver, whether by any Group Member or a landlord, of the exempt
treatment for value added tax.

No Group Member has been given any waiver of its obligations in relation to the property by its landlord and no
Group Member has given any waiver of the obligations owed to it in relation to the property by its landlord or its
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sub-tenants.
Replies to enquiries

The replies and other disclosures given by the Seller's Solicitors to the Buyer's Solicitors' written enquiries and
any other disclosures by the Seller's Solicitors to the Buyer's Solicitors concerning the Property are complete,
true and accurate in all respects and not misleading in any respect. For the purposes of this Warranty, where any
such reply to enquiries or disclosure refers to the knowledge, information, belief or awareness of the Warrantors
(or similar expression) the Warrantors will be deemed to have such knowledge, information, belief or awareness
as the Warrantors would have obtained had the Warrantors made all due and careful enquiries into the subject
matter or that reply or disclosure.

ENVIRONMENTAL / HEALTH AND SAFETY (EHS) MATTERS

27.

28.

28.1

28.2

28.3

28.4

29.

29.1

Definitions
For the purposes of paragraphs 27 to 33 inclusive:

"EHS Law" means all applicable law (whether criminal, civil or administrative), common law, judgment, court
order, statute, statutory instrument, regulation, directive, European Union decision (insofar as legally binding),
bye-law, treaty, government circular, code of practice and guidance notes, or instruction or decision of any
competent regulatory body in force from time to time relating to EHS Matters;

"EHS Matters" means all or any matters relating to the pollution or protection of the Environment or harm to or
the protection of human health and safety or the health of animals and plants;

"EHS Permits" means all or any permits, consents, licences, approvals, certificates and other authorisations
required by EHS Law for the operation of the business of the relevant Group Member or the condition or use of
the Property;

"Environment" means any air (including air within natural or man-made structures above or below ground), water
(including territorial, coastal and inland waters, ground water and water in drains and sewers), and land
(including surface land, sub-surface land, seabed and river bed under water); and

"Hazardous Substance" means any matter, whether alone or in combination with any other matter and whether in
the form of solid, liquid, gas or vapour, capable of causing harm to man or any other living organism or
damaging to the Environment or public health or welfare, including “radioactive materials” as defined in the
Radioactive Substances Act 1960 (or any re-enactment thereof), ozone depleting substances, and genetically
modified organisms.

EHS Permits

Each Group Member has lawfully obtained all EHS Permits. Each EHS Permit is in full force and effect and the
relevant Group Member complies and has complied at all times with all conditions of each EHS Permit.

True copies of all EHS Permits obtained by each Group Member (including any variation notices applicable
thereto) are attached to the Disclosure Letter.

No works or costs are or will be necessary to obtain or secure compliance with or maintain any EHS Permit, or
otherwise to comply with EHS Law.

No Group Member has received any communication in any form in respect of any EHS Permit varying,
modifying, revoking, suspending or cancelling the same or indicating an intention or threatening so to do and so
far as the Warrantors are aware there are no facts or circumstances which may result in any EHS Permit being
varied, modified, revoked or suspended or which may prejudice its renewal.

Compliance with EHS Law

Each Group Member and its officers, agents and employees comply and have at all times complied with EHS



Law.

29.2 No Group Member has received any communication in any form from any relevant authority from which it
appears that it may be or is alleges to be in breach of EHS Law, or where failure to comply with such
communication could constitute a breach of EHS Law or where compliance with such communication could be
secured by further proceedings by such relevant authority. So far as the Warrantors are aware there are no
circumstances which might give rise to such a communication being received and the Sellers are not aware of
any intention on the part of any such authority to give such communication.

30. Liability

30.1 There are no facts or circumstances existing at the date hereof known to the Warrantors which may give rise to
any actual or potential liability (whether civil or criminal) on the part of any Group Member in relation to EHS
Matters.

30.2 No Group Member has received any notice or intimation of any complaint or claim from any person in respect of
EHS Matters.

30.3 No Group Member is, nor has any Group Member been, engaged in any action, litigation, arbitration or dispute
resolution proceedings or subject to any investigation under EHS Law or otherwise in relation to EHS Matters
and the Warrantors are not aware of any such matters pending or being threatened or of any circumstances or
facts likely to give rise to any such matters.

31. Contamination

31.1 So far as the Warrantors are aware all sites now or formerly owned or occupied by any Group Member are free
from any Hazardous Substance which could give rise (whether on the relevant site or elsewhere) to any actual or
potential liability on the part of the relevant Group Member under EHS Law.

31.2 There are no circumstances which may require expenditure (whether by a Group Member or by any other person
or authority) in cleaning up or decontamination or otherwise on the Property or on any sites now or formerly
owned or occupied by any Group Member in order to comply with EHS Law or otherwise for the Protection of
the Environment.

31.3 Each Group Member has complied with it duties under the Control of Asbestos at Work Regulations 2002
including but not limited to the preparation of a management plan or audit and implementing any
recommendations in such a plan or audit.

32. Packaging

Each Group Member complies and has at all times complied with the Producer Responsibility Obligations
(Packaging Waste) Regulations 1997.

33. Information

33.1 Each Group Member has at all times properly supplied to the competent authorities all information required by
ES Law to be supplied, all such information given (whether under a legal obligation or otherwise) was correct at
the time the information was supplied and all information contained on public registers relating to such matters is
correct.

33.2 Full details of any remedial work carried out at any sites now or formerly owned or occupied by any Group
Member and of any environmental assessment, audit, review or investigation conducted by or on behalf of any
Group Member or otherwise in relation to any such sites are set out in or attached to the Disclosure Letter.
EMPLOYEES

34. Remuneration and employees

34.1 Full particulars of the identities, dates of commencement of employment (or appointment to office), dates of
birth, terms and conditions of employment and remuneration (including any bonus, commission, profit sharing,
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share and other incentive schemes, and collective or workforce agreements) of all the employees, workers and
officers of each Group Member are fully and accurately set out in the Disclosure Letter and copies of all their
written service agreements or contracts of employment or particulars of employment statements are attached to
the Disclosure Letter.

There are no amounts owing to any present or former officers, workers or employees of any Group Member,
other than remuneration accrued (but not yet due for payment) in respect of the calendar month in which this
Agreement is executed or for reimbursement of business expenses incurred during such month, and none of them
is entitled to accrued but unpaid holiday pay or accrued but untaken holiday leave in respect of the relevant
Group Member's current or previous holiday year.

All Contracts of employment between each Group Member and its directors and employees are terminable by the
relevant Group Member by giving the applicable minimum period of notice specified in section 86 Employment
Rights Act 1996, and no Group Member is contractually obliged to make any payment as a consequence of the
termination of any such Contract.

Other than as fully, fairly and clearly disclosed in the Disclosure Letter, no Group Member has:

34.4.1 offered to employ or engage any person since the Accounts Date or where such employment or
engagement will take effect after the date of this Agreement;

34.4.2 given or received notice to terminate the employment or engagement of any person since The Accounts
Date or where such notice has not yet expired; or

34.4.3 made, agreed or proposed any change of terms and conditions of employment or engagement since the
Accounts Date or where such change of terms and conditions has not yet taken effect.

There is no person previously employed or engaged by any Group Member who now has or may have a
statutory or contractual right to return to work or to be re-instated or re-engaged by the relevant Group Member.

There are no employees who have been absent due to sickness leave for more than 3 months in the 12 month
period ending on the date of this Agreement.

No Group Member has recognised, or done any act which might be construed as recognition of, a trade union
and no Group Member is party to any agreement with any trade union or organisation of employees or workers
nor are any steps being taken by employees, workers or other representatives to ensure trade union recognition.

No Group Member is involved, or has during the 12 months prior to the date of this Agreement been involved, in
any strike, lock-out, industrial or trade dispute or any negotiations with any trade union or body or employees or
workers.

There are no homeworking, part-time, job share, flexitime or flexible working arrangements or early retirement
schemes applicable to any employees of any Group Member. There are no schemes or programmes for the
employment or training or inward or outward secondment of workers by any Group Member other than under its
full control.

No Group Member operates, intends to operate or has operated any short time working scheme or arrangement or
any redundancy or redeployment scheme or arrangement, whether formal or informal, contractual or non-
contractual, which provides for payments greater than those required by statute or for notice periods greater than
those set out in contracts of employment or engagement.

No Group Member uses the service of outworkers, agency or other self-employed persons, contracted labour or
agents.

Each Group Member has, in relation to all present and former employees and workers, complied with all statutes,
regulations, orders and codes of conduct relating to employment and relations with employees, and trade unions
and has maintained adequate and suitable records, whether or not required to do so by law, regarding the service
of each of its employees and has complied with all agreements for the time being having effect as regards such
relations or the conditions of service of its employees (whether collectively or individually).
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Pensions
For the purpose of this paragraph:

35.1.1 “Benefits Arrangement” means any occupational pension scheme, life assurance scheme, death benefit
scheme, personal pension scheme, retirement annuity contract, stakeholder pension scheme, sickness or
accident benefit scheme or any similar arrangement;

35.1.2 “relevant benefits” has the meaning given to the expression in section 612 of the Income and
Corporation Taxes Act 1998, but without the exception of benefits payable solely by reason of
accident;

35.1.3 “Group’s Plans” means the group personal pension or stakeholder schemes applicable to the Company
administered by Allied Dunbar and known as
InTouch Directors Scheme : reference S30396-736,
InTouch Group plc : reference S16101-245,
InTouch Meridian GIRP Scheme, and
InTouch Group Retirement Scheme;

35.1.4 “OPS” means an occupational pension scheme (as defined in the Pension Schemes Act 1993) known as
The InTouch Retirements Benefits Scheme, established by a trust deed dated 12 march 1984 and now
governed by it and a deed and rules dated 10 September 2002;

35.1.5 “Life Assurance Scheme” means an occupational pension scheme (as defined in the Pension Schemes
Act 1993) known as InTouch Group Plc Death in Service Scheme operated by Canada Life, established
by a trust deed dated 31 October 2000 and now governed by that deed; and

35.1.6 “Group’s Schemes” means the Group Plans, the OPS and the Life Assurance Scheme.

Save under the Group’s Schemes neither the Company nor any of the Group Members has any liability or
potential liability in relation to any Benefits Arrangement or has any liability or potential liability or is party to
any custom, practice, arrangement or agreement to pay, provide or contribute to the provision of relevant benefits
or benefits payable on the attaining of a specified age.

Apart from the Group’s Schemes neither the Company nor any of the Group Members has participated in or
contributed to any Benefits Arrangement other than one which has been fully wound up.

The Company or as the case may be the Group Members hold written authorities from the members of the Group
Schemes to deduct their contributions to the Group Schemes from their wages.

The Disclosure Letter contains full and accurate details of each of the Group’s Schemes and the obligations and
liabilities of the Company and each of the Group Members under each such scheme including (i) full and
accurate copies of all announcements, explanatory booklets and insurance policies of current effect and
additionally, for the OPS and the Life Assurance Scheme, all trust deeds and rules of current effect, (ii) details of
all discretionary benefits and practices and redundancy policies, (iii) the rate and amount of contributions payable
by and in respect of each person under the each of the Group’s Schemes and (iv) details of the costs of the each
of the Group’s Schemes met by the Company and the Group Members.

Save as described in the Disclosure Letter, no undertaking or assurance has been given, whether legally binding
or not, by the Company or any of the Group Members as to the introduction, continuance, increase or
improvement of any relevant benefits or as to the making of contributions to any Benefits Arrangement and
neither the Company nor any of the Group Members provides or has indicated that it will provide any relevant
benefits or any such contributions on an ex gratia basis.

The OPS and the Life Assurance Scheme are approved under Chapter I of Part XIV of the Income and
Corporation Taxes Act 1988 and the Group’s Plans either are approved under Chapter IV of that Part XIV or
registered under s2 of the Welfare Reform and Pensions Act 1999 and the Warrantors are not aware of any fact
or circumstances which could cause their approval or as the case may be registration to be withdrawn.

The Group’s Schemes have at all times complied with all legal and regulatory requirements (including those
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relating to equal treatment, access to membership and data protection).

The Company and each of the Group Members has at all times complied with all legal and regulatory
requirements in relation to the Group’s Schemes and has not unlawfully discriminated against any person in
respect of the conditions for eligibility for membership of the Group’s Schemes or the basis on which
contributions have been paid

The Company and each of the Group Members has at all times complied with any duty to facilitate access to a
stakeholder pension scheme under section 3 of the Welfare Reform and Pensions Act 1999 (and details of any
stakeholder pension scheme designated under that section are contained in the Disclosure Letter).

No person who is or has been a part-time employee or officer of the Company or any of the Group Members has
ever been excluded from membership of the Group’s Schemes because of that part-time employment.

Save for routine and undisputed claims for benefit, no claim, dispute, complaint or investigation (including
ombudsman proceedings) has arisen or been threatened which relates to the Group’s Schemes or to the provision
of relevant benefits to or in respect of any current of former employee or officer of the Company or any of the
Group Members, and there is no reason why any such claim, dispute, complaint or investigation could arise.

All amounts payable to or in respect of the Group’s Schemes have been paid and there are no fees or expenses
relating to the Group’s Schemes which the Company or any of the Group Members is liable to meet which have
been incurred but have not become payable.

No current or former employee of the Company or any of the Group Members became an employee as the result
of a transfer to which the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 1981 applied.

All benefits under the Group’s Plans and the OPS are calculated on a money purchase basis only, there is no
obligation on the Company or any of the Group Members or under any of the Group’s Plans or the OPS to
provide any specified level of benefits or to ensure that the benefits equate (approximately or exactly) to any
particular amount and there is no obligation on the Company or any of the Group Members under the OPS apart
from the payment of contributions in respect of lan Haigh at the rate of 3% per annum of his basic salary.

All benefits under the Life Assurance Scheme are fully insured.

Neither the Company nor any of the Group Members nor any employee or officer of any of them has been a
party to an act or a deliberate failure to act the main purpose or one of the main purposes of which was to prevent
the recovery of the whole or any part of a debt which was, or might become, due from any employer in relation
to any occupational pension scheme under section 75 of the Pensions Act 1995 or to prevent such a debt
becoming due or to reduce the amount of such a debt which was or would otherwise become due where the act
occurred, or the failure to act first occurred, on or after 11 June 2003.

CONTRACTS

36.

36.1

36.2

36.3

Insurance

All insurable assets of each Group Member are, and have at all material times been, insured in amounts equal to
their full replacement or reinstatement value against all risks normally insured against by persons carrying on the
same classes of business as the relevant Group Member.

If the Property is leasehold the lease contains an absolute covenant (without any qualification whatsoever) on the
landlord to insure the Property in an amount equal to its full replacement or reinstatement value against all risks
normally insured against. The Group Member has in its possession a copy of the insurance policy effected by the
landlord for the current year and evidence that the insurance premium has been paid. The lease contains an
absolute covenant (without any qualification whatsoever) on the landlord to rebuild or reinstate the Property,
access or essential services to it (on a like for like basis) in the event of their damage or destruction.

Each Group Member is, and has at all material times been, adequately covered against accident, damage, injury,
third party loss, loss of profits and any other risk normally insured against by persons carrying on the same
classes of business as the relevant Group Member.
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All premiums due in relation to each Group Member's insurances have been paid, and nothing has been done or
omitted to be done by any Group Member which would make any policy of insurance of any Group Member
void or voidable or so far as the Warrantors are aware, which might lead to any liability under such insurance
being avoided by the insurers or, so far as the Warrantors are aware, which is likely to result in an increase in
premium or so far as the Warrantors are aware, which would release any insurer from any of its obligations under
any policy of insurance of any Group Member.

No insurance claim is pending or outstanding and so far as the Warrantors are aware, there are no circumstances
which might result in any such claim.

Full particulars of each Group Member's insurances and of all claims made against those insurances in the last 2
years are set out in or attached to the Disclosure Letter.

Financing and working capital

The amount borrowed by each Group Member from its bankers does not exceed the amount of the facility agreed
with such bankers and the total amount borrowed by each Group Member from whatever source does not exceed
any limitation on its borrowing contained in its articles of association or in any Contract, debenture, loan stock
deed or any other document.

No Group Member has engaged in any borrowing or financing not required to be reflected in its statutory
accounts.

Full and accurate details of all overdrafts, loans or other financial facilities outstanding or available to each
Group Member are set out in the Disclosure Letter and copies of all documents relating to those facilities are
attached to the Disclosure Letter. Nothing has been done or omitted to be done by any Group Member which
might affect or prejudice the continuance of any of those facilities in full force and effect; and no person who
provides any of those facilities has given any indication that it may be withdrawn or its terms altered.

The Disclosure Letter contains details, correct at the date stated in it, of the credit or debit balance on all the bank
or deposit accounts of each Group Member. Since that date there have been no payments out of any of those
accounts except for routine payments in the ordinary and usual course of the relevant Group Member's business
and the balances on those accounts are not now substantially different from the balances shown in the Disclosure
Letter.

No indebtedness of any Group Member is due and payable and no security over any of the assets of any Group
Member is now enforceable. No Group Member has failed to comply with any notice from a creditor requiring
any payment to be made or seeking the enforcement of any security which it may hold over any Group Member's

assets.

No person has given any guarantee of or security for any overdraft, loan, other financial facility granted to any
Group Member or other liability of any Group Member.

No Group Member has applied for or received any grant, subsidy or financial assistance from any government
department or other body.

Material contracts

No Group Member is, or has been since the Accounts Date, a party to, liable under or subject to any Contract
which:

involves agency, distributorship, franchising, marketing rights, information sharing, manufacturing rights,
consultancy, servicing, maintenance, inspection or testing;

involves partnership, joint venture, consortium, joint development, shareholders or similar arrangements;
involves hire purchase, conditional sale, credit sale, leasing, hiring or similar arrangements;

involves or is likely to involve any capital expenditure by the relevant Group Member or involves or is likely to
involve an aggregate expenditure or receipt in excess of £10,000 by the relevant Group Member;
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is incapable of complete performance in accordance with its terms within 6 months after the date on which it was
entered into;

cannot readily be fulfilled or performed by the relevant Group Member;
the Sellers believe may result in a loss to the relevant Group Member;

involves or is likely to involve the receipt of payment of a price materially above or below the prevailing market
price ruling at the date of this Agreement or any other obligation, restriction, expenditure or receipt of an
unusual, onerous or exceptional nature;

is for the supply of goods by or to the relevant Group Member on a sale or return basis or on a consignment
stock basis;

is for the supply of goods or services by or to the relevant Group Member on terms under which retrospective or
future discounts, price reductions or other financial incentives are given;

is for the supply of goods or services by or to the relevant Group Member which is not on the current standard
terms and conditions on which the relevant Group Member normally contracts to buy or supply goods or
services, copies of which are attached to the Disclosure Letter;

involves the forward purchase or sale of any currency, commodity, precious metal or other asset;

involves delegation of any power under a power of attorney or authorisation of any person (as agent or
otherwise) to bind or commit the relevant Group Member to any obligation;

restricts the freedom of the relevant Group Member to carry on its business in any part of the world or to use or
exploit any of its assets, in each case in such manner as it may think fit;

involves conditions, warranties, indemnities or representations given in connection with a sale of shares or an
undertaking or fixed assets;

is a guarantee, indemnity, surety or form of comfort in respect of the obligations of a third party, under which
any liability or contingent liability is outstanding;

includes a term which is not, or may not be, binding on the relevant Group Member or any other party in
consequence of the Unfair Terms in Consumer Contracts Regulations 1999; or

is not on arm's length terms or is in any way otherwise than in the ordinary and proper course of the relevant
Group Member's business.

Other business matters

During the 12 months ending on the date of this Agreement there has been no substantial change in the basis or
terms on which any person is prepared to do business with any Group Member (apart from normal price
changes), and no substantial customer or supplier or any Group Member (providing 5 per cent or more of a
Group Member's supplies or turnover in any accounting year) has ceased or substantially reduced its business
with any Group Member, and no indication has been received by an Group Member or the Sellers that there will
or may be any such change, cessation or reduction.

No Group Member carries on business under any name other than its own corporate name or any other name
specified in the Disclosure Letter and there are no circumstances which might prevent any Group Member from
continuing to carry on business under such names.

During the 12 months ending on the date of this Agreement no code of practice and no notice affecting prices
has been issued by any government department, association or similar body which relates to any Group
Member's business.

COMPLIANCE, DISPUTES
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42.1

Company law matters

Compliance has been made with all legal requirements in connection with the formation of each Group Member
and all issues and grants of shares, debentures, notes, mortgages or other securities of each Group Member.

The copy of the memorandum and articles of association of each Group Member attached to the Disclosure
Letter is true and complete and has embodied in it or attached to it a copy of every resolution or agreement as is
referred to in section 380(4) CA 1985. Each Group Member has at all times carried on its business and affairs in
all respects in accordance with its memorandum and articles of association and all such resolutions and
agreements.

All returns, particulars, resolutions and other documents required to be filed with or delivered to the Registrar of
Companies by each Group Member or any of its officers have been correctly and properly prepared and so filed
and delivered, and no such returns, particulars, resolutions or other documents have been so filed or delivered
during the period of 14 days ending on the date of this Agreement.

The statutory books (including all registers and minute books) of each Group Member have been properly kept
and contain an accurate and complete record of the matters which should be dealt with in those books and no
notice or allegation that any of them is incorrect or should be rectified has been received.

General legal compliance

Each Group Member has obtained all necessary licences, consents, permits and authorities (public and private) to
enable it to carry on its business effectively in the places and in the manner in which such business is now carried
on. All such licences, consents, permits and authorities (copies of which are enclosed with the Disclosure Letter)
are valid and subsisting and have been complied with in all respects and the Sellers know of no reason why any
of them should be suspended, cancelled or revoked.

Each Group Member has conducted its business in accordance with all applicable legal and administrative
requirements in any jurisdiction in which it trades or conducts business (including the Consumer Credit Act 1974
and the Data Protection Acts 1984 and 1998).

There is no pending legislation, statutory instrument, directive, regulation or standard (including any British or
European Union standard) which is likely to affect the manner in which any Group Member conducts its business
or the nature or specification of its products or supplies.

So far as the Warrantors are aware, none of the officers, agents or employees of any Group Member (during the
course of his duties in relation to the relevant Group Member) has committed or omitted to do any act or thing in
contravention of any law, order, regulation or the like in the United Kingdom or elsewhere.

So far as the Warrantors are aware, there is not pending, or in existence, any investigation or enquiry by, or on
behalf of, any governmental or other body in respect of the affairs of any Group Member.

Fair trading

No agreement, transaction, practice or arrangement carried on or proposed to be carried on by any Group
Member (or by any person for whose acts or defaults any Group Member may be contractually or vicariously
liable), whether unilaterally or with others, or to which any Group Member (or any such person) is or proposes to
become a party, and no state of affairs applicable to any Group Member (or any such person):

42.1.1 is or ought to have been registered in accordance with the provisions of the Restrictive Trade Practices
acts 1976 and 1977 (the "RTPA") or is or has been the subject or any enquiry, investigation or
proceeding under the RTPA or the Resale Prices Act 1976;

42.1.2 is or has been the subject of an enquiry, investigation, reference or report under the Fair Trading Act
1973 (or any other legislation relating to monopolies or mergers) or the Competition Act 1980;

42.1.3 infringes or falls within the scope of Chapter I of the Competition Act 1998, or constitutes an abuse of
dominant position contrary to Chapter II of such Act or is or has been the subject of any enquiry,
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request for information, investigation or proceedings in respect of either of these Chapters;

42.1.4 infringes or falls within the scope of Article 81 of the Treaty establishing the European Union, or
constitutes an abuse of dominant position contrary to Article 82 of the said Treaty, or infringes or falls
within the scope of any regulation or other enactment made under Article 83 of such Treaty, or is or has
been the subject of any enquiry, request for information, investigation or proceeding in respect of any
of those Articles;

42.1.5 infringes or falls within the scope of any other competition, anti-restrictive trade practice, anti-trust or
consumer protection law or legislation applicable in the United Kingdom or elsewhere and not
specifically mentioned in this paragraph or is or has been subject to any investigation, request for
information, notice or other communication by any court, governmental or regulatory authority; or

42.1.6 contravenes the provisions of the Trade Descriptions Acts 1968 and 1972,

and there are no circumstances known to the Sellers indicating that any such enquiry, investigation, proceeding,
reference or report relating to any such matter is likely to be made.

No Group Member has made or threatened to make any complaint against any other person to any relevant
authority under any law or legislation referred to in this paragraph.

No Group Member has given any assurance or undertaking to the Restrictive Practices Court, the Director
General of Fair Trading, the Secretary of State for Trade and Industry, the Competition Commission, the
Commission or Court of First Instance or Court of Justice of the European Union, or any other court, person or
body, and no Group Member is subject to any act, decision, regulation, order or other instrument (statutory or
otherwise) made by any of them relating to any matter referred to in this paragraph.

So far as the Warrantors are aware, no Group Member is in default or in contravention of any article, act,
decision, regulation, order or other instrument or of any assurance or undertaking relating to any matter referred
to in this paragraph.

Litigation

No Group Member and no person for whose acts or defaults any Group Member may be contractually or
vicariously liable is involved (whether as claimant, defendant or otherwise) in any civil, criminal, tribunal,
arbitration, administrative or other proceedings.

No civil, criminal, tribunal, arbitration, administrative or other proceedings are pending or threatened by or
against or concern any Group Member and there are no facts or circumstances likely to result in any such
proceedings.

There is no outstanding or unsatisfied judgment, decree, order, award or decision of a court, tribunal, arbitrator
or governmental agency against any Group Member and no Group Member is party to any undertaking or
assurance given to a court, tribunal or any other person in connection with the determination or settlement of any
claim or proceedings.

Default

No Group Member has manufactured, sold or supplied any product or service which did not or does not comply
fully with all applicable laws, regulations, standards (including any British, United States (federal or state) or
European Union standards) and customers' specifications or any representation or contractual term expressly or
impliedly made by the relevant Group Member or which is, was or will become defective or unsafe.

No Group Member is in breach or has received any notice of any breach of any Contract to which it is a party,
and so far as the Warrantors are aware, no other party to any such Contract is in breach of it. All agreements,
rights, commitments, obligations, arrangements and understandings to which any Group Member is a party are
valid and enforceable. The Sellers are not aware of any grounds for the termination, rescission, avoidance or
repudiation of any Contract by the relevant Group Member or any other party to any such Contract.

Insolvency
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No meeting has been convened at which a resolution will be proposed, no petition has been presented, no order
has been made and no resolution has been passed for the winding-up of any Group Member or for the
appointment of any provisional liquidator. No Group Member has called any formal or informal meeting of all or
any of its creditors.

No administrative receiver, receiver or manager has been appointed of the whole or any part of the property,
assets or undertaking of any Group Member.

No administration order has been made appointing an administrator in respect of any Group Member and no
petition has been filed or any application has been made for an administration order in respect of any Group
Member.

No Group Member and no director of any Group Member and so far as the Warrantors are aware no other
creditor of any Group Member (acting alone, jointly or collectively) has:

45.4.1 filed any notice with the court for the appointment of an administrator of any Group Member; or

45.4.2 given notice of an intention to file notice with the court for the appointment of an administrator of any
Group Member;

in either case as provided in paragraphs 22 to 34 of Schedule B1 Insolvency Act 1986.

No voluntary arrangement has been proposed or approved under Part I Insolvency Act 1986 and no compromise
or arrangement has been proposed, agreed to or sanctioned under section 425 Insolvency Act 1986 in respect of
any Group Member.

No distress, execution or other process has been levied on or applied for in respect of any asset of any Group
Member.

No Group Member has stopped or suspended the payment of its debts or received a written demand pursuant to
section 123(1)(a) Insolvency Act 1986 and no Group Member is insolvent or unable to pay its debts within the
meaning of section 123 Insolvency Act 1986.

No disqualification order has at any time been made pursuant to the provisions of the Company Directors
Disqualification Act 1986 against any former or current officer of any Group Member.

So far as the Warrantors are aware, there are no facts in existence which are likely to lead to any of the events or
circumstances referred to in this paragraph.

No Group Member and none of the directors of any Group Member has consulted a person qualified to act as an
insolvency practitioner under Part XIII of the Insolvency Act 1986 with a view to minimising the potential loss
to the relevant Group Member's creditors or otherwise in relation to any financial difficulty of such Group
Member.

No Group Member has been a party to any transaction at an undervalue as defined in section 238 of the
Insolvency Act 1986 nor has any Group Member given or received any preference as defined in section 239 of
the Insolvency Act 1986, in either case within the period of 2 years ending on the date of this Agreement.

Effects of the Agreement

The execution of this Agreement and the observance and performance of its provisions will not and is not likely
to:

46.1.1 result in a breach of any Contract, law, regulation, order, judgment, injunction, undertaking, decree or
similar imposition to or by which any Group Member is party or bound, or entitle any person to
terminate or avoid any Contract to which any Group Member is party, or have any material effect on
any such Contract;



46.1.2 result in the loss or impairment of or any default under any licence, authorisation or consent required by
any Group Member for the purposes of its business;

46.1.3 result in the creation, imposition, crystallisation or enforcement of any Encumbrance whatsoever on
any of the assets of any Group Member;

46.1.4 result in any present or future indebtedness of any Group Member becoming due and payable, or
capable of being declared due and payable, prior to its stated maturity date or in any financial facility of

any Group Member being withdrawn; or

46.1.5 adversely affect any Group Member's relationships with customers or suppliers (including any right of
a customer or supplier to terminate due to a change of control) or any employees.

46.2 There is no Contract to which any Group Member is party which depends on the continuation of the connection
(whether as shareholder or officer of any Group Member or otherwise) of any person with any Group Member.

Page




Share Sale and Purchase Agreement

SCHEDULE 4

Taxation Warranties

PART 1 - INTERPRETATION

1.

1.1

(@)

Interpretation

In this Schedule 4:

the following expressions have the following meanings unless inconsistent with the context:

"ACT" advance corporation tax;

"the Auditors" the auditors for the time being of the Group;

"the Balance Sheet" the audited balance sheet of the relevant Group Member as at the Accounts Date;
"CAA" Capital Allowances Act 2001;

"Dispute" any dispute, appeal, negotiations or other proceedings in connection with a Tax Claim;
"Event" any event, fact or circumstance whatsoever including but not limited to:

any transaction, action or omission (whether or not any Group Member is party to it);

(b) the earning, receipt or accrual for any Taxation purpose of any income, profits or gains;

(©

the incurring for any Taxation purpose of any loss or expenditure;

(d) the declaration, payment or making of any dividend or other distribution;

(e)
()

(a)

(b)

(©)

the sale and purchase of the Shares pursuant to this Agreement; and

Completion;

"FA" Finance Act;

"Group Relief" the meaning given to that expression by section 402 ICTA;

"IHTA" the Inheritance Tax Act 1984;

"ITEPA" the Income Tax Earnings and Pensions Act 2003;

"Liability to Taxation"

any liability of any Group Member to make an actual payment of Taxation (whether or not any Group Member is
primarily so liable and whether or not the relevant Group Member has any right of recovery against any other
person); and

the use by any Group Member (in whole or in part) of any Buyer's Relief (including a Buyer's Relief surrendered
to the Group Member by another company) to reduce or eliminate any liability of any Group Member to make an
actual payment of Taxation (whether or not any Group Member is primarily so liable and whether or not any

Group Member has any right of recovery against any other person);

the loss by any Group Member (in whole or in part) of any Buyer's Relief (including a Buyer's Relief
surrendered to the Group Member by another company);



(@)
(b)

(©)

(@)

(b)

(@)

(b)

2.1

"Buyer's Relief"
any Relief which was treated as an asset of the relevant Group Member in the Balance Sheet; and

any Relief which was taken into account in computing (and so reducing or eliminating) any provision for
deferred tax which appears in the Balance Sheet or which would have appeared in the Balance Sheet but for the
presumed availability of such Relief: and

any Relief which arises wholly or mainly as a result of any Event which has occurred or occurs after the
Accounts Date;

"Relief"
any relief, allowance, exemption, set-off, deduction or credit available from, against or in relation to Taxation or
in the computation for any Taxation purpose of income, profits or gains; and

any right to a repayment of Taxation;

"Saving" the reduction or elimination of any liability of any Group Member to make an actual payment of
corporation tax in respect of which the Seller would not have been liable under paragraph 2, by the use of any
Relief arising wholly as a result of a Liability to Taxation;

"Taxation"

any tax, duty, impost or levy, past or present, of the United Kingdom or elsewhere, whether governmental, state,
provincial, local governmental or municipal, including income tax (including income tax required to be deducted
or withheld from or accounted for in respect of any payment under section 713 ITEPA or otherwise), corporation
tax, ACT, capital gains tax, inheritance tax, VAT, customs and other import or export duties, rates, stamp duty,
stamp duty reserve tax, stamp duty land tax, national insurance and social security contributions; and

any fine, penalty, surcharge, interest or other imposition relating to any tax, duty, impost or levy mentioned in
paragraph (a) of this definition or to any account, record, form, return or computation required to be kept,
preserved, maintained or submitted to any person for the purposes of any such tax, duty, impost or levy;
"Taxation Authority" any authority, whether of the United Kingdom or elsewhere, competent to impose, assess
or collect Taxation, including but not limited to the Board of Inland Revenue and the Commissioners of Customs

and Excise;

"Taxation Statute" any statute (and all regulations and other documents having the force of law under such
statute) published, enacted, issued or coming into force on or before the date of this Agreement relating to
Taxation;

"Tax Claim" any notice, demand, assessment, letter or other document issued, or action taken, by or on behalf
of any Taxation Authority and the submission of any Taxation form, return or computation from which, in either
case, it appears to the Buyer that any Group Member is or may be subject to a Liability to Taxation or other
liability in respect of which the Seller is or may be liable under paragraph 2;

"TCGA" Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992;

"TMA" Taxes Management Act 1970;

"VAT?" value added tax;

"VATA" Value Added Tax Act 1994;

"VAT Group" any group of companies for the purposes of section 43 VATA of which any Group Member is or
has been a member on or before Completion;

Returns, disputes and clearances

All notices, returns (including land transaction returns), reports, accounts, statements, assessments, computations,
registrations and payments and any other necessary information submitted by each Group Member which should
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have been made by each Group Member for any Taxation purpose have been made on a proper basis, within the
requisite periods, were accurate and complete in all material respects when submitted and remain accurate and
complete in all respects and none of them is, or, so far as the Warrantors are aware, is likely to be, the subject of
any dispute with any Taxation Authority.

All Taxation (whether of the United Kingdom or elsewhere) for which each Group Member is or has been liable
to account for, has been duly paid (insofar as such Taxation ought to have been paid)

No Group Member has received from any Taxation Authority (and has not subsequently repaid to or settled with
that Taxation Authority) any payment to which it was not entitled or any notice in which its liability to Taxation
was understated.

No Group Member is involved in any dispute with any Taxation Authority concerning any matter likely to affect
in any way the liability of any Group Member to Taxation and there are no circumstances which are likely to
give rise to any such dispute.

The Taxation affairs of each Group Member have never been the subject of any investigation, visit, audit,
discovery, access order or enquiry by any Taxation Authority of a non routine nature, no Taxation Authority has
indicated that it intends to investigate the Taxation affairs of any Group Member and there are no circumstances
which are likely to give rise to any such investigation, visit, audit, discovery, access order or enquiry (in either
such case, having a non routine nature).

Each Group Member has punctually supplied all information requested by any Taxation Authority for any
Taxation purpose.

All particulars furnished to the Inland Revenue or any other Taxation Authority in connection with the
application for any consent or clearance made on behalf of or affecting any Group Member were made to the
appropriate office, section, department or body and fully and accurately disclosed all facts, circumstances and
(where appropriate) law material to the decision of the Inland Revenue or such other Taxation Authority and any
such consent or clearance given remains valid and effective and any transaction for which such consent or
clearance has previously been obtained has been carried into effect (if at all) only in accordance with the terms of
the relevant application , consent or clearance.

There are no concessions, arrangements and agreements (whether formal or informal) negotiated with any
Taxation Authority and no action has been taken by or on behalf of any Group Member which has had or is
likely to have the result of altering, prejudicing or in any way disturbing any such concession, arrangement or
agreement.

. Penalties and interest

No Group Member has within the period of seven years ending on the date of this Agreement paid, or is liable to
pay, or subject to any fine, penalty, forfeiture charge, surcharge or interest charged by virtue of any of the
provisions of any Taxation Statute

So far as the Warrantors are aware, there are no circumstances which are likely to cause any Group Member to
become liable to pay any fine, penalty, charge, surcharge or interest, or become subject to any forfeiture, as
mentioned in paragraph 3.1.

. Taxation claims, liabilities and relief

Each Group Member has sufficient records to enable it to make and complete returns for Taxation purposes and
to calculate the liability to Taxation or relief arising on the disposal of any asset owned on or before Completion.

Each Group Member has duly and properly made all Taxation claims, disclaimers, elections and surrenders and
given all notices and consents and done all other things in respect of Taxation the making, giving or doing of
which was assumed to have been made for the purposes of the Balance Sheet, all such claims, disclaimers,
elections, surrenders, notices, consents and other things have been accepted as valid by the relevant Taxation
Authorities and none has been revoked or otherwise withdrawn.

The Disclosure Letter contains full particulars of all matters relating to Taxation in respect of which each Group



Member is or at Completion will be entitled to:

(a) make any claim (including a supplementary claim), disclaimer or election for

relief under any Taxation Statute or other provision; and/or
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(b) appeal against any assessment or determination relating to Taxation; and/or
(c) apply for a postponement of Taxation.

No Group Member has either made or is entitled to make any claim under section 23 (receipt of compensation
and insurance money not treated as a disposal), section 24 (assets lost, destroyed or of negative value), section 48
(adjustment of chargeable gain where consideration not received in full), section 242 (small part disposals),
section 279 (foreign assets - delayed remittances) or section 280 TCGA (consideration payable by instalments)
or section 584 ICTA (unremittable overseas income).

So far as the Warrantors are aware, no Group Member is or will become, liable to pay, or make reimbursement or
indemnity in respect of, any Taxation (or amounts corresponding to any Taxation) payable by or chargeable on
or attributable to any other person, whether in consequence of the failure by that person to discharge that
Taxation within any specified period or otherwise, where such Taxation relates to a profit, income or gain,
transaction, event, omission or circumstance arising, occurring or deemed to arise or occur (whether wholly or
partly) on or prior to Completion.

. Distributions and payments

Each Group Member has deducted and properly accounted to the appropriate Taxation Authority for all amounts
which it has been obliged to deduct in respect of Taxation, has complied fully with all reporting requirements
relating to all such amounts and has (where required by the applicable Taxation Statute) duly provided
certificates of deduction of tax to the recipients of payments from which deduction have been made.

No distribution or deemed distribution within the meaning of sections 209 or 211 of ICTA 1988 has been made
(or will be deemed to have been made) by any Group Member after 5 April 1965 except dividends shown in its
audited accounts and no Group Member is bound to make any such distribution.

There are no securities (within the meaning of section 254(1) ICTA) of any Group Member in issue, or which
any Group Member has agreed to issue any payment in respect of, which falls to be treated as a distribution for
the purposes of section 209(2), (d) or (e) of ICTA.

No Group Member has at any time issued or agreed to issue any share capital as paid up otherwise than by the
receipt of new consideration, after repaying any share capital, as mentioned in section 210 ICTA.

No Group Member has within the period of seven years preceding Completion been engaged in, or been a party
to, any of the transactions set out in sections 213 to 218 (inclusive) of ICTA 1988, nor has it made or received a
chargeable payment as defined in section 218(1) of ICTA 1988.

No Group Member has at any time received any capital distribution to which the provisions of section 189
TCGA (recovery of tax from shareholders) could apply.

No rents, interest, annual payments or other sums of an income nature paid or payable by any Group Member on
or before Completion, or which any Group Member is under an obligation to pay, are or may be wholly or
partially disallowable as deductions or charges in computing the profits of the relevant Group Member for the
purposes of corporation tax, whether by virtue of the provisions of section 74 (general deduction provisions),
section 125 (annual payments for non-taxable consideration), section 338 (certain charges on income), section
577 (business entertaining), section 779 to 786 (inclusive) (leased assets) or section 787 ICTA (relief for
payments of interest under scheme or arrangements) or otherwise.

No Group Member has made any payment to, or provided any benefit for, any present or former director,
employee or officer which is wholly or partially disallowable as a deduction in computing the profits of the
relevant Group Member for the purposes of corporation tax, or is under an obligation to make any such payment
or provide any such benefit.



6. Employee benefits

6.1 Without prejudice to the generality of paragraph 5.1, each Group Member has properly operated the Pay As You
Earn system, by making deductions, as required by the applicable Taxation Statute, from all payments made, or
treated as made, to its directors, employees or officers or former directors, employees or officers or any persons
required to be treated as such, and accounting to the Inland Revenue for all Taxation so deducted and for all
Taxation chargeable on the relevant Group Member on benefits provided for its directors, employees or officers,
or former directors, employees or officers.

6.2 Each Group Member has complied fully with all reporting requirements, and proper records have been
maintained, relating to all payments and benefits made or provided, or treated as made or provided, to its
directors, employees or officers or former directors, employees or officers.

6.3 There are no dispensations granted to each Group Member by the Inland Revenue in relation to PAYE and all
notifications given by the Inland Revenue under section 166 ICTA or otherwise relating to payments and benefits
made or provided, or treated as made or provided, to its directors, employees or officers or former directors,
employees or officers or any persons required to be treated as such, together with full details of any PAYE
settlement agreements negotiated and agreed with the Inland Revenue under section 704 ITEPA.

6.4 Each Group Member has complied fully with its obligations under the provisions of section 421J ITEPA.

6.5 There are no share incentive schemes and profit sharing schemes established by any Group Member whether
approved by the Inland Revenue or not.

6.6 No Group Member has established a qualifying employee share ownership trust within the meaning of section 74
and Schedule 5 FA 1989 and no chargeable event within the meaning of section 69 FA 1989 has occurred.

6.7 There have not been in the last three years any profit-related pay schemes providing for the payment to any
employee of any Group Member of emoluments calculated by reference to profits, which have been registered

under Chapter III Part V ICTA.

6.8 Each Group Member has complied fully with its obligations under Chapter IV Part XIII ICTA in respect of
payments to sub-contractors in the construction industry.

6.9 Each Group Member has complied fully with all its obligations relating to Class 1 National Insurance
Contributions, both primary and secondary, and to Class 1A and 1B National Insurance Contributions.

6.10 No Group Member has participated, or is participating in, a scheme under section 713 ITEPA.

6.11 No Group Member has on or before Completion made any payment which may be wholly or partially disallowed
under section 112 of the Finance Act 1993 nor did any circumstances exist at the date of Completion which
could result in any payment made after that date being so disallowed.

7. Close companies

7.1 No Group Member is, or has in the last six years been, a close investment-holding company within the meaning
of section 13A ICTA.

7.1 No Group Member has in the last six years:
7.1.1 made any loan or advance or effected any transaction falling within section 419, 421 or 422 ICTA or
released or written off or agreed to release or write off the whole or any part of any such loans or

advances;

7.1.2 made a transfer of value which is or may be liable to Taxation under the provisions of sections 94, 99
or 199 IHTA.

7.2 No distributions within section 418 ICTA have been made by any Group Member since the Accounts Date.

8. Group transactions



8.1

No Group Member has in the last six years:

8.1.1 acquired any asset from any company which at the time of the acquisition was a member of the same
group of companies as defined in section 170 TCGA;

8.1.2 entered into or been otherwise involved in any transaction to which section 774 ICTA applies;

8.1.3 surrendered or claimed or agreed or arranged to surrender or claim (and prior to Completion will not
surrender or claim or agree or arrange to surrender or claim) any amount by way of Group Relief
pursuant to sections 402 to 413 (inclusive) ICTA nor made or received and is not liable to make or
entitled to receive a payment for Group Relief;

8.1.4 joined in the making of any election pursuant to section 247 ICTA or paid any dividend without paying
ACT or made any payment without deduction of income tax in circumstances such that ACT ought to
have been paid or income tax ought to have been deducted as mentioned in section 247(6) ICTA,;

8.1.5 been a party to any such reconstruction as is described in section 343 ICTA,;

8.1.6 been the subject of or otherwise involved in any arrangements as are referred to in 410 ICTA (transfer
of company to another group or consortium);

8.1.7 acquired any asset as trading stock from a member of the same group where the asset did not form part
of the trading stock of any trade carried on by the other member, as mentioned in section 173(1)
TCGA, or disposed of an asset which formed part of the trading stock of any trade carried on by it to
another member of the same group which acquired the asset otherwise than as trading stock of a trade
carried on by the other member, as mentioned in section 173(2) TCGA;

8.1.8 been and there are no circumstances by virtue of which it could be, assessed or charged to corporation
tax by virtue of the provisions of section 178(9), 179(11), 190 or 191 TCGA by reason of another
Group Member having failed to discharge its liability to corporation tax nor become entitled to recover
or liable to have recovered from it any sums paid pursuant to any of those sections;

8.1.9 ceased to be a member of a group of companies in such circumstances that the profit or gain was
deemed to accrue to it by virtue of section 178 or 179 TCGA and neither the execution of this
Agreement nor Completion will result in any profit or gain being deemed to accrue to it for any
Taxation purpose whether pursuant to section 179 TCGA or otherwise; or

8.1.10 entered into an election pursuant to section 171A TCGA whereby a disposal of any asset by the
relevant Group Member was treated as having been made by another member of the same group of
companies or a disposal of an asset by another member of the same group of companies was treated as
having been made by the relevant Group Member.

9. Gifts
9.1 There is no unsatisfied liability to inheritance tax attached to or attributable to the shares of any Group Member
or any asset of any Group Member and none of them are subject to any as mentioned in section 237 and 238 of
IHTA.
9.2 There are in existence no circumstances by virtue of which any such power as is mentioned in section 212(1)
IHTA could be exercised in relation to any asset of any Group Member or to any of the Shares or by virtue of

which any such power could be exercised but for the provisions of section 204(6) IHTA.

9.3 No Group Member has been a party to associated operations in relation to a transfer of value within the meaning
of section 268 IHTA.

9.4 No Group Member has received any asset by way of gift as mentioned in section 282 TCGA.

10. Tax Avoidance



10.1

11.

No Group Member has entered into or been a party to or been otherwise involved in, any scheme, arrangement or
transaction designed partly or wholly or containing steps or stages designed partly or wholly for the purpose of
avoiding or deferring Taxation or reducing a liability to Taxation and in particular has not entered into or been a
party to any scheme, arrangement or transaction to which the provisions of any of sections 34 to 37 (inclusive)
(leases at an undervalue), 56 and 398 (transactions in deposits or debts), 116 and 118 (transactions by
partnerships involving companies), 125 (annual payments for non-taxable consideration), 395 (leasing contracts
and company reconstructions), 399 (dealings in commodity futures), 410 (transactions involving group relief
where a company transfers to another group), 703 to 709 (inclusive) (transactions in securities), 713 and 714
(accrued interest - deemed sums and reliefs), 729 to 737 (inclusive) (sale and repurchase of securities), 767A or
767B (change in company ownership: corporation tax), 776 (transactions in land - taxation of chargeable gains),
or 779 to 787 (sale and leaseback), 801A (restriction or relief underlying tax) schedule SAA (guaranteed returns
on transaction futures and options), ICTA (inclusive), section 106 TCGA 1992 (disposal of shares and securities
within prescribed period of acquisition) could apply.

Base values and acquisition costs

If each of the capital assets of each Group Member owned at the Accounts Date was disposed of for a
consideration equal to the book value of that asset in, or adopted for the purpose of, the Balance Sheet, or in the
case of assets acquired since the Accounts Date, equal to the consideration given on acquisition, no liability to
corporation tax on chargeable gains or balancing charge under the CAA would arise (and for this purpose there
will be disregarded any relief or allowance available to the relevant Group Member other than amounts falling to
be deducted from the consideration receivable under section 38 TCGA).

11.2 No Group Member owns any wasting asset within the meaning of section 44 TCGA which does not qualify in

12.

12.1

full for capital allowances as described in section 47(1) TCGA.
Capital gains
No Group Member has at any time:

12.1.1 made a claim under sections 152 to 158 (inclusive) or 175 or 247 TCGA which affects the amount of
the chargeable gain or allowable loss which would, but for such claim, have arisen upon a disposal of
any asset or acquired any asset or any interest in any asset in circumstances in which another company
has made a claim under section 175 TCGA which affects for the purposes of the TCGA the amount or
value of the consideration given for such asset or interest;

12.1.2 been a party to, involved in, or connected with any disposal of assets within the meaning of section 29
TCGA (value shifting) or any scheme or arrangement such as are mentioned in section 30 TCGA (tax-
free benefits);

12.1.3 been a party to, involved in, or connected with any exchange of securities whether or not (by virtue of
section 135 TCGA) section 127 TCGA applied to the exchange;

12.1.4 carried out or been involved in or connected with any reorganisation of scheme of reconstruction or
amalgamation whether or not (by virtue of section 126 or 136 TCGA) section 127 TCGA applied to
such reorganisation or scheme of reconstruction or amalgamation;

12.1.5 carried out or been involved in or connected with any scheme of reconstruction or amalgamation
involving a transfer of business assets whether or not section 139 TCGA applied to the transfer;

12.1.6 been a party to, involved in, or connected with, any depreciatory transaction to which section 176
TCGA applied (including any transaction to which that section applied by virtue of section 177 TCGA
(dividend stripping));

12.1.7 acquired or disposed of any asset or entered into any transaction or arrangement whatsoever otherwise
than by way of bargain at arm's length or in respect of which there may be substituted for the actual
consideration given or received by the relevant Group Member a different consideration for any
Taxation purpose;

12.1.8 realised a loss to which section 18(3) TCGA (transactions between connected persons) applied;
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12.1.9 realised a pre-entry loss or acquired any pre-entry asset as defined in Schedule 7A TCGA;

12.1.10 disposed of any chargeable asset for a consideration not payable wholly in cash on completion of the
disposal;

12.1.11 acquired any debt (other than a debt on a security (as defined in section 132 TCGA)) in respect of
which it is not the original creditor;

12.1.12 acquired any policy of assurance or contract for a deferred annuity or interest in any such policy or
contract in circumstances such that a chargeable gain could arise on disposal under section 210 TCGA,;

12.1.13 transferred a trade carried on by it outside the United Kingdom through a branch or agency in
circumstances such that a chargeable gain could be deemed to arise at a date after such transfer under
section 140 TCGA; or

12.1.14 made any claim or election under section 161(3) TCGA (appropriation of asset to trading stock).
Capital allowances

All expenditure incurred by each Group Member since the Accounts Date on the provision of plant and
machinery has qualified or will be capable of qualifying for capital allowances.

There are set out in the Disclosure Letter details of all capital allowances claimed in respect of the accounting
period of each Group Member ending on the Accounts Date in respect of each asset or pool of assets in respect of
which separate computations for capital allowances are required to be made or, as a result of any election, are
made.

No Group Member has incurred any expenditure on the provision of any capital allowance bearing asset for
leasing.

No Group Member is a party to a transaction to which the provisions of schedule 12 to the FA 1997 apply or
could apply.

No Group Member has made any election under section 83 CAA nor is it taken to have made any such election
under section 89(4) CAA.

No Group Member has incurred any long life asset expenditure within the meaning of section 90 CAA.
No Group Member has obtained any capital allowances under Chapter 14 Part 2 CAA.

The Disclosure Letter gives full details of all disclaimers of capital allowances and writing down allowances on
plant and machinery and of any reduction in initial allowances on industrial buildings.

No Group Member is in dispute with any person as to the availability of allowances under Chapter 14 Part 2
CAA and so far as the Warrantors are aware there are no circumstances which are likely to give rise to such a
dispute.

None of the assets of any Group Member , expenditure on which has qualified for a capital allowance under Part
3 CAA, has at any time since that expenditure was incurred been used otherwise than as an industrial building or
structure.

No Group Member has within the period of six years ending on the date of this Agreement been party to a
transaction with a connected person which has given or could give rise to a restriction on allowances under the
provisions of section 217 or 218 CAA or to the substitution of an alternative amount in respect of sales
consideration under section 267 and 268, neither has any Group Member entered into an election pursuant to
section 269 CAA.

No Group Member has been party to a sale of an asset the consideration for which is treated as being for an
alternative amount in accordance with section 567-570 CAA.
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13.14
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14.

14.1

No Group Member has entered into, or agreed to enter into, any elections under section 198 or 199 CAA.

No Group Member has incurred any expenditure on flat conversions for which capital allowances have been
claimed under Part 4A CAA.

No Group Member is a lessee under a lease to which the provisions of chapter 17 of Part 2 CAA apply or could

apply.

No Group Member has claimed any research and development tax relief or tax credit.

VAT: general

Each Group Member:

14.1.1

14.1.2

14.1.3

14.1.4

14.1.5

14.1.6

14.1.7

14.1.8

14.1.9

14.1.10

is duly registered and is a taxable person for the purposes of VAT with quarterly prescribed accounting
periods and such registration is not pursuant to paragraph 2 of Schedule 1 of VATA or subject to any
conditions imposed by or agreed with the Commissioners of Customs and Excise and no Group
Member is (nor are there any circumstances by virtue of which they may become) under a duty to make
monthly payments on account under the Value Added Tax (Payments on Account) Order 1993.

has complied in all material respects with all statutory requirements, orders, rules, provisions, directions
or conditions relating to value added tax;

maintains complete, correct and up-to-date records for the purposes of all legislation relating to VAT
and is not subject to any condition imposed by the Commissioners of Customs and Excise under
paragraph 6 Schedule 11 VATA relating to the preservation of information.

is not in arrears with any payment or returns under legislation relating to VAT or excise duties, or liable
to any abnormal or non-routine payment of VAT, or any forfeiture or penalty, or to the operation of any
penal provision;

has not within the 2 years ending on the date of this Agreement been served with any penalty liability
notice under section 64 VATA or any surcharge liability notices under section 59 or section 59A
VATA or been issued with any written warning under section 76(2) VATA;

has not been required by the Commissioners of Customs and Excise to give security under paragraph 4
Schedule 11 VATA,;

has not been or applied for treatment as a member of a group for VAT purposes under section 43
VATA and no transaction has been effected in consequence of which the relevant Group Member is or
may be held liable for any VAT arising from supplies made by another company;

has no interest and has not at any time within the period of 10 years preceding the date of this
Agreement had any interest in any assets treated as items under Part XV of the Value Added Tax
Regulations 1995 (Capital Goods Scheme);

is not, and has not agreed to become, an agent, manager, representative or factor for the purposes of
section 47 or section 48 VATA of any person who is not resident in the United Kingdom; and

is not, and is not required to be, registered for VAT in any country other than the United Kingdom.

14.2 All supplies of goods and services made by each Group Member are taxable supplies for the purposes of the
VATA and all input tax is deductible in accordance with the provisions of section 25 and 26 VATA.

14.3 All goods or services supplied to each Group Member, or goods imported by each Group Member, in respect of
which the relevant Group Member has claimed credit for input tax under the rules set out in VATA, are used or
to be used wholly for the purposes of its business.

14.4 No Group Member has since the Accounts Date disposed of, or acquired, any business or assets in the
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circumstances mentioned in section 49 VATA or Article 5 of the Value Added Tax (Special Provision) Order
1995.

No Group Member has within the three years prior to the date of this Agreement been registered for the purposes
of VAT by reason of its intention to make taxable supplies (within the meaning of section 4 VATA) or has
claimed input tax on the basis of anticipated taxable supplies which have not yet been made.

There are set out in the Disclosure Letter details of all outstanding claims made by each Group Member under
section 36 VATA.

No Group Member has been a party to any transaction or arrangement as a result of which a direction has been or
may be given under Schedule 9A VATA (anti-avoidance provisions for groups of companies).

No Group Member has received any supplies of the type described in Schedule 5 VATA.
VAT: property transactions

No Group Member has incurred any liability in respect of VAT (whether to HM Customs and Excise or to any
other person) by reason of the provisions of paragraph 2(1) Schedule 10 VATA and there are no circumstances
where any Group Member could become so liable as a result of a person making an election under that
paragraph.

No Group Member, nor any relevant associate (within the meaning of paragraph 3(7) Schedule 10 VATA) has
made any election under paragraph 2(1) Schedule 10 VATA in respect of any land in, over or in respect of which
the relevant Group Member has any interest, right or licence to occupy and the relevant Group Member is not
aware of any intention to make such an election.

No Group Member owns the fee simple in any building or work such as is referred to in Item 1(a) Group 1
Schedule 9 VATA the supply of which would be standard rated.

No interest in or right over land or any licence to occupy land of any Group Member constitutes or is subject to a
developmental tenancy, developmental lease or developmental licence such as is referred to in Item 1(b) Group 1
Schedule 9 VATA.

Stamp duty and stamp duty reserve tax

All documents which are liable to stamp duty and which confer any right upon any Group Member or on which
any Group Member may need to rely have been duly stamped and no document which confers any right upon
any Group Member or on which any Group Member may need to rely and which is outside the United Kingdom
would attract stamp duty if it were brought into the United Kingdom and there is no liability to any penalty in
respect of such duty or circumstances which may give rise to such a penalty.

No Group Member has in the last three years incurred or otherwise been under a liability to stamp duty reserve
tax or stamp duty land tax and there are no circumstances which may result in it being so liable.

Within the three years ending on the date of this Agreement, no Group Member has made any claim for relief or
exemption under section 42 FA 1930, section 151 FA 1995 or section 75, 76 or 77 FA 1986.

Neither the entering into of this agreement, nor, Completion will result in the withdrawal of a stamp duty or
stamp duty land tax relief granted on or before Completion which will affect any Group Member.

The Disclosure Letter sets out full and accurate details of any chargeable interest (as defined under section 48 of
the Finance Act 2003) acquired or held by each Group Member before Completion in respect of which the
Warrantors are aware or ought reasonably to be aware that an additional land transaction return will be required
to be filed with a Taxation Authority and/or a payment of stamp duty land tax made on or before Completion.

On or before Completion, no Group Member has incurred any liability to, or been accountable for, any stamp
duty reserve tax and there has been no agreement within section 87(1) of the Finance Act 1986 which could lead
to the relevant Group Member incurring such a liability or becoming so accountable.



17. Residence and offshore interests

17.1 Each Group Member is and has at all times been resident in the United Kingdom for the purposes of all Taxation
Statutes and has not at any time been resident outside the United Kingdom for the purposes of any Taxation
Statute or any double taxation arrangements.

17.2 No Group Member is, or has ever been, a dual-resident investing company within the meaning of section 404
ICTA.

17.3 No Group Member has at any time entered into any transaction falling within section 765 ICTA (migration of
companies) or failed to comply with the requirements of section 765A ICTA (notification of movements of
capital).

17.4 No Group Member has at any time been subject to Taxation in any jurisdiction outside the United Kingdom or
had a branch outside the United Kingdom or any permanent establishment outside the United Kingdom.

17.5 No Group Member owns or has at any time owned a material interest in an offshore fund which is or has at any
material time been a non-qualifying offshore fund within the meaning of section 760 ICTA.

17.6 No Group Member owns or has at any time owned any interest in a controlled foreign company within the
meaning of section 747 and 752 ICTA.

17.7 No Group Member is, or has at any time since 1 April 1985 been, a company which has, or an associated
company of a company which has, a qualifying presence in a unitary state for the purposes of sections 812 to 814
ICTA.

17.8 No Group Member holds or has at any time held shares in a company which is not resident in the United
Kingdom and which would be a close company if it were resident in the United Kingdom, in circumstances such
that a chargeable gain accruing to that other company could be apportioned to the relevant Group Member under
section 13 TCGA.

18. Losses, ACT and Shadow ACT
18.1 Within the period of 3 years ending on the date of this Agreement there has been no major change in the nature
or conduct of a trade or business carried on by any Group Member within the meaning of section 768 ICTA such

that the relief for losses could be denied.

18.2 Each Group Member has complied with the provisions of the Corporation Tax (Treatment of Unrelieved Surplus
Advanced Corporation Tax) Regulations SI 1999/358 in utilising any surplus ACT in existence at 6 April 1999.

19. Shares and securities
19.1 No Group Member has at any time:

19.1.1 purchased or agreed to purchase, repaid or agreed to repay or redeemed or agreed to redeem any shares
of any class of its share capital or any amount paid up on any of its shares;

19.1.2 capitalised or agreed to capitalise in the form of redeemable shares or debentures any profits or reserves
of any class or description or passed or agreed to pass any resolution to do so;

19.1.3 provided capital to any company on terms whereby the company so capitalised has in consideration of
the provision of capital issued loan stock or other securities on terms which were otherwise than by
way of a bargain made at arm's length; or

19.1.4 subscribed for shares in any company, the subscription for which fell within the corporate venturing
scheme and qualified for investment relief under the provision of Schedule 15 FA 2000.

19.2 No Group Member has in issue any shares or securities (as defined in section 132(3)(b) TCGA) other than the
Shares or those other issued shares set out in Schedule 2.



20.

20.1

21.

21.1

21.2

22,

221

23.

23.1

24.

24.1

242

25.

25.1

26.

26.1

26.2

Loan relationships
There are no outstanding debts owed to or by any Group Member, or any securities issued by any Group
Member or which any Group Member owns or in which it has an interest, which will not be repaid at
Completion, other than trade debts which fall within the exemption in section 251(1) TCGA and which do not
arise out of loan relationships of the relevant Group Member for the purposes of section 81(1) FA 1996.
Foreign exchange gains and losses
No Group Member is, or has at any time on or before Completion been:

21.1.1 the holder of a qualifying asset;

21.1.2 subject to a qualifying liability; or

21.1.3 aparty to a currency contract
for the purposes of Chapter II Part IT FA 1993.
No Group Member is or ever has been, a party to any debt contract or option, any interest rate contract or option,
or any currency or option which is treated as a qualifying contract in Chapter II Part IV FA 1994 or which in
future may become such a qualifying contract.
Quarterly instalment payments
No Group Member is obliged to pay corporation tax in quarterly instalments under the provisions of Corporation
Tax (Instalment Payments) Regulations 1998 (SI 1998 No 3175) and section S9E TMA nor in the absence of
Group Relief would it have been so liable.

Group payment arrangements

No Group Member has entered into any group payment arrangements under the provisions of section 36 FA
1998.

Transfer pricing

No Group Member has undertaken, or has agreed to undertake, any transactions which are within the provisions
of Schedule 28AA ICTA and the Disclosure Letter sets out the details of the documentation each Group Member
has prepared to enable it to fulfil its obligations under Schedule 18 FA 1998 in respect of accounting periods
ending after 30 June 1999 in relation to transfer pricing.

No Group Member has entered into any advance pricing arrangements with the Inland Revenue under the
provisions of section 85 FA 1999.

Construction Industry Sub-Contractors Scheme

No Group Member is required to register as a Contractor under the provisions of section 560 ICTA and the
expenditure incurred by any Group Member on construction, refurbishment and fitting-out works in each of the
three years ending on the date of Completion is less than £1 million.

Balance Sheet

To the extent that provision for deferred tax was not made in the Balance Sheet, full details of the amounts of
deferred tax not provided for and the matter to which the deferred tax relates are disclosed in the notes to the
Balance Sheet.

The Disclosure Letter contains details of items (including but not limited to industrial buildings which at the date
of this agreement are less than 25 years old) for which no provision has been made in the Balance Sheet and for
which the introduction of FRS 19 will require provision to be made.
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Share Sale and Purchase Agreement

SCHEDULE 5

The Property

Brief Description Title holder Title number and Date of lease and  Term and current Use
quality of title if  parties to it rent
registered

69 Acacia Way The InTouch Group Not applicable 7 August 2004 12 months from 7 Residential

The Hollies Plc (1) Melanie Shepherd August 2004

Sidcup (2) The InTouch £675 per month

Kent Group Plc

DA15 SWW

Unit 12 Murrills Estate The InTouch Group

East Street
Porchester
Hampshire

Unit A, Access Park,
Handsworth Lane
Cleckheaton

West Yorkshire

InTouch House (Unit
B)

Access Park
Handsworth Lane
Cleckheaton

West Yorkshire

Unit C Access Park
Handsworth Lane
Cleckheaton

West Yorkshire

Plc

HP347123
Leasehold title
absolute

The InTouch Group Not applicable

Plc

The InTouch Group

Plc

The InTouch Group

Plc

WYK768739
Leasehold title
absolute

WYK768738

25 February 1998
(1) First Wyvern
Property Trustees
Company Limited
and Second Wyvern
Property Trustees
Limited (2) Martin
Processing (U.K.)
Limited and (3)
B.C.L. Limited

14 March 1997

(1) Commercial
Development
Projects Limited and
Landmark
Development
Projects Limited and
(2) Surgicon Limited
as rectified by a deed
of rectification made
29 August 2000
between (1) Friends
First UK
Commercial Property
Limited (2) Surgicon
Limited and (3)
Surgicon Reside
Group Limited

17 May 2004

(1) Robert Greig
Watkins, Brian
Ernest Tottman,
Graeme Philip King
and Geoffrey
William Roberts and
(2) The InTouch
Group Plc

17 May 2004

LEASHOLD TITLE (1) Robert Greig

ABSOLUTE

Watkins, Brian
Ernest Tottman,
Graeme Philip King
and Geoffrey
William Roberts and

25 years from 24  Light

February 1998

£64,750 per annum

15 years from 13

March 1997
£66,150 per
annum

10 years from 3
March 2004
£270,000 per
annum

10 years from 3
March 2004
£93,912 per
annum

industrial
and
warehousing
with
ancillary
offices

Uses with
classes B1,
B2 and B8
of the Town
& Country
Planning
(Use
Classes)
Order 1987
with
ancillary
offices car
park
services and
landscaped
areas

Use with
class B1 or
B8 of the
Town &
Country
Planning
(Use
Classes)
Order 1987
Use with
class B1 or
B8 of the
Town &
Country
Planning
(Use



(2) The InTouch Classes)

Group Plc Order 1987
Lower Ground Floor The InTouch Group Not applicable 6 December 2000 10 years from 28 Offices
and Ground Floor Plc (1) NDEMI September 2000  within class
Sycamore House Investments Limited £99,512 per B1 of the
5 - 9 Sycamore Street (2) The InTouch annum Town &
London Group Plc Country
EC1Y OSR Planning
(Use
Classes)
Order 1987
Part 2" Floor The InTouch Group Not applicable 2 July 2004 5 years from 1 Offices
Hanover Buildings Plc (1) Co-operative July 2004 including
Hanover Street Group (CWS) £24,112 per premises for
Manchester Limited (2) The annum the
InTouch Group Plc provision of
design and
associated
services

Page




Share Sale and Purchase Agreement

27.

28.

29.

29.1

SCHEDULE 6

Basis for preparation of the Completion Accounts

Interpretation

In this Schedule, where the context admits:

“Balance Sheet Date” means midnight on 31 August 2004.

“FRS” means a financial reporting standard issued by the Accounting Standards Board Limited or an SSAP.
“SSAP” means Statement of Standard Accounting Practice in force at the date hereof.

General requirements

Subject to the provisions of paragraph 3 hereof, the Completion Balance Sheet shall be prepared on a basis
consistent with the audited consolidated balance sheet of the Group Members as at the Accounts Date and made
up to the Balance Sheet Date and subject as aforesaid under the historical cost convention and in accordance with
accounting principles, bases, methods, practices and procedures and SSAP’s and FRS’s generally accepted in the
United Kingdom (including Accounting Standards) and paragraph 4. Paragraph 3 shall have priority over
paragraph 4.

Completion Balance Sheet

Unless already taken into account, the following principles shall be observed in drawing up the balance sheet
which is to form part of the Completion Balance Sheet:

29.1.1 Stock shall be valued at the same value recorded in the Accounts;
29.1.2 liabilities shall include accruals at the close of business on the Balance Sheet Date;

29.1.3 goodwill shall be valued by reference to the value in the Accounts less amortisation since the Accounts
Date at the rate adopted in the Accounts; There shall be no goodwill impairment provision;

29.1.4 no value shall be attributed to any assets (including in particular any prepayment or debt) except to the
extent that a Group Member will have the benefit of the same;

29.1.5 no provision shall be made against the book value of leasehold improvements as shown in the Accounts
other than depreciation since the Accounts Date at the rate adopted in the Accounts;

29.1.6 full provision shall be made for rebates, fees, commissions and discounts that will fall due and that will
become payable after the Balance Sheet Date in either case in respect of sales or other transactions that
took place before the Balance Sheet Date;

29.1.7 proper provision or reserve shall be made for all bad or doubtful debts due in the ordinary course of
business in accordance with the policies and practices adopted in the preparation of the Accounts;

29.1.8 provision shall be made for liabilities disclosed in the Disclosure Letter in accordance with the general
principles set out at paragraph 2 above.

29.1.9 provision shall be made for accrued and/or contingent liabilities arising from any pension schemes in
accordance with the general principles set out at paragraph 2 above;

29.1.10 full provision shall be made for all Taxation at the appropriate rates of Taxation (pro rated for the
fraction of the year elapsed from the Accounts Date to the date of Balance Sheet Date) provided that no



provision shall be made for deferred taxation assets;

29.1.11 no provision shall be made for dilapidations on property formerly used or formerly occupied by any
Group Member;

30. True and fair view

31.

The Completion Balance Sheet shall show a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group Members at
the Balance Sheet Date.

Changes in Accounting Standards
Unless otherwise taken into account in accordance with the preceding provisions of this schedule, the

Completion Balance Sheet shall be prepared without regard to any changes in Accounting Standards from those
applied in the preparation of the Accounts.
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Share Sale and Purchase Agreement

SCHEDULE 7
ESCROW AGREEMNT

Reed Smith LLP
Minerva House

5 Montague Close
London

SE1 9BB

And

Lupton Fawcett
Yorkshire House
Greek Street
Leeds
LS1 5SX
[Date]

Dear Sirs

Agreement of 27 August 2004 between Robert Watkins and others (the "Sellers'") (1) and Matthews Corporation
Holding Company (UK) Limited (2) (the "Buyer") for the sale and purchase of the entire issued share capital of
The InTouch Group Limited (the "Agreement')

This is the Escrow Release relating to the escrow account. Words and expressions defined in the Agreement shall bear
the same meaning when used in this letter.

You are hereby jointly and irrevocably instructed as follows:

(a) You shall not make any payment of all or any part of the Escrow Monies paid into the escrow account pursuant
to Clause 16 of the Agreement (the "Deposited Sum") (or any interest thereon) until you are instructed to make
such payment by a written notice signed for and on behalf of the Sellers by two of the Sellers and for and on
behalf of the Buyer and sent to both of you at your address as set out above (or such other address as either of
you may notify for this purpose) in the case of Reed Smith LLP marked "for the attention of Richard Shine" and
in the case of Lupton Fawcett marked "for the attention of Michele Phillips". Upon receipt of such written notice,
you will promptly instruct the bank to pay out of the Deposited Sum the relevant sum (together with interest
thereon) in accordance with your instructions.

(b) You shall be entitled, without any instructions from or on behalf of the Sellers or the Buyer to pay all bank
charges in connection with the escrow account out of the Deposited Sum.

(c) We hereby agree and undertake to you as follows:

(1) neither of you will have any liability to the Sellers or the Buyer by virtue of, or with respect to, any
claim that the rate of interest earned on the Deposited Sum was less than that which might have been
obtained at any time throughout the period whilst the same was on deposit;

(i) no counterdemand or other variation of your instructions as set out in this letter shall be valid (and
accordingly you shall not act on the same) unless it is in writing and signed by or on behalf of the
Sellers and the Buyer in accordance with paragraph 1 above;

(ii1) the Sellers and the Buyer will provide you from time to time with such information as you or either of
you may require in connection with the arrangements the subject of this letter, including any such
information as you or either of you may require for the purposes of determining whether or not all or



part of the Deposited Sum is required to be paid by you in accordance with the foregoing instructions
(and, absent manifest error, you may assume (without enquiry) that any such information is accurate);

(iv) if any instructions from the Sellers and/or the Buyer are, in your opinion, manifestly wrong or unclear
then you may withhold making any payment (but you will notify the relevant person that you have
done so and the reason for so doing) and, in such circumstances, you shall have no liability to the
Sellers or the Buyer by virtue of so doing;

(v) a court order will override the provisions of paragraph 1 of this letter and you shall not have any
liability to the Sellers or the Buyer in relation to any payment which you make as required under such
court order;

(vi) you may assume (without enquiry) that any signature on any written notice or other communication
given to you in connection with these arrangements is both genuine and duly authorised;

(vii) the Sellers and the Buyer will indemnify both of you respectively against any liability, loss, cost,
damage or expense which you or either of you may suffer or incur by virtue of or in connection with
your agreement to act as the holders of the Deposited Sum (and any interest thereon) save to the extent
that any such liability or other matter arises by reason of your respective own individual gross
negligence or individual bad faith;

(viii) the mandate in respect of the operation of the escrow account shall be at your joint discretion; and

(ix) any payment of interest earned on the Deposited Sum shall be subject to any deduction of tax required
by law to be made.

This letter may be executed in two counterparts in the like form each of which taken together shall constitute one and
the same document.

Please acknowledge receipt of this letter.

Yours faithfully

The Sellers:
Robert Watkins Brian Tottman
Graeme King Geoftrey Roberts

Helen King (by her attorney) Jospehine Tottman (by her attorney)



Sally Watkins (by her attorney) Jennifer Roberts (by her attorney)

The Buyer:

Duly authorised for and on behalf of
Matthews Corporation Holding Company (UK) Limited

Receipt is hereby acknowledged:

Reed Smith LLP

Lupton Fawcett
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EXECUTED as a DEED )
By ROBERT GREIG WATKINS

in the presence of: )

Witness Signature:  ...........cooeveiiiinnnne.
Witness Name:  .........cooeveviiiiinnnnn.

Address: o,

Witness Occupation:  ............cccevvvnvennnnn.

EXECUTED as a DEED )
By BRIAN ERNEST TOTTMAN

in the presence of: )

Witness Signature:  ..........c.oocoiiiiin.
Witness Name:  .......coooviiiieiein.e,

Address: o

Witness Occupation:  ...........cccevvvnvennnnn..

EXECUTED as a DEED )

By GEOFFREY WILLIAM ROBERTS

in the presence of: )

Witness Signature: ............coeeiiiiinnnnn.
Witness Name:  ..........cooevvinvinnnnen..

Address:

Witness Occupation:  ..........cooceveiieinnnn...

EXECUTED as a DEED )
By GRAEME PHILIP KING

in the presence of: )

Witness Signature:  ...........cooeeviiiiinnnnn.

Witness Name:  .......oooiiiiiiiiiiinnn...

Share Sale and Purchase Agreement




Address:

Witness Occupation:  ..........cceevvviiiinnannn.

EXECUTED as a DEED )

By ROBERT GREIG WATKINS )
as attorney for SALLY WATKINS )
under a power of attorney )

dated 20 August 2004 )

in the presence of: )

Witness Signature: ............cooeeiiiiinnnnn.
Witness Name:  ..........ccoevvinvennnnn...

Address:

Witness Occupation:  ..........ccoceiiieinnnn...

EXECUTED as a DEED )

By BRIAN ERNEST TOTTMAN )

as attorney for JOSEPHINE TOTTMAN )
under a power of attorney )

dated 20 August 2004 )

in the presence of: )

Witness Signature:  ..........c.oocoiiiiiin
Witness Name:  .......cooeviieiieiein..,

Address:

Witness Occupation:  ..........ccocevvvneennnnn..
EXECUTED as a DEED )

By GEOFFREY WILLIAM ROBERTS )
as attorney for JENNIFER ROBERTS )
under a power of attorney )

dated 20 August 2004 )

in the presence of: )

Witness Signature:  .............oceveiiinnnnns
Witness Name:  ........ccoovvvininnnn...

Address:

Witness Occupation:  ...........ccoeevinvennnnn.



EXECUTED as a DEED )
By GRAEME PHILIP KING )
as attorney for HELEN KING )
under a power of attorney )
dated 20 August 2004 )

in the presence of: )

Witness Signature:  .............cooevvviinnnnns
Witness Name:  ........ooovvvvvinninnnnn...

Address:

Witness Occupation:  ...........ccoeevivennnnn..

EXECUTED as a DEED )

by MATTHEWS CORPORATION )
HOLDING COMPANY (UK) LIMITED )
acting by: )

Director: oo

Director/Secretary:  ........ooeiiiiiiiiinnnn..
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Exhibit 14.1
MATTHEWS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION

CODE OF ETHICS APPLICABLE TO EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

In my role as (title) of Matthews International Corporation (“Company”), I certify that I adhere to and advocate the following
principles and responsibilities governing my professional conduct:

1. Irespect and abide by the Matthews International Corporation Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, adopted by the Board of
Directors April 20, 2004.

2. Without limiting the foregoing,

(a) I act with honesty and integrity at all times, avoiding actual, apparent and potential conflicts of interest between my personal
interests and the interests of the Company;

(b) In the performance of my duties as ___(title) I comply with applicable federal, state, foreign, provincial and local laws,
regulations and rules, as well as the rules and regulations of appropriate private and public regulatory agencies; and

(c) Irespect the confidentiality of information acquired in the course of my work, disclosing the same only as authorized or legally
obligated.

3. Irecognize that as (title) , [ have a leadership position with the Company and, with that in mind, I proactively promote
ethical behavior in my work environment and expect ethical behavior from my staff.

4. T act in good faith, responsibly, with due care, competence and diligence, without misrepresenting important facts, omitting important
facts or allowing my independent judgment to be subordinated.

5. Ttake all reasonable action to ensure that the information contained in documents, which have been subject to my review, filed or
submitted by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or otherwise publicly disclosed, is accurate, complete, fair,
objective, relevant, timely and understandable.

6. T use the assets and resources of the Company responsibly in the performance of my responsibilities.

7. T will notify the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the Board of Directors promptly in the event I become aware of
any actual, apparent, alleged or potential violation of this Code of Ethics Applicable to Executive Management or the Matthews
International Corporation Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, adopted by the Board of Directors April 20, 2004 (whether by me or
any other executive obligated under this Code), including, without limitation, any actual, apparent, alleged or potential conflict of
interest.




8.

10.

I understand that the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee has a duty to fully investigate and report to the Board of
Directors any actual, apparent, potential or alleged violations of this Code of Ethics Applicable to Executive Management or the
Matthews International Corporation Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, adopted by the Board of Directors April 20, 2004, including
any actual, potential, apparent, or alleged conflict of interest. I will not, directly or indirectly, obstruct, delay or otherwise hinder any
such investigation or reporting or retaliate against those investigating or those providing information, data and records to support such
investigation. Without limiting the foregoing, I understand that the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee must pre-
approve all related party transactions. I will fully and fairly facilitate all inquiries of the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee in performing its duties in this regard, and I will respect all determinations of the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee including determinations not to pursue transactions and determinations mandating that I recuse myself from transactions.

. T understand that waivers of this Code of Conduct Applicable to Executive Management and the Matthews International Corporation

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, adopted by the Board of Directors April 20, 2004, must be obtained in advance, may be granted
only by the Board of Directors and may be subject to prompt disclosure by the Company on a Form 8-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

I understand that any violation of this Code of Ethics Applicable to Executive Management or the Matthews International Corporation
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, adopted by the Board of Directors April 20, 2004, whether or not material, will have
repercussions, which may include termination of my job, for cause, or a change in my job responsibilities and compensation.

Signature

Print Name and Title

Date

CcC:

Chief Executive Officer
Chief Financial Officer
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee




MATTHEWS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT
(as of November 30, 2004)

Name

EXHIBIT 21

Percentage Ownership

Caggiati S.p.A.
Caggiati Espana S.A.
Caggiati France SARL
Cromaco S.A.

The Cloverleaf Group, Inc.

Holjeron Corporation

Matthews Canada Ltd.

Matthews Holding Company (U.K.) Ltd.
The InTouch Group Limited

InTouch by Design

Matthews Industries
Matthews Bronze Pty. Ltd.
C. Morello, Inc.

Matthews International GmbH
Reproservice Eurodigital GmbH Munchen
Repro-Busek GmbH & Co. KG
Rudolf Reproflex GmbH & Co. KG
Scholler GmbH & Co. KG
S+T GmbH & Co. KG

Matthews Resources, Inc.

Matthews Swedot AB
Venetian Investment Corporation
The York Group, Inc.

York Casket Development Company
York Agency, Inc.

100
100
100
100

100

100

100

100
100
76

100
100
100

100
100
75
75
75
50

100

100

100

100

100
100



EXHIBIT 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Forms S-8 (No. 2-48760, 33-57793, 33-57795, 33-
57797 and 333-83731) of Matthews International Corporation, of our reports dated November 16, 2004 relating to the financial statements
and financial statement schedule, which appear in this Form 10-K.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania
December 13, 2004



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION
PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, David M. Kelly, certify that:

1. T have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Matthews International Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect
to the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
annual report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

¢) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: December 13, 2004

David M. Kelly

David M. Kelly
Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION
PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

1, Steven F. Nicola, certify that:

1. T have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Matthews International Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect
to the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
annual report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

¢) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: December 13, 2004

Steven F. Nicola

Steven F. Nicola
Chief Financial Officer,
Secretary and Treasurer



Exhibit 32.1
Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Matthews International Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended
September 30, 2004 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, David M. Kelly, President
and Chief Executive Officer, certify, to the best of my knowledge, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

David M. Kelly

David M. Kelly,
President and Chief Executive Officer

December 13, 2004

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise
adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been
provided to Matthews International Corporation and will be retained by Matthews International Corporation and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2
Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Matthews International Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending
September 30, 2004 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Steven F. Nicola, Chief
Financial Officer, certify, to the best of my knowledge, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Steven F. Nicola

Steven F. Nicola,
Chief Financial Officer

December 13, 2004

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise
adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been
provided to Matthews International Corporation and will be retained by Matthews International Corporation and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



